# WOMEN E



International Labour Organization



Public attitudes towards migrant workers in Japan, Malaysia, Singapore, and Thailand

Supported by:





# Public attitudes towards migrant workers in Japan, Malaysia, Singapore, and Thailand

Copyright © International Labour Organization 2019 First published 2019 Revised 2020

Publications of the International Labour Office enjoy copyright under Protocol 2 of the Universal Copyright Convention. Nevertheless, short excerpts from them may be reproduced without authorization, on condition that the source is indicated. For rights of reproduction or translation, application should be made to ILO Publications (Rights and Licensing), International Labour Office, CH-1211 Geneva 22, Switzerland, or by email: rights@ilo.org. The International Labour Office welcomes such applications.

Libraries, institutions and other users registered with a reproduction rights organization may make copies in accordance with the licences issued to them for this purpose. Visit www.ifrro. org to find the reproduction rights organization in your country.

ISBN 978-92-2-031427-2 (print) ISBN 978-92-2-031428-9 (web pdf)

The designations employed in ILO and UN Women publications, which are in conformity with United Nations practice, and the presentation of material therein do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the International Labour Office and UN Women concerning the legal status of any country, area or territory or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers.

The responsibility for opinions expressed in signed articles, studies and other contributions rests solely with their authors, and publication does not constitute an endorsement by the International Labour Office or UN Women of the opinions expressed in them.

This publication has been funded by the Australian Government through the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade, and the Spotlight Initiative – a global, multi-year partnership between the European Union and the United Nations to eliminate all forms of violence against women and girls. The views expressed in this publication are the authors' alone and are not necessarily the views of the Australian Government or the EU.

Reference to names of firms and commercial products and processes does not imply their endorsement by the International Labour Office or UN Women, and any failure to mention a particular firm, commercial product or process is not a sign of disapproval.

Information on ILO publications and digital products can be found at: www.ilo.org/publns.

Cover photo: © A. Ancion

Printed in Thailand

# Foreword

More and more women and men are moving abroad for work. Recent figures from the International Labour Organization (ILO) estimate that in the South-East Asia and the Pacific subregion, 11.6 million people are migrant workers – 5.2 million of whom are women. The social and economic development potential of labour migration – including contributions to gender equality – in both countries of origin and countries of destination is tremendous, and growing. Nevertheless, the migration experience also tends to be one where migrants are faced with discrimination based on gender, nationality, and other facets of identity.

Migrant workers experience discrimination, exclusion, and abuse both in countries of destination and countries of origin. Addressing negative public attitudes towards migrant workers can play an important role in eliminating discrimination at work and in communities, as well as in strengthening protection for migrant workers in law and policy. Determining the required shifts in these attitudes is crucial in order to design programming that effectively addresses discriminatory treatment, both that all migrant workers face vis-à-vis nationals, and more specifically that women migrant workers face vis-à-vis men migrant workers.

In 2010, the ILO conducted a survey assessing public attitudes towards migrants in four countries of destination for ASEAN migrant workers – the Republic of Korea, Malaysia, Singapore, and Thailand. In 2019, the ILO and UN Women conducted a second survey in an attempt to monitor progress and trends over almost a decade, this time considering Japan, Malaysia, Singapore, and Thailand. This 2019 study has been carried out jointly by Safe and Fair, under the European Union-United Nations Spotlight Initiative to Eliminate Violence Against Women and Girls; and by TRIANGLE in ASEAN, a partnership between the Australian Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade, Global Affairs Canada, and the ILO.

While overall migration has increased over the last decade, the new study reveals that positive attitudes towards migrant workers have declined. The study also confirms that public support for migrant workers is largely driven by the relationships and ties that individuals and communities develop with migrant worker communities. People who know and engage with migrant workers on a personal level are more likely to be supportive of their rights and to assist them in times of crisis. Polarization in views has increased, however, and people with limited or no interaction with migrant workers are less supportive than before. Alarmingly, positive attitudes among respondents who employ migrant domestic workers in their homes have also decreased.

Although many people may hold an overall negative view when talking about migrant workers, the study also finds that positive public support exists for policy initiatives aimed at supporting women migrant workers, especially related to ending violence against women. Respondents particularly expressed support for shelters to assist women migrant workers who face violence, for stronger enforcement against violence, and for better conditions for domestic workers. This tends to show that focused attention on a particular group of migrant workers and the specific issues concerning those workers can help generate more public support, particularly when that focused attention emphasizes shared experiences.

The implications of these findings are clear: our programmes and policies must further encourage interaction and community engagement with migrant communities, and must discourage exclusion, isolation, and discrimination.

The ILO and UN Women will take these findings forward, with renewed efforts to contribute to positive, non-discriminatory public attitudes towards all migrant workers, and especially women migrant workers.

and Distinto

**Ms Tomoko Nishimoto** Assistant Director-General and Regional Director ILO Regional Office for Asia and the Pacific

**Mr Mohammad Naciri** Regional Director UN Women Regional Office for Asia and the Pacific

# Table of contents

Fo	rewo	ord	Ш
Ac	knov	wledgements	VIII
Ex	ecut	tive summary	IX
At	brev	viations and acronyms	ХХ
1.	Intro	oduction	1
	1.1	Background: Attitudes towards migrant workers in Asia	1
		1.1.1 Migrant workers in Japan, Malaysia, Singapore, and Thailand	1
		1.1.2 Negative attitudes towards migrant workers	3
	1.2	Women migrant workers in Asia	4
		1.2.1 Positive and negative migration outcomes experienced by women migrant workers	4
		1.2.2 Women migrant domestic workers in Japan, Malaysia, Singapore, and Thailand	5
2.	Res	earch approach	7
	2.1	Research scope	7
	2.2	Data collection methods	8
		2.2.1 Document review	8
		2.2.2 Survey with the general public	8
		2.2.3 Stakeholder interviews	14
	2.3	Gender-responsive approach	14
		The KAP Score model and shifting attitudes	15
		Ethics considerations	17
	2.6	Limitations	17
3.	Finc	dings	19
	3.1	Public support for migrant workers	19
		3.1.1 Labour market shortages: Need for migrant workers	19
		3.1.2 Migration and crime: Unfounded fears	24
		3.1.3 Social inclusion vs. social and cultural threats	25
		3.1.4 Equal treatment	27
		3.1.5 Violence against women migrant workers	31
		3.1.6 Domestic workers: Same treatment, better protections	33
	2 2	3.1.7 The entertainment and sex industry: Attitudes towards improved conditions and law	
		Influence of social norms	39 41
	J.J	Interaction with migrant workers 3.3.1 Extent to which people encounter migrant workers	41
		3.3.2 Change in interaction with migrant workers since 2010	41
	3.⊿	Measuring support for migrant workers and modelling possibilities	44
	J. <del>1</del>	for shifts in behaviour using the KAP Score model	

3.4.1 KAP Score model indicators	44			
3.4.2 Change in overall support for migrant workers since 2010, per KAP Index	45			
3.4.3 Survey data by KAP Segmentation: Knowledge, attitudes, practice	46			
3.4.4 Interaction with migrant workers	51			
3.5 Role of news and media	55			
3.5.1 Mass and social media use	55			
3.5.2 Sources of information about migrant workers	58			
4. Conclusions and recommendations	61			
References	67			
Appendix I. Survey questionnaire	73			
Appendix II. KAP results tables				

### Lists of table

table 1.	Sampling plan and sample size	9
table 2.	Geographic sample coverage, proportion of total population, 2010 and 2019	10
table 3.	Structure of the 2019 national samples and sub-samples in Malaysia and Thailand	11
table 4.	Data weighting scheme	13
table 5.	Gender-responsive approaches	14
table 6.	Knowledge about women migrant workers who experience violence	32
table 7.	Support for migrant women having access to shelters if they experience violence	33
	and stronger law enforcement to reduce violence against migrant women	
table 8.	KAP Score questions	45

### Lists of figure

Figure 1.	KAP Index, by country 2019 (national and sub-sample)	11
Figure 2.	Five stages of change in the KAP Score model	16
Figure 3.	Change in working-age people needed by 2030 to keep dependency ratio at	20
	2016 level	
Figure 4.	What effect do migrant workers have on the national economy?	23
Figure 5.	In the past 12 months, did respondents speak to friends or colleagues about	23
	some positive contribution migrant workers make to their country?	
Figure 6.	Perceptions of migrant workers as social and cultural threats	26
Figure 7.	Support for issues related to social inclusion	27
Figure 8.	Public attitudes on equal treatment with nationals	28
Figure 9.	Support for equal wages for national and migrant women who are doing	29
	the same job	
Figure 10.	Support for maternity leave and pregnant migrant workers	29
Figure 11.	Support for migrant domestic workers: Employers of domestic workers	35
	compared to non-employers	

Figure 12.	Change in employment of migrant domestic workers	36
Figure 13.	Employment of migrant domestic workers and average salary paid	36
Figure 14.	Work entitlements provided to migrant domestic workers	37
Figure 15.	Extent to which people are influenced by social norms: Would people speak out	40
	in situations of prejudice towards migrant workers?	
Figure 16.	Frequency of interaction with migrant workers	41
Figure 17.	Type of relationship with migrant workers	42
Figure 18.	Frequency of interaction with migrant workers, by country, 2010 and 2019	43
Figure 19.	Type of relationship with migrant workers	43
Figure 20.	KAP Score indicators	44
Figure 21.	KAP Index, by country 2010 and 2019	46
Figure 22.	KAP Segmentation, by country, 2019	47
Figure 23.	Percentage of the public who indicated knowledge of these factual statements	48
Figure 24.	Level of agreement regarding differential treatment of migrant workers	49
Figure 25.	Level of agreement regarding migrant workers having a negative impact	49
Figure 26.	Support for women migrant workers	50
Figure 27.	Supportive behaviour in relation to migrant workers	51
Figure 28.	Change in KAP Index, by interaction with migrant workers, 2010 and 2019	52
Figure 29.	Change in KAP Index, by employers of migrant domestic workers	53
Figure 30.	Media and device penetration	56
Figure 31.	Regular use of mass media	57
Figure 32.	Media use, by urban or rural area	58
Figure 33.	Consumption of mainstream and alternative news media	59
Figure 34.	Number of news media sources consumed	59
Figure 35.	Sources of information about migrant workers	60

# Acknowledgments

This study was conducted by Daniel Lindgren, Giulia Zaratti, and Mookdapa Yangyuenpradorn from Rapid Asia, including study design, managing data collection, analysis and report preparation. The study was co-authored by Daniel Lindgren, Giulia Zaratti, and Mookdapa Yangyuenpradorn from Rapid Asia, and Rebecca Napier-Moore from the Safe and Fair Programme, International Labour Organization (ILO). The KAP Score model used in this study was developed by Rapid Asia and is available under a Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International License.

The research was made possible with the contributions of many people during the design, fieldwork, analysis, report preparation, and review: Nilim Baruah, Deepa Bharathi, Anna Engblom, Swathi Jakkula, Catherine Laws, Anna Olsen, and Helene Thor at ILO Regional Office for Asia and the Pacific; Sinthia Dewi Harkrisnowo, Yen Ne Foo, Natthanicha Lephilibert, Phyu Myat Thwe, Jackie Pollock, Rex Marlo Varona, and Veth Vorn, from ILO national offices in ASEAN; Melissa Alvarado and Valentina Volpe from UN Women Regional Office for Asia and the Pacific; and Dewi Ratnawulan, Karnmanee Thanesvorakul, and Karen Emmons from Rapid Asia. A further thanks goes to Pia Oberoi from the Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights for her review. John Maloy copyedited the report, and Nattawarath Hengviriyapanich created the layout and design artwork.

Representatives from government, employer associations, trade unions, recruitment agencies, universities, and civil society organizations took time out of their busy schedules to provide inputs for data collection as well as to review the findings. The research team also acknowledges the excellent work of the online panel provider in Singapore who coordinated data collection in Japan, Malaysia, Singapore, and Thailand.

This research received funding from the Safe and Fair and TRIANGLE in ASEAN programmes. Safe and Fair is implemented by the ILO and the UN Women and is part of a multi-year European Union-United Nations Spotlight Initiative to Eliminate Violence Against Women and Girls, funded by the European Union. It delivers technical assistance and support with the overall objective of making labour migration safe and fair for all women in the ASEAN region. ILO TRIANGLE in ASEAN is a partnership between the Australian Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade, Global Affairs Canada, and the ILO. TRIANGLE in ASEAN delivers technical assistance and support, with the overall goal of maximizing the contribution of labour migration towards achieving equitable, inclusive, and stable growth in ASEAN. The research was generously supported by DFAT and by the EU through the Spotlight Initiative.

The report builds on the 2010 ILO TRIANGLE in ASEAN public attitudes study, as well as the Safe and Fair Technical Regional Meeting "Changing attitudes and behaviour towards women migrant workers in ASEAN" held in Bangkok from 26 to 27 November 2018.

# Executive summary

### Background

Globally, public debate over international migration has become increasingly intense over the past few years. Some governments, especially in ageing societies, are newly opening doors to migrant workers and concurrently looking at programmes to support multiculturalism. Others are presently reforming or creating labour laws for domestic workers, applicable to both nationals and migrants. However, recent polls and elections in other countries highlight that channelling xenophobia towards migrant workers is a potent political instrument (Grosfoguel, Oso, and Christou, 2015; Miller-Gonzalez and Rensmann, 2010). Negative attitudes towards migrant workers are expressed in varied contexts through discriminatory actions, such as limiting or denying entry, exclusion from access to services, or exclusion from a number of labour protection regulations applicable to national workers, including social protection.

In 2010, the International Labour Organization (ILO) conducted a large-scale public opinion survey of 4,020 nationals in four Asian migrant destination countries – the Republic of Korea, Malaysia, Singapore, and Thailand – to assess public attitudes towards migrant workers. The findings indicated somewhat greater support for migrant workers in the Republic of Korea and Singapore than in Malaysia and Thailand due to greater interaction with migrant workers in those countries. Overall, however, the 2010 survey findings revealed that the majority of respondents in all countries held unfavourable attitudes towards migrant workers (ILO, 2011).

Now, nearly a decade later, the TRIANGLE in ASEAN programme (ILO) and Safe and Fair programme (ILO and UN Women) have conducted a similar survey of 4,099 nationals to track trends of attitudes in three of the above countries. One of the original four countries was changed, with the Republic of Korea replaced by Japan, given its emergence as an important destination country for low-skilled migrant workers in Asia. Certain questions from the first survey were repeated to allow for identification of longitudinal changes in public support for migrant workers.

ILO/N. Viet Thanh

This 2019 study also adds questions on women-specific issues, including attitudes to ending violence against women migrant workers; to decent work in women-dominant occupations of domestic work and sex work; to social protection including maternity leave; and to non-discrimination, including during pregnancy.

### **Current situation**

The number of documented migrant workers residing in the South-East Asia and the Pacific subregion is an estimated 11.6 million (ILO, 2018b). Migrant workers make crucial contributions to the economies and societies of both origin and destination countries.

Of the migrant workers in the region in 2017, 5.2 million are women (ILO, 2018b). Women migrant workers compose the majority of workers in several sectors: domestic work, entertainment, seafood processing, electronics manufacturing, and garment manufacturing, among others. They frequently experience gender-based inequalities, exploitation, and sometimes violence during the migration process, which compound the prejudice and discrimination they experience as migrant workers.

In Japan, migrant workers account for less than 2 per cent of the total population of approximately 126 million persons (Migration Policy Institute, 2018). In Malaysia, migrant workers number between an estimated 4.2–4.8 million (World Bank, 2019). There are more than 850,000 migrant workers in Singapore, in a population of approximately 5.6 million (Singapore Ministry of Manpower, 2019). In Thailand there are an estimated 3.9 million migrant workers, most of them from Cambodia, the Lao People's Democratic Republic, and Myanmar (UN Working Group on Migration in Thailand, 2019).

Among countries of destination in this study there is a demand for low-skilled workers in sectors that are mainly low wage (care work including domestic work, entertainment, construction, agriculture, and manufacturing) (UN Working Group on Migration in Thailand, 2019; ILO, 2017b; UN Women, 2017). Yet, significant proportions of the public in all four countries have negative perceptions of migrant workers, attitudes in contradiction to the actual contribution made by migrant workers to destination economies and societies. At times the attitudes are also in contradiction with actions the majority of the public say they would take, or with policies, especially related to migrant women's issues, that majorities support.

Unfortunately, negative attitudes can condone discrimination, exploitation, and even violence against migrant workers. They can also detrimentally affect policies on labour migration, including those most affecting women migrant workers, such as policies on domestic work. Public attitudes and perceptions vary based on the multiple and intersecting identities of migrant workers they encounter. Public in countries of destination may hold biases based on a migrant worker's nationality, gender, sex, ethnicity, marital status, language, race, documentation status, age, or education.

Understanding the nuances and complexity of public attitudes – and the relations of attitudes with behaviour – is essential to any measures aiming to ensure positive migration outcomes,

non-discrimination and protection of rights at work and in service provision, and freedom from exploitation and violence in labour migration throughout the region.

### Select findings

In order to understand the overall level of public support towards migrant workers in countries of destination, this study explores public support and attitudes related to several themes: Labour market shortages, migration and crime, social and cultural threats, equal treatment with nationals, violence against women migrant workers, and also women-dominant sectors: domestic work and the entertainment sector.

Population demographics are changing in Asia. In destination countries for migrants, dependency ratios are falling, meaning there is a lower percentage of workers in the population, and also indicating that populations are ageing. Both point to the need for more workers to maintain labour forces, and to provide care to the elderly. World Bank data from Malaysia, for instance, further suggests that a 10 per cent net increase in manual or "low-skilled" migrant workers may increase Malaysia's GDP by up to 1.1 per cent (World Bank, 2015).

Yet, despite these labour market shortages, and the economic gains to be made from labour migration, not all of the public are convinced of the need for migrant workers. Among survey respondents, 56 per cent in Malaysia, 53 per cent in Thailand, 35 per cent in Japan, and 25 per cent in Singapore said there is not a need for low-skilled migrant workers in their countries. When asked if migrant workers are a "drain on the economy", 30 per cent in Singapore, 32 per cent in Japan, 40 per cent in Thailand, and 47 per cent in Malaysia agreed.

- High percentages of the public polled said that they thought crime rates had increased due to migration: 52 per cent in Japan, 52 per cent in Singapore, 77 per cent in Thailand, and 83 per cent in Malaysia. However, in Malaysia, for example, a recent econometric study has shown that the presence of migrant workers reduces both property and violent crime. An increase of 100,000 migrant workers reduces crimes committed by 1.5 percent (Özden, Testaverde, and Wagner, 2015 in World Bank, 2015). Compared to the 2010 survey results for Malaysia, one positive trend is that the level of 2019 respondents who think that migrants commit a high number of crimes has dropped dramatically, from 80 to 59 per cent.<sup>1</sup>
- Survey respondents perceiving that migrant workers threaten their country's culture and heritage were 41 per cent in Japan, 53 per cent in Singapore, 58 per cent in Thailand, and 68 per cent in Malaysia. Similarly, some among the public say that migrant workers have a poor work ethic and that they cannot trust them (Singapore, 32 per cent; Japan, 34 per cent; Malaysia, 44 per cent; and Thailand, 60 per cent).

<sup>1</sup> Note this paragraph gives figures for public attitudes towards migrants and crime asked two different ways: the first question asks whether respondents think the crime rate increased; and the second asks whether respondents think migrants commit a high number of crimes.

While these trends point to destination country contexts where migrants face social exclusion and discrimination, there was majority support in Japan and Thailand among respondents when asked whether women migrant workers should be allowed to bring their children with them when migrating (33 per cent in Singapore, 43 per cent in Malaysia, 55 per cent in Japan, and 62 per cent in Thailand). Further, the study found that majorities of the public said they had spoken or would speak out against someone who was saying offensive things about migrants (Singapore, 54 per cent; Thailand, 58 per cent; Japan, 26 per cent; and Malaysia, 70 per cent).

While equality of treatment of nationals on par with migrant workers in employment and working conditions is enshrined in international laws, legal gaps in equality at work for all migrants persist. The majority of the public surveyed were of the view that migrants cannot expect the same pay or benefits as nationals for the same job. This view was particularly strong in Singapore (60 per cent) and Malaysia (58 per cent), followed by Thailand (52 per cent). A minority of the public in Japan (35 per cent) held this view.

When adding a gendered element and asking later in the survey whether migrant women should receive pay on par with nationals, Malaysians were consistent in their response (56 per cent thought they should not receive equal pay), and the respondents in the other three countries showed much less of a negative attitude when asked: 42 per cent in Singapore, 25 per cent in Thailand, and 17 per cent in Japan. Further supporting women migrant workers and contrary to laws in Malaysia and Singapore, majorities in every country thought that women migrant workers should have rights to maternity leave (71 per cent in Thailand, 66 per cent in Japan, 62 per cent in Malaysia, and 51 per cent in Singapore).

 Violence against women migrant workers was the issue to which the surveyed public gave migrants their strongest support, in terms of support and response mechanisms. The public support migrant women having access to shelters if they experience violence, at these levels of response: 68 per cent in Japan, 79 per cent in Singapore, 81 per cent in Malaysia, and 85 per cent in Thailand. When asked if they support stronger law enforcement to reduce violence against migrant women, 67 per cent of the public in Japan responded positively, 77 per cent in Singapore, 82 per cent in Malaysia, and 83 per cent in Thailand.



Harnessing the strong public support for freedom from violence for migrant women, as shown in this survey, and turning it into law and action is imperative, especially at a moment when governments, trade unions, and employers around the world have come together to adopt new international laws to counter violence. The June 2019 International Labour Conference adopted the Violence and Harassment Convention, 2019 (No. 190) and the associated Violence and Harassment Recommendation, 2019 (No. 206) concerning the elimination of violence and harassment in the world of work, and recognizing the right of everyone to a world of work free from violence and harassment.

 Second to supporting migrant women who experience violence, the public also supported improved labour conditions for domestic workers – though employers among the respondents were less supportive. Overall figures showed that 64 per cent of the public in Japan, 71 per cent in Malaysia, 78 per cent in Singapore, and 80 per cent in Thailand support better labour conditions for domestic workers. Majorities in every country also supported recognition of care work as a formal profession.

This public support did not translate, however, into good employment conditions and provision of work entitlements as reported by employers in the survey. When presented with a list of eight entitlements (such as paid leave, overtime pay, ability to hold their passports or a phone, or a day off per week), Thai employers said they provide an average of roughly four entitlements to domestic workers, while in Singapore it was nearly three, two and a half in Malaysia, and one in Japan. The most commonly provided entitlements were paid leave, sick leave, and one day off per week. Maternity leave, while uncommon, was most frequently cited by employers in Thailand. Some 43 per cent of Japanese employers of domestic workers said they did not provide any entitlements at all to domestic workers.

Entertainment work, a women-dominant sector in which migrants work, is highly impacted by public attitudes and stereotypes. The entertainment sector, and the sex industry within it, largely remains outside of labour protections in the region and is criminalized. The United Nations' Thailand Migration Report in 2019 found that: "Due to the criminalization of their work and the implementation of anti-trafficking interventions, migrant sex workers in Thailand face the regular threat of harassment and arrest, severely damaging their ability to earn a livelihood and support their families" (UN Working Group on Migration in Thailand, 2019).

This survey asked the public about their support for improved labour conditions for sex workers. Support for better labour conditions was highest in Japan and Thailand (52 per cent), followed by Singapore (40 per cent) and Malaysia (22 per cent). The survey also asked about public support for decriminalization of sex work. In Thailand 40 per cent of the public support decriminalization, 36 per cent in Singapore, 30 per cent in Japan, and 17 per cent in Malaysia.

# What factors correlate with public support for migrant workers? Interactions with migrant workers

The study explored whether demographic variables correlated with public support for migrant workers. Although some differences between countries were found, demographic variables were not strongly associated with levels of public support.

Instead, the frequency and quality of interaction with migrant workers were a strong predictor of support for migrant workers generally. Personal contact with migrant workers was significantly higher in Malaysia and Singapore, while Japan had the lowest level of encounters, with 53 per cent of respondents reporting no encounter with migrants ever. By contrast, in Malaysia, Singapore, and Thailand 5 per cent, 8 per cent, and 11 per cent of the public, respectively, reported never encountering migrant workers.

It is critical therefore to encourage more interaction of communities with migrant workers. Interventions that foster trust building, understanding, and familiarity with each other are crucial. Decreasing the distance between nationals in countries of destination and migrant workers requires a multi-pronged approach including changes to laws and policy to ensure there are no exclusions or "special rules" that apply to migrant workers; that they receive fair and equal treatment; and that city planning, workplace inclusion, and community platforms work to encourage social interaction.

### Changes in public support for migrant workers: From 2010 to 2019

The current study set out to assess changes in knowledge, attitudes, and practices over time, with longitudinal comparison to the 2010 study. Because of the switch of Japan for the Republic of Korea in the 2019 study, longitudinal results were only compared between Malaysia, Singapore, and Thailand. Looking at the KAP Index (knowledge, attitudes, practice index, a composite of answers to 15 survey questions on a 0–100 scale) scores for 2010 and 2019, there was a modest decline in all three countries. This indicates that support for migrant workers has declined. Singapore and Thailand each saw seven-point drops in the index, whereas Malaysia had a more marginal decrease of three points. Despite the drop, Singapore remains the highest scoring country, an indication that support for migrant workers remains relatively stronger there than in Malaysia and Thailand. However, the results suggest that most people in all three countries have limited knowledge about migrant workers, hold many negative attitudes towards them, and are unwilling to engage in behaviour that would support migrants.

Singapore, which displayed high levels of public interaction with migrant workers in 2010, saw levels of public interaction with migrant workers drop in 2019. Respondents in Singapore in 2019 reported knowing migrant workers personally, mostly as friends or colleagues at work (at 48 per cent, as opposed to 57 per cent in 2010).

Overall, in both Malaysia and Thailand the public's interaction with migrant workers increased. In Malaysia, 15 per cent more people said they know migrant workers than in 2010. The increase in Thailand was very high, with 40 per cent more people saying they know migrant workers. This was evident across provinces, as well as in both urban and rural areas of Thailand.

Despite the correlation of a higher KAP Index with an individual's interaction with migrant workers, support for migrant workers declined in all three countries over the period. This is due to a greater KAP Index decline (by 27, 25, and 22 per cent in Malaysia, Thailand, and Singapore, respectively) among respondents with no interaction with migrant workers. The KAP Index did not change significantly for respondents who have regular interaction with migrant workers, which suggests an increased polarization in support between persons exposed to migrant workers and persons who are not.

The above findings are qualified, however, and nuances are found when looking at results from employers of domestic workers. The survey asked respondents if they were employers of domestic workers, which allowed for disaggregation of employer versus non-employer support for migrant workers. A strong, positive relationship had been found in 2010 between employers of migrant domestic workers and their having positive support for migrant workers (as correlated with the KAP Index). In 2019, these results changed dramatically. While domestic worker employers' support declined slightly in Singapore (declining by 6 out of 100 points), in Malaysia and Thailand, employers were found to be much less supportive (with support declining by 25 points and 22 points, respectively). This finding suggests that migrant domestic workers in Malaysia and Thailand may be facing higher rates of discrimination today than they did in 2010.



### Recommendations

- 1. Promote inclusion, social interaction, and community engagement with migrant workers in destination countries, including through changes to policy and practice.
  - 1.1 Stimulate attitude changes on specific issues to tackle discrimination and barriers that prevent the fair treatment of migrant workers and their social inclusion.
    - Reform and align immigration and employment policies with other national regulations to ensure that migrant workers are able to fully access rights on par with nationals. These policies could reverse the negative trend of considering migrant workers as a temporary labour force.
    - Adopt policies, regulations, and operating procedures that support social inclusion, including access to services, social security, schools, and health facilities.
    - City planning can promote social inclusion by avoiding ghettoization of migrant workers' accommodation. Physical distance is a barrier that hinders migrant workers from integrating into the local community and encourages segregation and discrimination.
    - Ensure that labour migration governance mechanisms are accessible, affordable, and not time consuming. Across all four countries, respondents said that migrant workers with regular status can adapt better than those without. Indeed, migrant workers with irregular status fear going out in public, as arrest, detention, and deportation are possible outcomes should they be too visible or encounter authorities.
  - 1.2 Design, support, and deliver policies that facilitate platforms and community events where migrant workers and the public can meaningfully interact and demonstrate the positive impact of migrant workers on societies and economies.
  - 1.3 Encourage inclusion in the workplace by working with employers and trade unions to promote the rights of migrant workers. Trade unions could promote solidarity and encourage inclusion by accepting and supporting migrant workers to join as members where it is lawful for them to do so. Campaigns targeted towards migrant workers and trade union members should encourage migrant workers to join unions, where lawful, and to shape the attitudes of trade unions towards accepting and empowering all workers as part of the unions, regardless of their country of origin or migration status. Existing restrictions on migrant workers, or migrant-reliant sectors, to join unions should be removed.
  - 1.4 Avoid dehumanizing terms to refer to migrants and migrant workers in legal texts and other official documents.

#### 2. Conduct awareness-raising activities with the general public.

- 2.1 Design campaigns to raise awareness by providing accurate and positive information about migrant workers and their contributions to national economy. The study identified that the majority of the respondents had limited knowledge about the important contributions migrant workers make to destination countries. Information campaigns can help to inform the public ideally by working on shifting social norms and shared values. It is important to focus on specific sectors and problems so that the public can relate to the messages in a more personalized way.
  - Promote campaigns that address the root of negative attitudes towards migrant workers. Strive to develop a personal connection between the public and migrant workers by focusing on specific migrant work sectors and also on interactions among nationals and migrant workers within that sector.
  - Promote evidence of the beneficial impacts of migrant workers to strengthen positive attitudes while at the same time debunking common myths, such as the characterization of migrant workers as criminals, as taking jobs from nationals, or as having a negative impact on the economy.
  - Tackle stigma and raise the status of roles and work sectors in which migrant workers work. Undervaluing the work of migrants has negative consequences and can lead to discrimination and social exclusion. Promoting the importance of decent work, equal opportunities, social protection, gender equality, and inclusion are essential.
  - Take care to ensure that messaging does not promote migrant workers especially women migrant workers – as "victims" or inherently vulnerable. This can feed into narratives that migrant workers are weaker and powerless, and through emphasizing difference, can undermine migrant workers' claims to the same rights at work as nationals.
  - When promoting changes in practice and behaviour, give practical tips and guides for action, rooted in laws and other normative guidance.
  - Communicate messages through mass media as well as social media platforms, including Facebook, Line, YouTube, and Instagram, to maximize reach. Tackle "fake news", racial discrimination, and hate speech online, and ensure that civil society online activism is encouraged and supported.
- 2.2 Complement and reinforce public campaigns with targeted interventions directed at influencer groups.
  - Encourage governments, in partnership with international organizations and other relevant actors, to encourage schools to promote positive behaviour towards migrant workers and members of their families. The study highlighted a general lack of knowledge about migrant workers' rights. But public education on prejudice and diversity can shape attitudes towards migrant workers as well as change discriminatory social norms and stereotypical behaviours.

- Implement interventions to encourage more balanced and inclusive reporting, and to encourage the news media to use non-discriminatory terminology when reporting stories about migrant workers. News media are influential and impact the public's attitudes as well as policy-makers' agendas. Terms such as "undocumented" and "irregular" can be used rather than "illegal"; and "migrant" can be used rather than "alien". At all opportunities, humanize the individual representation of migrant workers and avoid descriptions that overemphasize the number of migrant workers or depict the migrant population as degrading the dominant culture.
- 2.3 Continue to track shifts and trends in public support for migrant workers in countries of destination. Doing so will allow ongoing campaigns and other interventions to adjust to any changes in public attitudes. More frequent tracking of attitudes can also enable studies to identify causation of changes in public support for migrant workers.
- 3. Harness the opportunities available given the high degree of public support for women migrant workers, including opportunities to address violence against women.
  - 3.1 Leverage the positive public support for ending violence against women migrant workers. Respondents showed high levels of support for access to shelters for women who experience violence and for stronger enforcement against violence.
    - It is recommended to work with governments, trade unions, and NGOs to ensure the availability of shelters and comprehensive services designed to meet the needs of women migrant worker survivors of violence.
    - To ensure stronger enforcement against violence, it is recommended that governments work to align laws and policies with, and ratify, the Violence and Harassment Convention, 2019 (No. 190).
    - Governments, employers, trade unions, and NGOs should run campaigns to end violence and harassment in the world of work, including against migrant women and other marginalized groups. Awareness-raising and campaigning should form an important part of combined strategies linked to prevention of violence and harassment in the world of work.
  - 3.2 Leverage the public support for women migrant workers to receive maternity leave. Policy change and/or enforcement is needed in migrant countries of destination to ensure women migrant workers have de jure and de facto access to maternity leave within broader social security schemes, and that women migrant workers are not discriminated against – either at work or during recruitment – on the grounds of pregnancy.

- 3.3 Support increased realization of human and labour rights in the entertainment sector and the sex industry. Labour protection mechanisms are needed to eliminate recruitment and employment misconduct and to prevent violence and exploitation for all migrant women (UN Working Group on Migration in Thailand, 2019).
- 3.4 Support governments and employers to actively promote gender-sensitive policies and practices that tackle gender stereotypes and occupational segregation. Strong gender segregation of occupation in the region is the result of stereotypical perceptions of what women can or cannot do, as well as the consequence of genderdifferentiated barriers in access to specific job opportunities.

#### 4. Address the declining attitudes of employers of domestic workers.

- 4.1 Governments, trade unions, and other stakeholders, including domestic workers groups, should conduct a coordinated and evidence-based publicity campaign on the social and economic value of domestic work, and on the rights of domestic workers. Domestic work is often undervalued, and often not fully considered as work, either by employers or through full inclusion in national labour laws.
- 4.2 All stakeholders, including and especially the media, should use respectful terms to describe domestic workers. They should avoid terms such as "servant", "maid", and "helper", and instead use "domestic worker", which squarely shows that domestic workers are workers, and not servile or part of the family.
- 4.3 Leverage the positive public support for domestic workers to design and enforce regulations aimed at improving the working conditions of women migrant workers, as well as ratification of the Domestic Workers Convention, 2011 (No. 189). Respondents showed high levels of support for recognition of care workers, improvement of the working conditions of domestic workers, and equal labour rights for domestic workers on par with nationals. Currently, none of the four countries in this study has ratified Convention No. 189.<sup>2</sup> Doing so would go far toward improving working conditions for domestic workers, as it allows for weekly rest for at least 24 consecutive hours, a limit on payment in kind, clear information on the terms and conditions of employment, as well as freedom of association and the right to collective bargaining.
- 4.4 Conduct further research to understand the knowledge, attitudes, and practices (work entitlements provided) of employers of migrant domestic workers. Such a study is critical in light of the fact that employers today appear to show less support for migrant workers than before.

<sup>2</sup> See ILO Normlex: Information System on International Labour Standards, https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/ f?p=NORMLEXPUB:1:0::NO::: [accessed 13 Mar. 2019].

# Abbreviations and acronyms

ASEAN	Association of Southeast Asian Nations
CEDAW	Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women
CHAID	Chi-square Automatic Interaction Detector
CSO	civil society organization
DEVAW	Declaration on the Elimination of Violence against Women
ESOMAR	European Society for Opinion and Market Research
GDP	gross domestic product
ILO	International Labour Organization
КАР	knowledge, attitudes, and practices
LGBTI	lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and intersex
ΜΟυ	memorandum of understanding
MYR	Malaysian Ringgit (currency)
NGO	non-governmental organization
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
SGD	Singapore dollar (currency)
тнв	Thai baht (currency)
UN	United Nations
UNDP	United Nations Development Programme

# **1. Introduction**

### 1.1 Background: Attitudes towards migrant workers in Asia

In 2010, the International Labour Organization (ILO) conducted a large-scale public opinion survey of 4,020 nationals in four Asian migrant destination countries – the Republic of Korea, Malaysia, Singapore, and Thailand – to assess public attitudes towards migrant workers. The findings indicated somewhat greater support for migrant workers in the Republic of Korea and Singapore than in Malaysia and Thailand due to greater interaction with migrant workers in those countries. Overall, however, the 2010 survey findings revealed that the majority of respondents in all countries held unfavourable attitudes towards migrant workers (ILO, 2011).

In 2019, nearly a decade later, the TRIANGLE in ASEAN programme (ILO) and Safe and Fair programme (ILO and UN Women) have conducted a similar survey of 4,099 nationals to track trends of attitudes in three of the countries. One of the original four countries was changed – with the Republic of Korea replaced by Japan, given its emergence as an important destination country for low-skilled migrant workers in Asia.

#### 1.1.1 Migrant workers in Japan, Malaysia, Singapore, and Thailand

The number of documented migrant workers residing in the South-East Asia and the Pacific subregion is an estimated 11.6 million – 5.2 million of whom are women (ILO, 2018b). These statistics do not include irregular<sup>3</sup> or seasonal migrant workers, many of whom are employed in domestic work, entertainment, and agriculture. The Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) is characterized by high rates of women's migration, with women and girls accounting for almost half (45 per cent) of the total migrant worker population in the region in 2017 (ILO,

<sup>3</sup> There is no universally accepted definition of irregular migration. From the perspective of destination countries, it is entry, stay, or work in a country without the necessary authorization or documents required under immigration regulations. From the perspective of the sending country, the irregularity can be seen in cases in which a person crosses an international boundary without a valid passport or travel document or does not fulfil the administrative requirements for leaving the country.

2018b). Women migrant workers are making crucial contributions to destination countries as well as their countries of origin. In destination countries for ASEAN workers, there tends to be high demand for so-called "low-skilled" workers in sectors that typically have lower wages, many of which are women-dominated, such as care work, entertainment, services, and manufacturing subsectors such as electronics, garments, and seafood (UN Working Group on Migration in Thailand, 2019; ILO, 2017b; UN Women, 2017).

Compared with the other countries in the study, Japan has high ethnic homogeneity, and documented international migrants represent 1.8 per cent of the total population (of 126 million) (UN DESA, Population Division, 2017). However, immigration has become a relevant issue in Japan due to it having the fastest ageing population in the world; its population is predicted to shrink by one third over the next 50 years. This has implications for the national economy, and skilled migration has become critical for securing economic growth. Until recently, only highly skilled expatriates or diplomats could bring migrant domestic workers into the country – Japanese citizens were not allowed to employ migrant domestic workers (Reynolds and Aquino, 2017; Today, 2017). Migrant workers through the country's trainee scheme have not felt full protection under the law or its implementation (Solidarity Network with Migrants Japan, 2010). A law adopted in December 2018 established a number of measures to support about 350,000 new migrant care workers, as well as other workers in agriculture and manufacturing, into Japan (Shiraiwa, 2018; McCurry, 2018).

In Malaysia, in 2017 there were 2.2 million documented migrant workers (ILO, 2018a). Documented migrant workers made up 15 per cent of the labour force in 2017 (ILO, 2018a). The Malaysian central bank, Bank Negara, recently highlighted how the economy has generated demand for so-called "low-skilled" jobs "overwhelmingly filled by foreign workers" (Hwok-Aun and Yu Leng, 2018). Labour migration in Malaysia is frequently managed through temporary programmes, mainly for a limited selection of jobs. When migrant workers experience abuse and exploitation, it is often committed by both recruitment agencies and employers, and exacerbated by differences in the treatment of nationals and migrant workers (Ayub et al., 2016; The Equal Rights Trust, 2012).

Singapore has 1,368,000 migrant workers, comprising 42 per cent of its labour force (ILO, 2018a). To meet the needs of sectors such as domestic work, construction, ship repair, and construction (Bal, 2017), the employment of migrant workers is closely regulated. Even though migrant workers in Singapore are better protected than in many other destination countries, laws and public opinion are not entirely in their favour. Migrant domestic workers are excluded from Singapore's main labour law,<sup>4</sup> resulting in working hours going unregulated. Singapore does not have a minimum wage for any sectors. Like in Malaysia, women migrant workers are deported if found to be pregnant, and employers often restrict the movement of domestic workers, resulting in isolation and restricted ability to seek help when it is needed.

<sup>4</sup> See Employment Act, chapter 91.

Thailand has a total of 2 million migrant workers, comprising 6 per cent of the country's labour force (ILO, 2018a). Most are employed in construction, agriculture, manufacturing, domestic work, fishing, seafood processing, entertainment, and the service sector (UN Working Group on Migration in Thailand, 2019). Although migrant workers are generally regarded as a short-term source of labour, they make a significant contribution to Thailand's social and economic development, contributing between an estimated 4.3 and 6.6 per cent of the gross domestic product (GDP) value in 2010 (OECD and ILO, 2017). Two migrant-reliant job sectors – agriculture and domestic work – are not fully protected under Thai labour law, resulting in long hours and pay at rates often below what workers in other sectors receive.

#### 1.1.2 Negative attitudes towards migrant workers

Public debates on migration have become the subject of much concern in the past few years. Intolerance and xenophobia towards migrants have been used as a potent political instrument (Grosfoguel, Oso, and Christou, 2015; Miller-Gonzalez and Rensmann, 2010). The translation of negative sentiments towards migrants into discriminatory policies undermines the rights of migrant workers and defeats the efforts to maximize the social and economic potential of migration (OHCHR, 2014). Paying below the minimum wage, excessive overtime, and withholding passports are common practices that migrant workers regularly experience, while such treatment would be considered unacceptable for nationals (Tunon and Baruah, 2012).

Looking at Japan, Malaysia, Singapore, and Thailand, it is evident that considerable portions of the public hold negative perceptions towards migrant workers. This amounts to or can easily translate into discriminatory behaviours towards migrant workers, reinforced by social norms and discriminatory laws, and exacerbated by social media and political propaganda. Analysis of English-language newspaper reporting in 2016 in Malaysia and Thailand found that the word "illegal" was the most common adjective used to describe migrant workers (ILO and UN Women, 2016). Media often inflame and exaggerate the situation, such as migrant workers being regarded as a threat to social order and national security (Derks, 2013).

Due to the rapidly ageing population in all four countries, there are increasing labour shortages. In Thailand, for instance, the contributions of migrant workers have become indispensable to the agriculture, manufacturing, construction, fishing, seafood processing, hospitality, domestic work, and tourism sectors, which drive much of the economy (Harkins and Ali, 2017; OECD and ILO, 2017; Martin, 2015). Yet, the public's negative perceptions are often in direct contradiction to the actual contribution made by these workers to destination economies.

There are, however, some signs of hope. A 2018 Gallup poll found that a majority of adults globally (54 per cent) across 143 countries surveyed said their cities or communities are good places for migrants to live. This is a jump from 2010 when from 47 per cent said the same. In South-East Asia, positive responses improved in the period from 32 per cent in 2010 to 40 per cent in 2018, though South-East Asia's positive response rate is the lowest in the world (Ray, Pugliese, and Esipova, 2019). Though there may be improvement in how welcoming people in the region see themselves, there is much work to be done, even to catch up with the global average or norm.

### 1.2 Women migrant workers in Asia

# 1.2.1 Positive and negative migration outcomes experienced by women migrant workers

As above, nearly half of the documented migrant workers in ASEAN are women. Women migrate throughout ASEAN seeking work, gaining skills, and experiencing new countries and cultures. Women migrant workers contribute significantly to the economic and social development in the countries of origin and destination. They send home remittances to ensure their families' livelihoods, education, and health care.

Yet, women frequently experience inequalities, exploitation, or gender-based violence during the migration process, compounding the prejudice and discrimination they experience as migrant workers. These forms of treatment are regularly found in less favourable work sectors, where migrant women are commonly clustered. So-called "women's work" – such as cleaning, care work, garment manufacturing, or even the tasks given to women v. men construction workers – is often undervalued, resulting in salaries that are lower than those for men migrant workers (ILO, 2017a). Some employers reported hiring women because they are considered to have "nimble fingers" and therefore presumed to be highly efficient in performing detailed, manual labour jobs. Again, this form of gendered work segmentation only underestimates the value of their work.

Women migrant workers face multiple and intersecting forms of discrimination as women, as migrants, and on the basis of other identities: age, class, race, ethnicity, nationality, religion, marital and family status, sexual orientation and gender identity, disability, health status, and pregnancy.



As emphasized by the United Nations (UN) Secretary-General (2019), "This discrimination [faced by women migrants] affects the enjoyment by women and girls of their human rights and increases the likelihood that they will experience 'targeted, compounded or structural discrimination', including the risk of violence." Discrimination is not only seen in the attitudes of the public or among employers, but also continues into policy, including in the form of gender-based migration restrictions, moratoriums, or bans (ILO and UN Women, 2017). Such policies in the ASEAN region reflect the belief that decision-making about migration should be taken out of women's hands to protect them from abuses and violence. Yet, these policies do not address the structural labour rights and gender equality that must be in place to create enabling conditions where violence does not take place. Research has shown that the gender-based restrictions only leave women with the option of migrating irregularly, which then exposes them to greater risks that come with increased dependency on brokers and recruiters (ILO and UN Women, 2017).

## 1.2.2 Women migrant domestic workers in Japan, Malaysia, Singapore, and Thailand

Among women migrant workers in South-East Asia and the Pacific, 39.2 per cent are domestic workers (ILO, 2015), and 83 per cent of domestic workers are women (ILO, 2016c).<sup>5</sup> Typically, domestic workers are employed in private households, often with unclear terms of employment, and they are generally excluded from national labour legislation. This is partially because domestic workers are commonly viewed as "part of the family" rather than as legitimate workers. The devaluing and lack of formalization of domestic work contribute to the sector not being afforded fundamental labour rights, such as a legislated and enforced minimum wage, regular working hours, overtime pay, social security, or freedom of movement (ILO and UN Women, 2016).

Unlike in the other countries covered by this study, migrant domestic workers are not particularly common in Japan. As previously noted, nationals were not allowed to employ migrant domestic workers until recently (Reynolds and Aquino, 2017; Today, 2017).

The situation of the estimated 300,000 or 400,000 migrant domestic workers employed in Malaysia is of concern due to lack of legal protection (ILO, 2017b). In the country's Employment Act (1955), domestic workers are classified as "servants, maids and helpers" and exempted from many protection measures granted under the law for other workers, such as paid leave, rest days, set work hours, sick leave, rest time, and maternity protection (ILO, 2018c). A new law is being drafted on domestic work in Malaysia. Furthermore, the Malaysian Government imposes policies that prohibit domestic workers from establishing permanent residence, reuniting with their family members, or marrying Malaysian citizens (Arifin, 2012). In a 2016 ILO–UN Women survey of Indonesian and Filipina domestic workers in Malaysia, 25 per cent

<sup>5</sup> Article 1 of the ILO Domestic Workers Convention, 2011 (No. 189) defines domestic work as "work performed in or for a household or households". The term "domestic worker" means "any person engaged in domestic work within an employment relationship". Further, the Convention notes that a person who performs domestic work only occasionally or sporadically and not on an occupational basis is not a domestic worker.

reported no rest day and respondents worked an average of 14.4 hours per day (ILO and UN Women 2016).

The Singaporean Government recognizes the risks faced by migrant domestic workers, and punishments have increased under the penal code for employer offences, such as abuse, wrongful confinement, and sexual assault. Migrant domestic workers are protected by the Employment of Foreign Manpower Act and by the Employment of Foreign Manpower (Work Passes) Regulations. Employers of migrant domestic workers are required to buy personal accident insurance for each person hired, and to bear the cost of their workers' medical treatment (ILO, 2018c). Singapore also provides a mandatory settling-in programme to all migrant domestic workers after their arrival in the country, as well as an orientation for employers (Singaporean Ministry of Manpower, 2019). In a recent qualitative study, Myanmar domestic workers in Singapore reported working between 13 to 18 hours, and being on-call 24 hours a day. Some could not take their statutory day off per week. While other migrant workers can join (but not form) unions in Singapore, domestic workers are not allowed to unionize (ILO and UN Women, 2017).

Migrant domestic workers in Thailand have no access to social security (ILO (2016b), and many are undocumented. A 2015 study found that the majority of migrant domestic workers in Thailand migrated from Myanmar, and fewer than half possessed a work permit (Rattanapan, 2015). A 2012 ministerial regulation granted more rights to migrant domestic workers registered under the Labour Protection Act (1998) (ILO, 2018c). However, the ministerial regulation still excludes domestic workers from many provisions of the law, such as social security coverage and paid maternity leave (ILO and ADB, 2014).

In light of the above context and background on migrant workers in Asia, the goal of this 2019 public attitudes study is to assess public attitudes towards migrant workers, with added foci on women migrant workers and domestic workers. The study aims to examine the influencing factors that shape attitudes over time. The findings lead to a number of recommendations for potential interventions to mitigate the public's negative opinions of migrant workers.

# 2. Research approach

The 2019 study was undertaken through a mixed method approach, primarily via a public survey, which was complimented by semi-structured interviews and a desk review of secondary literature.

The study had the following objectives:

- 1. To establish an up-to-date knowledge base on public attitudes towards migrant workers in four Asian destination countries for ASEAN migrant workers.
- 2. To provide an evidence base with which to design interventions to promote a more positive image of migrant workers.
- 3. To determine how support of migrant workers has changed over time by comparing results with the 2010 ILO public attitudes survey.
- 4. To provide recommendations to tripartite-plus stakeholders (governments, trade unions, employer associations, plus civil society organizations) on actions they can take to improve public attitudes towards migrant workers in their countries.

### 2.1 Research scope

The study surveyed the general population in four migration destination countries: Japan, Malaysia, Singapore, and Thailand. Survey topics included:

- the degree to which people have interaction with migrant workers;
- knowledge, attitudes, and practices in relation to migrant workers;
- attitudes and issues that affect women migrant workers;
- employment of migrant domestic workers;
- social norms;
- media consumption; and
- demographics.

Selected questions about entitlements and salary were asked of respondents who employed a migrant domestic worker (see Appendix I for the survey questionnaire).

Key informant interviews with government representatives, employers, workers' representatives, CSO representatives, and journalists were carried out in each of the four destination countries to supplement the survey findings and to gain qualitative insight into whether attitudes are shared by stakeholders and what can be done to change or influence attitudes over time. The semi-structured interviews and background literature review enabled triangulation and contextualization of survey results.

The current study built on results of a similar survey of public attitudes towards migrant workers in the Republic of Korea, Malaysia, Singapore, and Thailand conducted in 2010. The majority of the 2010 questions were repeated in the 2019 survey, to identify longitudinal changes in public attitudes. A critical change to the research approach was to include Japan as a target country rather than the Republic of Korea. Japan has recently emerged as an important destination country for migrant workers in Asia.

Another change to improve the methodology was to collect data through an established access panel (explained below) in all four countries. The 2010 study used access panel data collection in the Republic of Korea and Singapore, and face-to-face interview data collection in Malaysia and Thailand (see details in section 2.2.2). The change to all data collection through an access panel enables more nationally representative and uniform data. In addition, a focus on attitudes towards women migrant workers, which was not covered by the survey in 2010, was added to the research scope.

### 2.2 Data collection methods

A survey questionnaire was developed for the general public, and an interview questionnaire was developed for key informants.

#### 2.2.1 Document review

The project team conducted a document review to better understand migration patterns and the public discourse in each country. Literature review covered recent studies on attitudes towards migrant workers generally and women migrant workers in particular. An initial document review was conducted in November 2018, followed by additional reviews to explore specific issues. These document reviews helped the project team develop the data collection tools and analyse findings.

#### 2.2.2 Survey with the general public

A well-established access panel was used to conduct the attitude survey with the general public in each of the four countries. An access panel is a group of pre-screened respondents who have expressed a willingness to participate in surveys sent to them via the Internet. Quality panels are typically large, and panel members are verified before they join. Because most panels are skewed towards younger and urban segments of the population, screening criteria and sample quotas were used to extract a more representative sample. Table 1 shows the size of the panel in each country.

The survey targeted the general population aged 18–65 year, covering all major regions in each country, including rural areas and small towns. Access panels, however, have stronger coverage in urban areas. To ensure better coverage of rural areas and small towns, a 30 per cent rural quota was imposed for Japan, Malaysia, and Thailand.<sup>6</sup> This does not fully compensate for the large urban and rural divide in Thailand, and is thus a known limitation of the study. A gender quota was also applied to ensure equal representation between men and women across regions in each country. The survey was conducted between December 2018 and January 2019. The total sample across the four countries was n=4,099 persons. Table 1 illustrates individual country samples, disaggregated by gender.

Country	Panel size <sup>a</sup>	Coverage	Sample size <sup>b</sup>	Men	Women
Japan	588 000+	national	1 051	526	526
Malaysia	125 000+	national	1 009	504	504
Singapore	48 000+	national	1 005	502	503
Thailand	136 000+	national	1 034	517	517
Total			4 099	2 049	2 050

#### Table 1. Sampling plan and sample size

Notes: a = Total persons available on the access panel; b = Total persons who participated in the survey.

In 2010, the data collection method used for Malaysia and Thailand was face-to-face interviews, with the sample coverage limited to four states and territories in Malaysia (Kuala Lumpur, Selangor, Pahang, and Perak) and to four provinces in Thailand (Bangkok, Surat Thani, Chiang Mai, and Samut Sakhon). The 2010 sample in Malaysia represented 5,370,125 people, or 23 per cent of the population. The 2010 sample in Thailand represented 6,530,202 people, or 10 per cent of the population (table 2).

Shifting to a nationwide sample for 2019 through the access panel resulted in a better representation of the population. As shown in table 2, the regions and states selected in 2019 cover a much larger proportion of the population, representing more than 60 per cent of the populations in Malaysia (61 per cent) and Thailand (67 per cent).

<sup>6</sup> This does not apply to Singapore because it is regarded as 100 per cent urban.

## Table 2. Geographic sample coverage, proportion of total population, 2010 and2019

Malaysia states 2010	Population <sup>a</sup>	Proportion of population	Malaysia regions 2019	Population <sup>₅</sup>	Proportion of population
Kuala Lumpur & Selangor	3 423 556	15%	Central	7 106 460	26%
Pahang	706 919	3%	East coast	3 919 135	14%
Perak	1 239 650	5%	North	5 895 694	21%
Total	5 370 125	23%	Total	16 921 289	61%
Thailand provinces 2010	<b>Population</b> <sup>°</sup>	Proportion of	Thailand	<b>Population</b> <sup>d</sup>	Proportion of
		population	regione 2010		population
Bangkok	4 259 525	6%	regions 2019 Greater Bangkok	10 831 988	population 16%
	4 259 525 715 818		Greater	10 831 988 9 399 578	
Bangkok		6%	Greater Bangkok		16%
Bangkok Surat Thani	715 818	6% 1%	Greater Bangkok South	9 399 578	16%

Source: a, b = Department of Statistics Malaysia, 2010; c, d = Department of Provincial Administration in Thailand, 2018. Note: The percentages may not add up to a 100, as they are rounded off to the nearest integer.

However, this change means that results are not exactly comparable to those of 2010. To determine the impact of the change in methodology, sub-samples were created for Malaysia and Thailand that correspond to the 2010 sample. The sub-samples were composed of respondents from regions containing the provinces and states selected in 2010, as shown in table 2. This enabled comparison of survey results between the 2019 sub-samples and the 2019 overall national sample to determine if significant differences existed. See table 3 and figure 1 below.

Table 3 shows the profile of the national samples and sub-samples in Malaysia and Thailand. The rural and urban area profiles, gender profiles, and age profiles are fairly close, with only two percentage points difference in the Thailand urban–rural profile and one percentage point difference in the Thailand gender profile. In Malaysia the gender and age profiles are the same, and there is a four percentage point difference in the urban-rural profile.

# Table 3. Structure of the 2019 national samples and sub-samples in Malaysia and Thailand

Malaysia (national)		Malaysia (sub-sample)	Thailand (national)		Thailand (sub-sample)
Region	%	%	Region	%	%
Central	25	41	Bangkok	16	28
North	22	35	Central-East-West	18	16
East coast	14	24	North	18	31
South	18	-	Northeast	33	-
Territory/other	20	-	South	14	24
Total	100	100	Total	100	100
Sample size (n)	1008	619	Sample size (n)	1034	604
Urban	67%	63%	Urban	65%	67%
Rural	33%	37%	Rural	35%	33%
Male	50%	50%	Male	50%	49%
Female	50%	50%	Female	50%	51%
Age 18–29	35%	35%	Age 18–29	27%	27%
Age 30–44	35%	35%	Age 30–44	35%	35%
Age 45+	30%	30%	Age 45+	38%	38%
Note: The percentages ma	iy not add u	p to a 100, as they a	re rounded off to the neares	t integer.	

When comparing KAP<sup>7</sup> Index (see section 3.4 on KAP Index) results between the national samples and the sub-samples, no statistical differences were found (see figure 1), suggesting attitudes to migrant workers are less influenced by provincial/state locations and more likely to be determined by other factors, such as the level of interaction with migrant workers. However, the absence of significant differences does not mean they do not exist, rather, that there is no evidence that they do. Some caution should still prevail when comparing certain results, which is pointed out where appropriate throughout the report.



#### Figure 1. KAP Index, by country 2019 (national and sub-sample)

7 KAP stands for "knowledge, attitudes, and practices".

To have cross-country comparable results, one survey tool was designed for use in all four countries. However, questions on ethnicity were localized to each country. The survey was translated by the research team, and the translation was checked by a second set of translators for accuracy before scripting and uploading the survey to an online site. A test link was set up to test the online survey for errors. Interim data were also examined as a validity check before fully launching the survey.

Following completion of data collection, it became evident that the age distribution of respondents was not in line with the national population (table 4). This was particularly the case in Thailand, and thus to correct for this, the panel provider was asked to carry out an additional 31 interviews with older respondents in Thailand, now reflected in the total sample. Nonetheless, the data for each country was weighted to bring it in line with the national population. Because the survey target was the general population aged 18-65 years, population data for the age weighting exercise was based on that sub-population (i.e., did not include under 18s or over 65s). A multiple-variable weighting scheme was applied, based on the size of each region, with an equal distribution between men and women and among age groups (see table 3). To avoid having too many cells in which to calculate individual weights, which would have resulted in oversized weights that could have biased the data, age categories were limited to three and region categories were limited to five, with smaller regions and territories combined. The categories were structured to have as even of a sample distribution across them as possible, allowing for greater statistical power when conducting sub-segment analysis. For Singapore - a relatively small, urban island - weights were calculated based on ethnicity (ethnic Chinese, Malay, Indian, and other) instead of region. The population distributions by region for Japan, Malaysia, and Thailand – and by ethnicity for Singapore – were obtained from available national statistical data (see table 4).



Japan weight variables	Study sample (%)	Weighted sample to reflect national data (%)	Malaysia weight variables	Study sample (%)	Weighted sample to reflect national data (%)	Singapore weight variables	Study sample (%)	Weighted sample to reflect national data (%)	Thailand weight variables	Study sample (%)	Weighted sample to reflect national data (%)
Sex			Sex			Sex			Sex		
Men	50	50	Men	50	50	Men	50	50	Men	49	50
Women	50	50	Women	50	50	Women	50	50	Women	51	50
Age			Age⁰			Age <sup>f</sup>			Age <sup>h</sup>		
18-29	17	21	18-29	36	35	18-29	27	24	18-29	43	27
30-44	40	35	30-44	49	35	30-44	42	32	30-44	39	36
45-64	44	44	45-64	15	30	45-64	31	44	45-64	17	38
Region <sup>a</sup>			Region <sup>d</sup>			Ethnicity⁰			Region <sup>i</sup>		
Hokkaido & Tohoku	10	13	Central	32	25	Chinese	83	76	Greater Bangkok	40	16
Kanto	39	37	North	17	21	Malays	Ø	15	Central, East & West	18	18
Chubu	13	21	East coast	<b>6</b>	14	Indian & other	<b>6</b>	6	North	12	18
Kansai	21	18	South	16	18				North-East	16	33
Chugoku & otherb	17	11	Territory & othere	27	20				South	13	14

Table 4. Data weighting scheme

Notes: b = Skikoku, Kyushu, and Okinawa; e = Sabah, Sarawak, and the Federal Territory of Labuan.

Source: a= National Institute of Population and Social Security Research in Japan, 2015; c, d = Department of Statistics Malaysia, 2010; f, g = Department of Statistics Singapore, 2014; h, i=Department of Provincial Administration in Thailand, 2017.

Note: The percentages may not add up to a 100, as they are rounded off to the nearest integer.

#### 2.2.3 Stakeholder interviews

Interviews with tripartite and civil society organization (CSO) stakeholders in each country were conducted over the phone, except for some in-person interviews in Thailand. A total of 24 key informants were interviewed among government, employers' bodies and individual employers, workers' organizations, CSOs, and journalists.<sup>8</sup> Data collection via phone was chosen for the sake of practicality, and native-speaking moderators were used so that all interviews could be done in the language of the participants. Five interviews were conducted in Japan, six in Malaysia, six in Singapore, and seven in Thailand.

### 2.3 Gender-responsive approach

Gender was considered throughout the entire process of conducting the attitude survey, making sure issues specific to women migrant workers were included and that a gender-responsive approach was applied (see table 5).

#### Table 5. Gender-responsive approaches

Stage	Gender-responsive approach
Project team	<ul> <li>Included gender equality expertise in research and writing team members.</li> <li>Women and men represented in research team management.</li> </ul>
Desk review	• Attention was given to gender equality and women-specific issues.
Method	<ul> <li>Equal numbers of men and women research respondents were targeted.</li> </ul>
Questionnaire development	<ul> <li>Ability to have gender-disaggregated data.</li> <li>Included topics particular to women migrant workers' situations and concerns.</li> </ul>
Data collection	<ul> <li>Gender-equal representation and participation were ensured.</li> </ul>
Analysis and report	<ul> <li>Results were disaggregated by gender of survey respondent, with gender differential implications highlighted and analysed where applicable.</li> </ul>

<sup>8</sup> The questionnaire is available upon request to the ILO.
### 2.4 The KAP Score model and shifting attitudes<sup>9</sup>

Producing quantitative data to show positive outcomes is quite straightforward for so-called "hard" projects, such as civil infrastructure construction works, which typically have tangible outputs (Youker, 2003). However, projects that promote and enforce migrant workers' rights usually produce much less tangible, observable, and measurable outcomes. Thus, where direct measures are not feasible, there is a need for meaningful proxy indicators that are representative of change having occurred (Lindgren and Kelley, 2019).

There is no one particular behaviour that people need to adopt that indicates clear positive support for migrant workers. Instead, a number of issues must be considered, many of which relate to being more open-minded and inclusive, with positive support for migrant workers shown across a range of indicators related to knowledge, attitudes and behaviours. "Behavioural compliance", or "behavioural shifts"<sup>10</sup>, as distinct from observable "behaviour change", is about reducing demand or avoiding certain risks, which may be unobservable and impossible to directly attribute to an intervention. In such cases, there is no direct link to outcomes, and verification via observation becomes near impossible (Lindgren and Kelley, 2019).

The KAP Score model was inspired by the principles of stage theory and, in particular, the trans-theoretical model, which describes how an individual approaches behaviour change through a series of discrete stages (DiClemente, 2007). Based on answers to questions about knowledge levels, attitudes, and practices or behaviours towards migrant workers, the KAP Score model approximates five stages of change, moving people from a position where they:

- 1. start learning about the issue;
- 2. start having concerns;
- 3. change their attitude;
- 4. develop an intention to positively shift behaviour; and, finally,
- 5. display consistent positive behaviour (figure 2).

One objective of the study is that findings can inform interventions by the UN, government, workers' organizations, employers' organizations, and civil society. The model prescribes that efforts to change attitudes or build support towards migrant workers be directed towards people who are considered to be at risk of discriminating against them, i.e., those who are typically found at the lower stages of change. Thus, work can target those without knowledge first; followed by work to change attitudes; and finally, reinforcement of positive behaviour. As people move through the stages of change, the risk of them displaying negative behaviour towards migrant workers is gradually reduced.

<sup>9</sup> The KAP Score model developed by Rapid Asia Co., Ltd. is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International License. There are no restrictions in terms of copying, distributing, displaying or performing the work.

<sup>10</sup> This publication will use the terms 'behavioural compliance' or 'behavioural shifts' as traditional behavioural change models focus on very specific behaviours that can be observed or verified.

#### Figure 2. Five stages of change in the KAP Score model

1. Knowledge formation	2. Belief	3. Attitude	> 4. Intention	5. Compliance
Learning about the issue but not sure if it is critical or relevant to them	Have some concerns about the issue but not sure what they can do	Intend to comply if they think it is necessary	Will make an effort to comply as long as it is practical and possible	Will definitely comply because it is important to them
High		Level of risk		Low

A single intervention can seldom move a person through all the stages but can potentially bring them to a point at which they have formed an intention to comply, provided there are no physical or environmental barriers to prevent them from doing so. In the case of attitudes towards migrant workers, social norms represent a potential barrier that can prevent people from openly showing support for migrant workers.

Since the ILO 2010 public attitudes survey, the Rapid Asia research team has made modifications and improvements to the KAP Score model. The number of questions used, question formulation, and scales have become more standardized to ensure more uniformity between different KAP studies conducted by Rapid Asia for various UN agencies and other stakeholders. Thus, the KAP Score data for the 2010 survey was re-analysed to bring it up to date with the current model. In 2010, seven knowledge and eight attitude questions were used (ILO, 2011), and these were reduced to five each, along with the current standard, for the re-analysis and longitudinal comparison. The KAP Index scale was also adjusted to be comparative to the current range, which resulted in the KAP Index being reduced by 10 points. The KAP Segmentation used in 2010 was represented by three segments, and it was recalculated to the five stages of change used today. For more detail about the KAP Score model, see section 3.4.



### 2.5 Ethics considerations

The research firm, Rapid Asia, is a member of the European Society for Opinion and Market Research (ESOMAR) and is thus obliged to follow well-established, international best practice for professional conduct for data collection and data management. The guidelines, norms, standards, and code of conduct under ESOMAR cover:

- 1. Ensuring that those involved with collecting data are independent and act with integrity and honesty when interacting with all target groups and stakeholders.
- 2. Ensuring that all participants in the survey understand the purpose, objectives, and the intended use of survey findings.
- 3. Being sensitive to social and cultural norms and gender roles during interactions with participants and their families.
- 4. Respecting the rights and welfare of participants by ensuring informed consent and rights to anonymity and confidentiality before the interview, that consent is freely volunteered, and that participants can withdraw at any time without any negative consequence.
- 5. Limiting storage of any personal data to a maximum of six months, keeping such information secured to avoid access by any third party.

Survey respondents had already voluntarily signed up to be a member of the access panel before this research started. Key informant interviews began with a process of informed consent, covering interview topics and the purpose of the study, as well as interviewees' right to decline to answer any questions or end the interview at any time. Assurances of confidentiality were given, and respondents were given the chance to ask any questions about the interview. Interviews were tape recorded, and subsequently deleted following writing of the study.

### 2.6 Limitations

Attitudes to migration can vary significantly by different segments of the population. Therefore, caution should be exercised in claims of homogenous "public attitudes".

Because an online access panel was used, the sample selected cannot be regarded as a probability sample. Panel members have an inherent skew towards urban residents and those with Internet connections. For this reason, the resulting sample included on average those with more education and social media connections than the public at large. To mitigate the effect of this, a 30 per cent quota for rural areas and small towns was imposed in all countries except Singapore. This, however, did not fully compensate for the actual urban-rural split in Thailand. The challenge of rural representation was compounded by panel members being less active on the Internet in rural areas (and thus less participative and harder to engage in panel surveys).

For the 2019 survey, Japan was included as a target country instead of the Republic of Korea. Thus, no previous results exist for Japan, and there was no meaningful way to understand how attitudes towards migrant workers may have changed since 2010. To have clarity and continuity between the two surveys, only Malaysia, Singapore, and Thailand were included when looking at findings related to the KAP Index results and how they had changed since 2010. Results for Japan, however, are included in all other sections of this report.

It is important to note that the method used is not a panel survey, which would measure the same participants over time, for complete comparability. Relatedly, as noted in section 2.2.2, in the 2010 survey, a face-to-face survey methodology was applied for Malaysia and Thailand. In 2019, the samples taken were national, as opposed to selected in only four states in Malaysia and three provinces in Thailand. To have confidence in a reasonable comparison, sub-samples were created for Malaysia and Thailand that corresponded to the 2010 sample, made up from regions containing the provinces and states selected in 2010.

Interviews with stakeholders were limited to a total of 24, represented by government, employers' bodies and individual employers, workers' organizations, CSOs, and journalists. The findings from these interviews cannot be regarded as representative of the various stakeholder groups but were included to complement and add qualitative, contextual analysis to the quantitative data. However, to ensure their views were presented with a reasonable level of balance, the findings presented in this report are those that were mentioned by multiple stakeholders. Quoted comments included are representative of multiple respondents who stated similar views.

As in 2010, the survey introduction did not define the term "migrant workers" for the respondents, in terms of income or skill level of the migrant workers. Hence, survey respondents may have understood the term to refer to low- or high-income workers with low or high levels of skill. Skill level was defined however in the questionnaire section on attitudes, with a question on need for "low-skill" migrant workers. In key informant interviews, almost all stakeholders associated migrant workers with those doing low-skill jobs.

While the survey allows for understanding attitudes and mapping change at national levels, it does not allow for identification for how or why attitudes have changed, i.e., causality. It is not able to capture whether specific events have directly led to change. At any time during the nineyear interval between studies, news reporting about migrant workers, political factors and discourse, or economic labour market shifts could have caused shifts in public support. There is a higher chance of identifying these with yearly or even shorter intervals of measurement.

Finally, the study is only a survey in countries of destination. However, attitudes in countries of origin can also be problematic for migrant workers. There is some evidence that policy-makers and the public in ASEAN countries of origin view migration as unsafe or a brain drain on the country and want to deter migration as a solution (ILO and UN Women, 2017). This attitudinal position provides no incentive to policy-makers to invest in making migration any safer.<sup>11</sup> Further studies could be conducted in countries of origin to fill gaps in knowledge on public attitudes throughout the entire migration cycle, i.e., attitudes affecting migrant workers before migration and upon return.

<sup>11</sup> Participant intervention, Changing Attitudes and Behaviour Towards Women Migrant Workers in ASEAN Technical Regional Meeting, Safe and Fair Programme, 26–27 November 2018, Bangkok.

# 3. Findings

To understand the level of public support that exists towards migrant workers, individual knowledge, attitudes, and practices need to be considered. Together, they help to explain the extent to which the contributions of migrant workers are recognized and appreciated. The findings in section 3.1 explore public support and attitudes related to several themes: Labour market shortages; migration and crime; social and cultural threats; equal treatment with nationals; violence against women migrant workers; domestic work; and the entertainment sector. Section 3.2 looks at social norms in the four countries and how these norms affect behaviour. Interaction with migrant workers and level of interaction with them is then explored in section 3.3. In section 3.4, the KAP Score model is used to contextualize what drove support of migrant workers (in this study) and how support of them has changed over time. Finally, section 3.5 looks at respondents' media use.

### 3.1 Public support for migrant workers

#### 3.1.1 Labour market shortages: Need for migrant workers

Migrants fill labour shortages in key sectors – such as manufacturing, domestic and care work, services, and agriculture. In Japan, 85 per cent of employers say they have difficulty filling vacancies. In Singapore, 47 per cent do (APEC, 2014). In Malaysia, World Bank modelling suggests that a 10 per cent net increase in so-called "low-skilled" migrant workers may increase Malaysia's GDP by up to 1.1 per cent. Further, for every 10 new immigrant workers, up to five new jobs may be created for Malaysians, two of them women (World Bank, 2015). As per the map below, dependency ratios (shares of the non-working population in relation to the working population) through the region are changing. Higher dependency ratios suggest there are gaps in the labour market generally (with fewer workers per population), and there may be gaps especially with regards to care, as care needs are high with increased children and/or elderly populations (see figure 3).

# Figure 3. Change in working-age people needed by 2030 to keep dependency ratio at 2016 level<sup>a</sup>



a. The designations employed and the presentation of material on this map do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the ILO, the Secretariat of the United Nations, or United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city, or area or its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries.

Source: The Economist, 2017, as cited in UNDP, 2018.

The public in the countries surveyed agree that there is a need for more workers (the question did not specify migrant workers) for so called "low skilled" work in their countries. Respondents were asked if the country has a need for more workers and were given the option to answer that the country did not need workers, needed "high skilled" workers, needed "low skilled" workers, or "not sure". Below 15 per cent in each country said that the country did not need any workers. And, more respondents in all countries said the country needed more "low skilled" workers than "high skilled" workers: 32 per cent in Japan saying there is a need for more "low skilled" workers (as opposed to 16 per cent in favour of "high skilled"), 44 per cent in Thailand for "low skilled" (vs. 21 per cent for "high skilled"), 53 per cent in Malaysia for "low skilled" (vs. 20 per cent for "high skilled"), and 59 per cent in Singapore for "low skilled" (vs. 14 per cent for "high skilled") (Appendix 2).

When similarly asked if there is a need for low-skilled migrant workers, answers differed, with fewer Malaysians saying there is a need (38 per cent, versus 53 per cent when only speaking of workers generally). More Japanese and Singaporeans said there is a need for migrants specifically (51 per cent v. 32 per cent of Japanese, and 70 per cent v. 59 per cent of Singaporeans). Thais gave a consistent answer (42 per cent saying there is a need for migrant workers and 44 per cent for workers in general) (Appendix 2). We can see then that the Japanese, Singaporean, and Thai public recognize that migrant workers are needed to fill the labour shortages they see in the country. In Malaysia on the other hand, while half the public see there is a shortage, less than half think it should be filled by migrant workers.

Several stakeholders interviewed acknowledged that their country has a labour shortage and the economy depends on migrant workers. They mentioned the high need for migrant workers in particular sectors, such as construction, fishing, agriculture, and domestic work. Destination countries often view migrant workers in terms of their capacity to fill jobs that would otherwise not be taken up by local workers, who have moved into employment that offer higher pay and better conditions. Indeed, Malaysia and Thailand have measures to restrict migration to general labourer categories in specified occupations, and require proof otherwise from hiring employers that they tried but could not find nationals to fill jobs. Research in Thailand suggests public attitudes directly impact government policy towards restrictions, setting quotas for admission by sector based upon employer requests under memorandum of understanding (MOU) agreements with countries of origin (Harkins and Ali, 2017). While protection of jobs for nationals in occupations where there are less shortages, or in sensitive and strategic occupations, is common everywhere in the world, in Malaysia and Thailand middle-skilled jobs, where there are shortages, are not open for migrant workers under MOUs.

### [Migrant workers do] low-skill jobs that locals don't want to do." (Journalist, Singapore)

# Unskilled migrant workers fill a very important gap, as it is very difficult to find unskilled locals." (Employer, Singapore)

Japan's immigration policy, on the other hand, has historically allowed skilled migrant workers but restricted the employment of "low skilled" migrant workers, allowing entry primarily only through the Technical Intern Training Programme. In December 2018 a new immigration law was passed, opening a visa scheme to allow entry to manual workers, who can stay for five years with visa renewal options, but whose families are not allowed to join them. They must pass a series of skill tests as well as a language test before entry. Specific work sectors, including food services, cleaning, construction, agriculture, fishing, vehicle repair, and industrial machinery operation, are included.

### The current Japanese migration policy does not allow any unskilled workers to work in Japan, even though there is a shortage for unskilled workers." (Academic, Japan)

Care economies<sup>12</sup> in Asia are significant and growing as populations age. In South-East Asia alone the population of older people is expected to more than double by 2050, from 64 million in 2019 to 168 million (UN DESA, Population Division, 2019). In Japan as of 2017, the old-age dependency ratio was the highest out of all Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) countries, with a ratio of 50 persons over 65 years old for every 100 persons aged 20 to 64 (OECD, 2018). Many households in destination countries employ a migrant domestic worker who may cook, clean, tend gardens, and/or care for children, the elderly or disabled persons. A forthcoming ILO study forecasts care needs, and estimates that in Thailand by 2034, twice the number of migrant domestic workers will be needed (ILO, forthcoming a). Thailand's economic development will create care work, but without adequate planning for labour and skills needed, the country may face a care crisis, pulling national workers out of the work force, reducing the national paid labour force.

Employing someone to conduct household work allows women nationals to enter paid work, with migrants thus making a major contribution to society and the economy. This is not always valued, however, with some persons interviewed in Malaysia believing migrant domestic workers are a "drain" on the economy. Malaysian employers and a journalist highlighted that because migrant domestic workers remit their salary to their families in the country of origin, they do not contribute to the economic development of host countries. Their indirect contribution, allowing national women to work, may be a connection that few people make when comparing with, for example, construction workers, whose work is perceived as contributing to the economy through the infrastructure projects they help build. One interviewed stakeholder (per the quote below) noted that migrant domestic workers should not have the same benefits as national workers because then nationals would be hired instead and migrants would be out of a job. This suggests the respondent feels they are doing domestic workers a favour by keeping their wages depressed so that employers can afford to hire them. Yet, nationals do not want to do care work and indeed have a high demand for hiring care workers, with gaps in the care economy well documented (ILO, forthcoming a).

Domestic workers should not get the same benefits [as national workers] because if we give them minimum wage like normal workers, the employers will not hire them and hire [national] workers from a cleaning service company instead. This would have negative effect on the migrant workers." (Government official<sup>13</sup>)

<sup>12</sup> Care economies cover all forms of care work, which is broadly defined as consisting of activities and relations involved in meeting the physical, psychological, and emotional needs of adults and children, old and young, frail and able-bodied (Daly, 2001), and also includes the activities involved in social reproduction.

<sup>13</sup> Country anonymized.

The survey also asked about whether migrant workers more generally (not only domestic workers) were viewed as a "drain on the economy". A minority in all countries expressed this sentiment, with 30 per cent in Singapore, 32 per cent in Japan, 40 per cent in Thailand, and 47 per cent in Malaysia saying that migrant workers are a "drain on the economy" (figure 25). When asked this question from a different angle, asking if migrant workers had a net negative, neutral, or positive effect on the economy, answers in countries were fairly consistent in terms of respondents who answered that migrants have a net negative effect (see figure 4). Though in Singapore this less emotive framing (i.e., not using the word "drain") resulted on only 17 per cent of the public thinking that migrant workers had a net negative economic effect, versus 30 per cent when the word "drain" was used in the question. Nonetheless, per figure 4, respondents (except in Singapore) were not willing to go as far as say that they think migrant workers have a net positive effect on the economy.



#### Figure 4. What effect do migrant workers have on the national economy?

Note: The percentages may not add up to a 100, as they are rounded off to the nearest integer.

### Figure 5. In the past 12 months, did respondents speak to friends or colleagues about some positive contribution migrant workers make to their country?



Note: The percentages may not add up to a 100, as they are rounded off to the nearest integer.

When asked if respondents have spoken (in the last 12 months) or would speak to friends or colleagues about some positive contribution migrant workers make, a slim majority of respondents in all countries but Japan answered positively (see figure 5). In Thailand, 57 per cent of people have spoken or would speak about positive contributions of migrant workers; in Singapore 56 per cent; in Malaysia 55 per cent; and in Japan 23 per cent. The low rate of migrants in Japan (1.8 per cent, as per UN DESA, Population Division, 2017) may mean that there have not yet been opportunities for nationals to see and understand what migrants' positive contributions are.

While generally majorities of the public (albeit slim majorities in some places) will speak about the positive contribution of migrants and do not view migrants as having a negative effect on the economy, a majority of the public in Malaysia (69 per cent) think their country should make it more difficult for migrant workers to enter and work. Higher barriers to entry, however, would result in fewer migrant workers able to contribute to these economies and fill known labour market shortages.

#### 3.1.2 Migration and crime: Unfounded fears

The 2010 study found that in Thailand nearly 80 per cent of local respondents believed that migrants commit a "high number of crimes", and in Malaysia this figure was over 80 per cent. These levels have dropped to 72 per cent of Thais responding similarly in 2019 and 59 per cent of Malaysians (figure 25). This is a positive trend regarding a very negative attitude towards migrants. However, in 2019 a second question was added asking about increases in crime rates due to migration. Seventy-seven per cent of Thai respondents said that migrants have caused the crime rate to go up, as did 83 per cent of Malaysians. The figures are 52 per cent in Japan and 52 per cent in Singapore (Appendix 2).

The relationship between labour migration and crime, however, is an issue not well understood by people in general. There is little evidence to back up the claim that migrant workers are more likely to commit crimes than the rest of the population, unless lack of documentation is considered a crime. There are very few studies on this issue, and most are in Europe or



North America, showing that there are slightly higher percentages of crime among migrants generally, but not among migrant workers (Özden, Testaverde, and Wagner, 2015, as cited in World Bank, 2015).

In fact, recent evidence of the causal impact of migration on crime finds that migrant workers in Malaysia reduce both property and violent crime. An increase of 100,000 migrant workers in Malaysia reduces crimes committed by 9.9 percent (World Bank, 2018). Police statistics in Singapore show that the arrest rate for work permit holders was reportedly 227 per 100,000 people, compared to 435 per 100,000 for Singapore residents (Othman, 2008). In Thailand's Tak province, an analysis of the incidence of different crimes showed that migrants were less likely to commit crimes than nationals (study by Sirikarnjana as cited in Paitoonpong, 2012).

Regarding migrant workers and crime, interview respondents in this and other recent studies have had mixed opinions. Some believe that migrant workers do commit more crimes and associate areas inhabited by foreigners as having more crime.

**Roppongi is an area that has a lot of migrants, so it tends to have a lot of crimes.**" (Employer, Japan)

The person who does domestic work earns a lower income and there is a possibility they could be associated with crime. It is possible that the person can bring someone in to rob us. I am worried." (Employer, Thailand)<sup>14</sup>

Others argued that the connection between migrant workers and crime is fictional, not based on facts.

- I haven't seen any evidence of the crime rate going up because of migrant workers. It's more of an imagination of people. In fact, if you speak to migrant workers, they're actually the victims of crime, like the exploitation from the authorities." (Journalist, Malaysia)
- There's no proof to say that foreigners commit crimes. Mostly, they come here to work and not to get punished. As [migrants] are lower skilled, local people have bias towards them, so they think that migrant workers committed crimes." (NGO staff, Singapore)

#### 3.1.3 Social inclusion vs. social and cultural threats

The term social inclusion has often referred to the inclusion of all persons into various facets of society, including work and community life. The opposite, social exclusion, is created via "closed spaces for certain groups that are remote and cut off from the community, with special rules, and always with a lower status" (ILO, 2003). The ILO has understood social exclusion as

<sup>14</sup> Quote from ILO and UN Women, 2016.

a process "which gradually distances and places persons, groups, communities and territories in a position of inferiority in relation to centres of power, resources and prevailing values" (ILO, 2003).

Thus, attitudes that perceive migrant workers as criminals, as per above, or otherwise label migrant workers negatively, place them in social positions of inferiority. Laws that create special rules for migrant workers enshrine social exclusion, as well as discrimination, systemically. Thus, public support for such laws, as seen in the next section, is a cause for concern.

This study found respondents tend to perceive that migrant workers threaten their country's culture and heritage (Malaysia, 68 per cent; Thailand, 58 per cent; Singapore, 53 per cent), though in Japan the figure is somewhat lower at 41 per cent. Many say migrant workers have poor work ethics and say they cannot trust them (Malaysia, 44 per cent; Japan, 34 per cent; Singapore, 32 per cent). In Thailand this figure is notably high at 60 per cent, suggesting trust building in Thailand should particularly be a target of any interventions (see figure 6). This has been the case in Thailand for some time, with the majority of respondents to a 2006 poll, commissioned by the ILO and the United Nations Development Fund for Women (UNIFEM), agreeing that the Government should not admit more Myanmar migrant workers due to the threat they pose to Thai society (Sunpuwan and Niyomsilpa, 2014).



#### Figure 6. Perceptions of migrant workers as social and cultural threats

Note: Figures include those who agree and strongly agree.

A survey question also asked about migrant workers adapting to living in the country. Across all four countries, there was uniform agreement that migrant workers with regular status can adapt better than those without. People with irregular status were seen to be less able to adapt. This matches the reality that migrant workers with irregular status fear going out in public, as arrest, detention, and deportation are possible outcomes should they be too visible or encounter authorities. Efforts to ensure that labour migration governance mechanisms are accessible, affordable, and not time consuming are important to ensure that migrant workers can access documentation before entry, and not be pushed to consider irregular options that are faster and cheaper (ILO, 2017a) Social theorists define "active" social exclusion as deliberate decision making to exclude someone from a social good (Sen, 2000). The Mekong Migration Network notes in a study on migrants' social exclusion in Japan and Thailand that in relation to migrant workers this includes exclusion from public welfare schemes such as social security, health care, and education, as well as denying settled migrants the right to family reunification (MMN 2016). The public were surveyed on whether migrant women should be allowed to marry citizens or bring children with them when they are migrating, as well as attitudes on offering migrants a path to citizenship (see figure 7), neither of which are allowed for low-skilled migrant workers in Japan,<sup>15</sup> Malaysia, or Singapore. Thailand does not restrict marriages and though children are not part of documented MOU immigration processes, in law they are given access to the Thai education system regardless of status. This is consistent with past surveys.



#### Figure 7. Support for issues related to social inclusion

The survey also measured public behaviours to enable inclusion, with positive results where the majorities in all countries except Japan said they had or would help a migrant integrate into their community or get ahead in their work (Thailand, 74 per cent; Singapore, 62 per cent; Malaysia, 57 per cent; and Japan, 39 per cent), and that they had spoken or would speak out against someone who was saying offensive things about migrants (Malaysia, 70 per cent; Thailand, 58 per cent; Singapore, 54 per cent; and Japan, 26 per cent) (figure 27).

#### 3.1.4 Equal treatment

Equality of treatment is enshrined in countless international human rights instruments and labour standards. The ILO Equality of Treatment (Accident Compensation) Convention, 1925 (No. 19) and the ILO Discrimination (Employment and Occupation) Convention, 1958 (No. 111) are clear in guaranteeing migrant workers labour rights and working conditions on par with nationals.

<sup>15</sup> Via the Technical Intern Training Program

These rights must be guaranteed in law because they are not the norm in terms of public attitudes. Migrant workers are often seen as temporary workers giving little incentive for employers or those implementing policy to ensure migrants receive their rights, particularly where a significant proportion of national citizens do not want that (Harima, 2018).

Indeed, the majority of the public in three countries surveyed were of the view that migrants cannot expect the same pay or benefits as nationals for the same job, as shown in figure 8. This view was particularly strong in Singapore (60 per cent) and Malaysia (58 per cent), followed by Thailand (52 per cent) and then Japan (35 per cent). Some of the more dominant negative attitudes among the four countries were that:

- migrant workers should not have any rights at work if in irregular status;
- they should not receive the same salary and benefits as national workers;
- if they are exploited they have themselves to blame; and
- if they are irregular they cannot expect rights at work (see figure 8).

These attitudes indicate that citizens across the four countries hold a fundamental view that migrant workers should be treated differently, and that discrimination is not a problem. When asked whether women migrant workers specifically should have equal wages with women nationals doing the same job, only majorities in Japan (60 per cent) and Thailand (60 per cent) supported this (see figure 9).

# Women migrant domestic workers should have the same pay as men [migrant workers] but not the same pay as Singaporeans." (Journalist, Singapore)



#### Figure 8. Public attitudes on equal treatment with nationals

Note: Percentages given are an aggregate of 'Agree to some extent' and 'Agree completely'

# Figure 9. Support for equal wages for national and migrant women who are doing the same job



Note: The percentages may not add up to a 100, as they are rounded off to the nearest integer.

#### 3.1.4.1 Maternity leave and pregnancy-based discrimination

All four countries of destination in the study have ratified the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW). Article 11(2) of CEDAW requires States "to introduce maternity leave with pay or comparable social benefits" and "dismissal on the grounds of pregnancy or of maternity leave" is prohibited. Nonetheless maternity leave for women migrant workers is not a norm in the region, and dismissing women migrant workers (and indeed women nationals) from work upon pregnancy is not uncommon (Rannveig Mendoza, 2018; ILO, 2016a; ILO and UN Women, 2017). Indeed, Singapore has applied the following reservation to CEDAW Article 11: "Singapore considers that legislation in respect of article 11 is unnecessary for the minority of women who do not fall within the ambit of Singapore's employment legislation."

The majority of the public in all four countries do support offering maternity leave to migrant women, however. This is a significantly positive show of support for women migrant workers in Asia. Yet, on the other hand, survey respondents do not support women migrants being allowed to work while pregnant (see figure 10), a contradiction in sentiment. If women are not allowed to become pregnant and keep their jobs through to births, then they would not be able to access employer- and/or government-paid maternity leave schemes that the public support.



#### Figure 10. Support for maternity leave and pregnant migrant workers

In Malaysia, 62 per cent of respondents said that women migrant workers should have maternity leave. In Singapore this figure is 51 per cent. Yet, in Malaysia and Singapore, women migrant workers are subjected to not only contract termination but also deportation if they become pregnant (Elias, 2018). In Japan and Thailand, women migrant workers are protected by law from pregnancy discrimination.

Malaysia and Singapore have also imposed legal restrictions, subjecting women migrant workers to pregnancy discrimination and sanctions during all the phases of their migration: recruitment, employment, and termination. Women are required to perform a pregnancy test prior to departure from their home country and to repeat it on an annual basis. Should the test be positive, the woman will be deported at her own expense (Rannveig Mendoza, 2018). Some stakeholders tended to agree with these policies.

- I do not support that women should be allowed to work while pregnant. The law does not allow them to get pregnant; if they get pregnant, they will be deported." (Journalist, Singapore)
- Women workers should not be entitled to maternity leave because they should not get pregnant while working." (NGO staff, Malaysia)

Women migrant workers are also subject to pregnancy tests in Thailand. But the results of the tests are not to be used to restrict their employment or to deport them. According to officials, the test is performed for medical reasons related to administration of a medicine that protects women from disease (Rannveig Mendoza, 2018). The Thai Government offers prenatal and postnatal care to pregnant workers from Cambodia, the Lao Peoples' Democratic Republic, and Myanmar, provided employers have enrolled them in Social Security. Once born, their children are also eligible to remain in Thailand and by law can access medical care and attend local schools.



#### 3.1.5 Violence against women migrant workers

The June 2019 International Labour Conference adopted the Violence and Harassment Convention, 2019 (No. 190) and the associated Violence and Harassment Recommendation, 2019 (No. 206), which concern themselves with the elimination of violence and harassment in the world of work and which recognize the right of everyone to a world of work free from violence and harassment. The Recommendation requires member States to take legislative or other measures to protect all migrant workers, in particular women migrant workers, regardless of migration status, from violence and harassment in the world of work. The 1993 Declaration on the Elimination of Violence Against Women (DEVAW) defines violence against women as "any act of gender-based violence that results in, or is likely to result in, physical, sexual or psychological harm or suffering to women and girls, including threats of such acts, coercion or arbitrary deprivation of liberty, whether occurring in public or in private life" (Article 1).

In ASEAN countries, documented studies find lifetime intimate partner violence ranges from 6 per cent in Singapore, to 44 per cent in Thailand (UN Women, 2018). Violence against women is grounded in unequal power relations between women and men that can be reinforced and perpetuated during the migration cycle. Women migrant workers are concentrated in low paid and informal sectors, with limited social protections, including limited access to services for violence against women. Without protections, women migrant workers can face higher incidences of economic exploitation and gender-based violence.

In this study, a policy area that encountered a high level of support across the four countries was access to shelters for women who have experienced violence (see table 7). Shelters provide support services, including access to medical care, skills development, and psychosocial support. CEDAW and DEVAW provide a comprehensive institutional framework for State obligations for shelter support in cases of violence. The Beijing Platform for Action echoes this, and the UN Special Rapporteur (UN SR) on violence against women, its causes and consequences recently outlined guidance via a 2017 report: A human rights-based approach to integrated services and protection measures on violence against women, with a focus on shelters and protection orders (UN SR, 2017).

Particularly when migrant women have experienced violence including trafficking, holistic, integrated, and quality services, as well as avenues for justice and redress must be in place when women want and need them. Shelter support should be ensured, and given priority over mandatory detention related to immigration enforcement. Further, shelter stays should be voluntarily accessed and available, and should not be compulsory, or a type of detention. The UN Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR) further notes in the "Principles and guidelines, supported by practical guidance, on the human rights protection of migrants in vulnerable situations":

Migrants should not be obliged to stay in closed shelter facilities, whether these are operated by government or private actors. Residential facilities for migrants should not restrict migrants' dayto-day movements unnecessarily. It is not permissible to restrict the movement of women, children, LGBTI<sup>16</sup> migrants, persons with disabilities, or other groups of migrants on the grounds that they might face sexual, gender-based or other violence or harm inside or outside a facility. Take steps to avoid and prevent migrants – especially women, children, LGBTI migrants and persons with disabilities – from being de facto restricted in their movements due to fear of sexual, gender-based or other violence or harm, inside or outside the facility (OHCHR, 2018, p. 50).

Stakeholders interviewed in Singapore agreed that women migrant workers who have experienced violence should have access to shelters and mentioned that there are shelters for survivors of abuse and exploitation operated by NGOs. Yet, they also pointed out that the general public does not fully appreciate that abuse and violence are not limited to the physical. Emotional abuse and threats of violence can be just as harmful. As the quotes below show, however, support for shelters is not unqualified, and domestic workers who might be at fault, or indeed who are not nationals, may be seen as undeserving of shelter.

- Nobody would give shelter to migrant workers running away from abusive employers. People think the employers are the ones responsible for the conditions of their workers, and the migrant worker shouldn't run away. It's more likely they will get help from the embassy." (NGO staff, Malaysia)
- Some people might be less supportive because they think that even Thai people still do not have access to the shelter when they get abused, [so] why will the migrant workers get that benefit first? Access to shelters must be improved and provided first to Thai [people]." (Journalist, Thailand)

Countries	They quietly accept it (%)	They seek help from the police, gov't, or their embassy (%)	They seek help from NGOs or fellow migrant workers (%)	They often don't report it because they are afraid (%)	Not sure (%)
Thailand	14	15	20	35	16
Malaysia	11	14	19	47	9
Singapore	18	17	18	40	7
Japan	6	21	22	26	25

#### Table 6. Knowledge about women migrant workers who experience violence

Note: The percentages may not add up to a 100, as they are rounded off to the nearest integer.

<sup>16</sup> LGBTI refers to lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and intersex individuals.

Table 7. Support for migrant women having access to shelters if they experience violence and stronger law enforcement to reduce violence against migrant women

Country	Migrant women having access to shelters if they experience violence (%)	Stronger law enforcement to reduce violence against migrant women (%)	
Thailand	85	83	
Malaysia	81	82	
Singapore	79	77	
Japan	68	67	

One challenge facing migrants who experience violence is that they often do not report it. The survey found that most respondents in Malaysia, Singapore, and Thailand were aware of this problem. In Japan, however, more respondents believed migrant workers who experience violence would report the abuse (see table 6).

There is evidence to suggest negative attitudes towards women migrant workers create barriers to their access to essential services in cases of violence against women (ILO and UN Women, forthcoming). Women migrant workers may struggle to access services due to perceptions around their respectability or due to victim blaming. Pervasive negative attitudes can also further isolate migrant women, restricting their movement and preventing them from seeking support due to fear of reprisals. Attitudes held by the migrant women themselves may discourage them to seek help, where they may see violence as a normal part of labour migration or may be afraid of the stigma that may be attached to them if they report the violence (ILO and UN Women, 2019).

# It is hard for [migrant women] to live in the country when they cannot believe in the police or security forces." (Former migrant interpreter in a Malaysian electronics factory)<sup>17</sup>

#### 3.1.6 Domestic workers: Same treatment, better protections

The ILO Domestic Workers Convention, 2011 (No. 189) obliges States parties to provide domestic workers with conditions including:

- reasonable hours of work;
- weekly rest for at least 24 consecutive hours;
- a limit on payment in kind;
- clear information on the terms and conditions of employment; and
- respect for the fundamental principles and rights at work, including freedom of association and the right to collective bargaining.

<sup>17</sup> Quote from ILO and UN Women, 2019.

The accompanying Domestic Workers Recommendation, 2011 (No. 201) outlines additional rights protection measures, including social security.

Domestic work throughout Asia continues to be underpaid, with long hours of work. The sector is not afforded labour protections on par with workers in other sectors, and is often explicitly excluded from labour laws (ILO and UN Women, 2016). Exclusionary policies as well as employment practices can be correlated directly with attitudes held around domestic work and women's work. When asked whether migrant domestic workers enjoy the same benefits as other workers, roughly half or fewer of the respondents in all four countries were aware that migrant domestic workers do not have the same benefits as other workers (Singapore, 51 per cent; Japan, 31 per cent; Malaysia, 26 per cent; and Thailand, 17 per cent). The majority of respondents assumed they have the same work benefits or were not sure. Japan had a seemingly large proportion of respondents who said they don't know (at 55 per cent); while in Malaysia and Thailand, there was a fair amount of misconception, with more than one third of the respondents thinking work benefits are the same for all workers (Malaysia, 37 per cent; Thailand, 42 per cent) (figure 23).

While employment in other sectors is usually determined by a contractual relationship in which both parties are equal, domestic workers are often seen as "part of the family" (ILO and UN Women, 2016). This attitude towards domestic work as familial rather than employmentbased is also held by government officials, who have noted that since domestic workers are part of the family, labour authorities cannot inspect their employers and social security is inappropriate (ILO and UN Women, 2016). Further, domestic workers are often considered "charity cases", and their employment is alleviating poverty, rather than fulfilling a vital function within the home. This is linked to the practice of some employers engaging poorer relatives for domestic work. Employer attitudes around domestic workers also include the idea that domestic workers do not work a lot of the time, and that their work is easy. This can have implications in relation to the number of hours domestic workers are expected to work, limiting their rest time and overtime payment.

While this study shows (in the next subsection below) that employers do not treat migrant domestic workers well in practice, there is wider public support for migrant domestic workers to have better conditions, and for recognition of care work as a profession (see figure 11).



### Figure 11. Support for migrant domestic workers: Employers of domestic workers compared to non-employers

Support for providing the same labour rights to migrant domestic workers as other workers



Support for improved labour conditions for domestic migrant workers



#### Support for recognition of care work as a formal profession



Base: all respondents

#### 3.1.6.1 Employers' treatment of migrant domestic workers

More people today are hiring migrant domestic workers than ten years ago. The survey respondents were asked if they employed a migrant domestic worker, and increases were found in all three countries surveyed in the 2010 public attitudes study (figure 12). The increase in Thailand was 15 percentage points and was evident in both urban and rural areas. Increases in Singapore (7 per cent) and Malaysia (9 per cent) were also seen. Noticeably, a larger proportion of employers was found in urban areas than in rural ones (Malaysia, 23 per

cent urban and 11 per cent rural; Thailand, 18 per cent urban and 12 per cent rural).<sup>18</sup>





Quite a few of the surveyed respondents had employed migrant domestic workers (figure 13), either on a full-time or part-time basis: in total, 30 per cent in Singapore; followed by 22 per cent in Japan; 19 per cent in Malaysia; and 16 per cent in Thailand. The average of the salaries they paid varied quite substantially, both within countries and between them. Converting salaries into the US dollar equivalent, the average Singaporean employer reported paying nearly US\$500 per month, followed by Japan and Malaysia, at around \$400, and then Thailand, with slightly more than \$300 (figure 13). The salary paid for part-time work was generally lower, but was found to be higher in Japan due to part-time workers often working for a professional service provider.



#### Figure 13. Employment of migrant domestic workers and average salary paid

18 Singapore is a city-state and thus not disaggregated by rural or urban populations in this study.

Singapore does not have a minimum wage, and the minimum wages in Japan, Malaysia, and Thailand do not apply to migrant domestic workers. The Malaysian Government has agreements with some countries, such as the Philippines, regarding a minimum wage and other terms of employment (Lee Kuan Yew School of Public Policy, 2016; Caram Asia, 2010). Malaysian employers who were interviewed cited the current economic downturn as the reason they did not pay the domestic worker they employ the minimum wage determined by bilateral agreements or that is applicable to other sectors.

Considerable variation emerged among responses of employers of migrant domestic workers regarding work entitlements (figure 14). In Thailand, when presented with a list of eight entitlements they could provide the domestic worker they employ, employers said they provide an average of roughly four entitlements, while in Singapore it was nearly three, two and a half in Malaysia, and one in Japan. Some 43 per cent of Japanese employers of domestic workers said they did not provide any entitlements. With the exception of Japan, the most commonly provided entitlements were paid leave, sick leave, and one day off per week. Maternity leave, while uncommon, was most frequently cited by employers in Thailand.

	Japan (%)	🔮 Malaysia (%)	Singapore (%)	🛑 Thailand (%)
	Base: employ migrant domestic worker, n=233	Base: employ migrant domestic worker, n=190	Base: employ migrant domestic worker, n=297	Base: employ migrant domestic worker, n=166
Paid leave	41	36	51	66
One-day off	15	37	59	65
Sick leave	16	38	41	46
Maternity leave	12	22	13	46
Leave house	7	24	32	42
Overtime pay	14	36	24	38
Mobile phone	6	31	47	37
Keep passport	5	20	27	31
None	43	13	8	2
Average number of entitlements	1.2	2.4	2.9	3.7

#### Figure 14. Work entitlements provided to migrant domestic workers

The survey asked the same question about employers' practices in both the 2010 and 2019 public attitudes studies, asking whether the respondent would advise a friend to pay the cost of a domestic workers' work permit. The rate of persons who said they would increased significantly, from 21 to 70 per cent in Malaysia, from 61 to 73 per cent in Singapore, and from 24 to 71 per cent in Thailand. Among Japanese respondents in 2019, 40 per cent said they would advise to do so (figure 27).

# 3.1.7 The entertainment and sex industry: Attitudes towards improved conditions and laws

Entertainment work, a women-dominant sector, is highly impacted by public attitudes and stereotypes. The entertainment sector, and the sex industry within it, largely remains outside of labour protections globally, and is criminalized and highly stigmatized (Empower Foundation, 2016). The UN Thailand Migration Report in 2019 devoted a chapter to research on the sex industry, finding that:

Due to the criminalization of their work and the implementation of anti-trafficking interventions, migrant sex workers in Thailand face the regular threat of harassment and arrest, severely damaging their ability to earn a livelihood and support their families. Employment in the sex industry is not covered by Thailand's labour laws.

Because sex work is often conflated with trafficking for the purpose of sexual exploitation, police raids on workplaces to identify victims are a common occurrence. Migrant sex workers caught in such raids are typically either arrested and detained as criminals or taken to shelters as victims of trafficking, with their agency considered of little importance. In spite of this law enforcement approach, studies have found that the vast majority of people working in the Thai sex industry are employed there by choice, with the ability to earn a higher income a key motivating factor. Decriminalization and expanding recognition of sex work as a form of work is an essential first step to better protecting the labour rights of migrant workers employed within the sector (UN Working Group on Migration in Thailand, 2019).

It is important to note that while anti-trafficking interventions play a role in combatting human trafficking and protecting trafficking persons, not all migrant workers employed within the entertainment and sex industry are trafficked.

This survey asked the public about their support for increased realization of human and labour rights for workers in the sex industry. Support was highest in Japan and Thailand (52 per cent of the public), followed by Singapore (40 per cent), and Malaysia (22 per cent) (figure 26). The survey also asked specifically about public support for decriminalization of sex work, which is particularly relevant in Thailand where the Anti-Prostitution Law is currently undergoing review (as of October 2019). The UN Working Group on Migration in Thailand sees decriminalization of sex work is an essential first step, and in Thailand, 40 per cent of the public support decriminalization. Support for decriminalization was at 36 per cent in Singapore, 30 per cent in Japan, and 17 per cent in Malaysia. While the survey results among countries in this study are inconclusive, it is recommended in this report that labour protection mechanisms are developed to support increased realisation of human and labour rights in the entertainment sector and sex industry. In 2016, the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women

(CEDAW Committee) expressed concerns about the exploitation of sex workers in Thailand.<sup>19</sup> Their recommendation was to: "Review the Suppression and Prevention of Prostitution Act to decriminalize women in prostitution", which would allow sex workers and entertainment businesses to operate within the regulatory framework of Thailand's labour laws (CEDAW Committee, 2017, p. 7). By amending or repealing laws that directly and indirectly criminalize sex workers, labour protection mechanisms can be developed to eliminate recruitment and employment misconduct (UN Working Group on Migration in Thailand, 2019).

### 3.2 Influence of social norms

Social norms can be defined as the rules that describe what a certain group considers to be typical or desirable behaviour in a given situation (Tankard and Paluck, 2016, as cited in ILO, forthcoming b). Social norms work through the beliefs and perceptions of what is typical or desirable behaviour. They can signal membership in a group or identity and often affect how people interact with others, influencing behaviour through: imitation, the desire to comply with the majority or minority, identity, membership to a group, or social sanctions (ILO, forthcoming b).

Social norms are often found to shape attitudes towards marginalized groups, such as migrant workers, and have an impact on levels of inclusion or discrimination that citizens show them (Schlueter, Meuleman, and Davidov, 2013; Weldon, 2006). The implication of social norms, especially if they are strong, is that they may influence people to act against their conscience or what they believe to be right.

Psychological research has shown that changing knowledge and attitudes will not likely affect behaviours if social norms are not also shifted (Glasman and Albarracín, 2006; Webb and Sheeran, 2006). Therefore, perception that the behaviour is typical and normal tends to lead to a more lasting change in behaviour (ILO, forthcoming b).

In this study social norms were measured by presenting survey respondents with a scenario in which someone they knew made a negative comment about migrant workers that they felt was offensive. In such a scenario, social norms can potentially suppress reactions from people if they feel it would be socially unacceptable to speak out, even if they feel offended. Two questions were asked to determine whether speaking out against offensive comments was considered socially acceptable and whether it was regarded normal behaviour. Based on these two questions, respondents could be classified into three groups:

<sup>19 &</sup>quot;The Committee is concerned that a large number of women and girls are subjected to exploitation through prostitution in the State party and that women in prostitution are criminalized under the Suppression and Prevention of Prostitution Act of 1996, while those who exploit women in prostitution are rarely prosecuted. It also notes with concern that women working in the entertainment sector are presumed to be guilty of prostitution under the Act, arrested and subjected to humiliating treatment following violent police raids, and targeted in entrapment operations by police officers. The Committee is further concerned at reports of official complicity in the exploitation of women in prostitution, including large-scale extortion by corrupt police officers. It also notes that even women employed in legally operating enterprises in the entertainment sector do not benefit, in practice, from the protection of labour laws and social benefits available to other workers" (CEDAW Committee, 2017, p. 7).

- 1. those who felt it would be generally okay to speak out in most situations (lesser influence of social norms);
- 2. those who felt it would be okay to speak out in some situations but not others (some influence of social norms); and
- 3. those who felt it would not be okay to speak out (strong influence of social norms).

As shown in figure 15, respondents in Malaysia, Singapore, and Thailand were relatively more likely to speak out against prejudice towards migrant workers. In Japan, however, this was less likely to happen, and nearly half the respondents (48 per cent) would not speak out. Given this, it is important to formulate any campaigns or behaviour change initiatives keeping in mind the effects that social norms have. Interventions that seek to change or harness social norms can change the psychological and social determinants of behaviour and create more lasting changes. The ILO has created practical guidance and tools for social norm interventions, particularly in relation to domestic work, which practitioners can draw on for further support (see ILO, forthcoming b).

### Figure 15. Extent to which people are influenced by social norms: Would people speak out in situations of prejudice towards migrant workers?





### 3.3 Interaction with migrant workers

#### 3.3.1 Extent to which people encounter migrant workers

One of the most significant findings in the 2010 public attitudes survey was that interactions with migrant workers were crucial in shaping the level of support the public has for them. Consistent with this, Gallup's Migrant Acceptance Index has demonstrated that the public's acceptance rises with greater social interaction with migrants (Esipova, Publiese, and Ray, 2017). Further, citizens of countries with a high percentage of migrant workers are more likely to have a positive opinion about immigration and be more tolerant towards migrant workers, considering them as contributing to the local economy (Esipova et al., 2015). This 2019 study echoes these findings once again (see section 3.4).

- There is the need for greater interaction with migrant workers, and there should be a place where migrant workers can access and talk to locals when they have problems." (NGO staff, Malaysia)
- Communicating and interacting across different cultures is really important to build tolerance and acceptance of diversity." (Journalist, Japan)

According to Allport's 1954 contact theory, prejudices and stereotypes between majority and minority groups arise through the lack of direct interactions between them (Allport, 1954). Consequently, by communicating with others, people can recognize their diverse social characteristics, leading to a reduction in prejudice.

The survey findings revealed higher degrees of interaction with migrant workers in Malaysia and Singapore (figure 16). This is in line with the fact that these are multi-ethnic countries with a large proportion of migrant workers in their workforce.

Japan-based respondents reported the lowest level of encounters with migrant workers, with 53 per cent saying they had never encountered any migrant worker, and 32 per cent saying they had occasionally.



#### Figure 16. Frequency of interaction with migrant workers

Overall, most encounters took place in the general community, but the Malaysian and Singaporean public also had work-related relationships, consistent with also having more interaction with migrant workers on average. Interactions when travelling were commonly reported in Malaysia and Thailand, at more than 50 per cent of respondents. In Japan, only 24 per cent of respondents met migrant workers during travel.

Respondents who had encounters with migrant workers were asked to describe the type of relationship they had had with them. Figure 17 classifies the types of relationships into four segments:

- 1. those who encountered migrant workers but don't know them at all;
- 2. those who do know them but don't know them that well;
- 3. those with friends and colleagues who are migrant workers; and
- 4. those who employ migrant workers or supervise them in the workplace.

Relationships were stronger in Malaysia and Singapore, and were to a much lesser extent in Thailand and Japan. Some 51 per cent of Japanese respondents said they had encountered migrant workers but did not know them at all. That means, nearly four in five people in Japan do not know any migrant worker personally.



#### Figure 17. Type of relationship with migrant workers

Base: have encountered migrant workers

#### 3.3.2 Change in interaction with migrant workers since 2010

When surveyed respondents were asked if they interacted with migrant workers in their local community or at work, and whether this happened on a regular or occasional basis. Singapore, which had high levels of interaction in 2010, remained largely unchanged. In line with the trend of increasing levels of migration, interaction with migrant workers increased in Malaysia and Thailand (figure 18). The increase in Thailand was rather significant and was evident across regions as well as in both urban and rural areas. The region with the highest non-interaction with migrant workers was the North-East, at 16 per cent, and rural areas overall throughout Thailand had 16 per cent non-interaction, both considerably lower than the 43 per cent non-interaction recorded in 2010.



#### Figure 18. Frequency of interaction with migrant workers, by country, 2010 and 2019

As shown in figure 18, interaction with migrant workers was more pronounced in Malaysia and Thailand in 2019 than in 2010, but regular interactions declined slightly in Singapore. Many respondents in Singapore reported knowing migrant workers personally, and most were either friends or colleagues at work (48 per cent). In contrast, per figure 19, a much smaller proportion of respondents in Thailand reported knowing migrant workers personally and, in most cases, they were acquaintances (33 per cent). Again, the rather large shift in Thailand could partly be due to the change in methodology (see chapter 2), so the 2010 results should be considered with some level of caution. It is difficult to say why there was a slight decline in relationships in Singapore, but this decline may explain why general support for migrant workers also had a marginal decline since 2010. On the other hand, increasing interaction with migrant workers in Malaysia and Thailand has correspondingly not led to increasing levels of support for migrant workers (a higher KAP Index). See section 3.4.4 for additional analysis on this.



#### Figure 19. Type of relationship with migrant workers

Base: have encountered migrant workers

# 3.4 Measuring support for migrant workers and modelling possibilities for shifts in behaviour using the KAP Score model

#### 3.4.1 KAP Score model indicators

The KAP Score model uses several indicators to measure intervention outcomes and to make comparisons between different target groups and countries. The ones used for this study included the KAP Index and KAP Segmentation (figure 20). Dividing the journey towards compliance into stages of change also helps to better design interventions. If the target audience is trailing at the earlier stages, the focus should be on awareness and knowledge building. As the mindset of the targeted audience develops, influencing attitudes becomes more important. Finally, barriers should be removed and positive behaviours need to be reinforced.



#### Figure 20. KAP Score indicators

The indicators used can be summarized as follows:

• **KAP Index** is an indicator in which knowledge, attitudes, and behaviour measures have been aggregated at the individual level and indexed, expressed as a range from zero to 100.<sup>20</sup> The number represents the average position of beneficiaries along the stages of change, so that the higher the KAP Index, the more oriented the target group is towards robust public support for migrant workers. The KAP Index helps to make an

<sup>20</sup> To make the KAP Index more sensitive to incremental changes, the total index range is from 0 to 200. Based on past studies, 95 per cent of all results have fallen within the range of 60 to 160, and the scale was therefore adjusted (with tails cut off before 60 and beyond 160) to show a zero to 100 range for more common understanding. The theoretical index can therefore be negative or exceed 100.

initial assessment against which outcomes can be monitored and evaluated and to compare outcome results across different target groups.

• KAP Segmentation looks at the proportion of beneficiaries who can be found at each stage of change and is used to understand how a target group is distributed across the different stages, from having no knowledge to displaying full "compliance" or positive behaviour to migrant workers. Using approximation (based on their level of knowledge, attitude, and behaviour), the target group is allocated to the different stages of change based on reaching certain thresholds across the KAP components.<sup>21</sup> An underlying principle is that full "compliance"/shifts in behaviour need to be underpinned by supportive knowledge and attitudes.

The KAP Score indicators are derived from 15 questions on knowledge, attitudes, and practices related to migrant workers. Table 8 shows the questions developed and used for this study.<sup>22</sup>

КАР	Questions and statements
Knowledge	<ul> <li>Domestic workers do not have the same work benefits as other workers*</li> <li>There is a labour shortage for low-skilled workers doing routine manual work</li> <li>Migrant workers contribute positively to the national economy</li> <li>If the migration process is complex or expensive, more migrants will come irregularly</li> <li>The crime rate is not impacted negatively by migrant workers*</li> </ul>
Attitude	<ul> <li>Migrant workers should not receive the same pay and benefits as local workers</li> <li>Our country does not need low-skilled migrant workers from other countries*</li> <li>Migrant workers are a drain on the national economy</li> <li>We should make it more difficult for migrants to come and work in this country</li> <li>Migrants commit a high number of the crimes in this country</li> </ul>
<b>Practice</b> (compliance)	<ul> <li>Spoke out against someone saying offensive things about migrants*</li> <li>Helped a migrant integrate into their community or get ahead in their work</li> <li>Spoke to friends about some positive contribution migrant workers have made</li> <li>Encouraged someone who hires a domestic worker to pay for the work permit</li> <li>Report to the police or NGO when someone was found employing migrant child workers</li> </ul>

#### Table 8. KAP Score questions

Note: Attitudes are measured using a set of carefully constructed statements formulated in the third-person format, allowing respondents to answer more truthfully without attaching themselves to a particular attitude. They are also stated in the negative to force a more processed response. To be more relevant, four questions (\*) were modified in the 2019 survey.

<sup>21</sup> At the "knowledge formation" stage no threshold has been reached for any of the KAP elements. At the "belief" stage the threshold is reached for either attitude and practice but not knowledge. At the "attitude" stage the threshold must have been reached for two KAP elements. The same rule applies to the "intention" stage, but the threshold must have been reached for knowledge. At the "compliance" stage the threshold must have been reached for all KAP elements. The thresholds are based on set above average scores on each KAP element based on aggregated results from over 200 past samples. The thresholds are 80 per cent for knowledge, 48 per cent for attitude, and 66 per cent for practice.

<sup>22</sup> It should be noted that four of the 15 KAP Score questions were updated to better reflect the current attitudinal climate on migration. While these changes were necessary, the differences found between 2010 and 2019 cannot be asserted with absolute certainty and should be interpreted with some caution.

# 3.4.2 Change in overall support for migrant workers since 2010, per KAP Index

Because the Republic of Korea was included in 2010, but replaced with Japan in the current study, there is no longitudinal data for these countries. This section, therefore, covers comparison of results for Malaysia, Singapore, and Thailand from 2010 and 2019.

The KAP Score model can be used to provide a proxy measure for the level of support people have towards migrant workers. The composite KAP Index can be used to compare overall support levels between sub-groups and to track results over time. As previously noted, the KAP Index is derived from 15 questions on knowledge, attitudes, and practices in relation to migrant workers (see table 8 above).

Figure 21 reflects a modest decline in the KAP Index in all three countries; meaning, support for migrant workers declined to some degree between 2010 and 2019. Both Singapore and Thailand had a seven-point drop in the index, whereas Malaysia had a more marginal decrease of three points. Despite the drop, Singapore's score is highest among countries surveyed, an indication that support for migrant workers remains relatively stronger in Singapore than in Malaysia and Thailand.



#### Figure 21. KAP Index, by country 2010 and 2019

Base: all respondents

#### 3.4.3 Survey data by KAP Segmentation: Knowledge, attitudes, practice

While the KAP Index depicts the average mindset of a population in the form of a one-number indicator, the KAP Segmentation (figure 22) quantifies the distribution of people along the five stages of change, sometimes referred to as the "behavioural compliance journey" (Lindgren and Kelley, 2019). Respondents found along the earlier stages of change are identified as having a mindset that is less supportive of migrant workers and, hence, would hold more negative attitudes and be more likely to discriminate against them. Those positioned at the more advanced stages are clearly more supportive of migrant workers, supported by their knowledge about them, their attitudes towards them, and their behavioural intentions.

Most respondents in Malaysia and Thailand were found to be at the knowledge formation stage, the earliest stage, and this segment was also the largest in all three countries. Respondents with more supportive mindsets towards migrant workers can be found in Singapore, where one in six people (18 per cent) are estimated to be in the later stages of the journey. This group understands why migrant workers come to their country and how they contribute in positive ways. But overall, the results indicate that most people in all three countries have limited knowledge about migrant workers, hold mostly negative attitudes towards them and are unwilling to engage in behaviour that would support them.



#### Figure 22. KAP Segmentation, by country, 2019

#### Base: all respondents

There has been a downward shift from advanced/later stages to earlier stages since 2010. Knowledge levels in all three countries reduced, particularly in terms of the need for migrant workers and that migrant workers contribute positively to the economy. Hence, more people than before are now found in the "knowledge formation" stage. This highlights the need for more basic education and awareness-raising activities to inform people about the positive contributions made by migrant workers. In a situation like this, public awareness-raising activities as well as positive policy change can have significant impact.

The overall decrease of the KAP Index should be interpreted in relation to global trends. The share of people who migrate to other countries around the world has increased in recent years. The estimated number of migrant workers in the world jumped from 155 million in 2000 to about 272 million in 2019 (IOM, 2017; UN DESA, Population Division, 2019). This sharp increase poses relevant but not insurmountable policy adjustments for destination countries related to the employment of migrant workers, access to education, and migrant workers' rights.

In order to discuss the KAP Score findings, and the placement of respondents from each country along the stages of change in the model, the subsections below list collated responses to the studies' questions on knowledge, attitudes, and practice. While the KAP Score indicators are based on the set 15 questions in these areas (see table 8), the below sections detail results from all questions asked on knowledge, attitudes, and practice.

#### 3.4.3.1 Knowledge about migrant workers

There are many misconceptions surrounding migrant workers. When present, these misconceptions contribute to the creation of an environment in which migrant workers are generally supported or discriminated against and shape national policies and legislation (Harkins and Ali, 2017).

Members of the public are often not informed about migrant workers' realities or their real impact on the economy, social benefits, and crime rates. Instead generalizations not grounded in facts tend to be prominent. Popular beliefs in the region include:

- 1. migrant workers receive more workplace benefits than they actually do;
- 2. migrant workers are not needed and take away jobs from nationals;
- 3. migrant workers have a negative impact on the national economy; and
- 4. migrant workers bring crime and cause harm.

The findings from this study indicate that knowledge levels about socio-economic migration trends and realities across the four countries are generally low (figure 23). Singapore stands out with higher knowledge levels among members of the public than in other countries. On the other end of the spectrum, knowledge levels in Japan were low across all questions asked.



### Figure 23. Percentage of the public who indicated knowledge of these factual statements

Base: all respondents

Note: See section 3.1 for discussion of trends related to these statements in the region.

#### 3.4.3.2 Attitudes towards migrant workers

A number of attitude statements were included in the survey, developed around typical opinions and perceptions that exist in connection with migrant workers.<sup>23</sup> The statements were grouped based on perceptions regarding "differential treatment" of migrant workers

<sup>23</sup> Attitudes were measured on a balanced four-point agreement scale (1 – don't agree at all; 2 – don't really agree; 3 – agree to some extent; 4 – agree completely), with the option of a fifth "not sure" answer. See full survey formulation in Appendix I.

(figure 24) and the "perceived negative impact" they are seen to have on the host country (figure 25).





Base: all respondents

Note: Respondents answered on a four-point agreement scale (1 – don't agree at all; 2 – don't really agree; 3 – agree to some extent; 4 – agree completely), with the option of "not sure" as a fifth answer.

#### Figure 25. Level of agreement regarding migrant workers having a negative impact

	Japan (%)	💁 Malaysia (%)	🥮 Singapore (%)	Thailand (%)		
There is no need for low-skilled migrants	10 25	21 35	718	15 <mark>38</mark>		
Migrants are a drain on the economy	1022	14 33	7 23	11 29		
Stricter entry requirements are needed	13 23	29 40	12 34	16 31		
Migrants commit a lot of crimes	11 33	18 41	7 30	23 <b>49</b>		
Migrants threaten our national culture	13 28	28 40	16 37	16 42		
Migrants have poor work ethics	8 26	15 <mark>29</mark>	8 24	12 48		
Agree completely Agree to some extent						

Base: all respondents

Note: Respondents answered on a four-point agreement scale (1 – don't agree at all; 2 – don't really agree; 3 – agree to some extent; 4 – agree completely), with the option of "not sure" as a fifth answer.

#### 3.4.3.3 Attitudes towards women migrant workers specifically

In contrast to the many negative attitudes towards migrant workers in general that emerged through the survey, many respondents expressed positive support for potential policies that are specifically directed to support women migrant workers. Figure 26 reflects the different support areas for women migrant workers and some distinct differences between countries. Respondents in Thailand and Japan, for instance, expressed a range of support, with 60 per cent or more supporting most of the issues. Respondents in Malaysia and Singapore expressed slightly higher support for protective policies for migrant women (related to responses to violence, for instance) than for some other issues.

	Japan (%) n=1,051	Malaysia (%) n=1,009	Singapore (%) n=1,005	<b>thailand (%)</b> n=1,034
Access to shelters for victims of violence	68	81	79	85
Recognition of care work as a profession	72	51	69	83
Stronger enforcement against violence	67	82	77	83
Better labour conditions for domestic workers	64	71	78	80
Maternity leave	66	62	51	71
Equal labour rights for domestic workers	52	37	62	69
Free to marry local citizens	65	53	49	67
Can bring their children when migrating	55	43	33	62
Equal wages for doing the same job	60	33	38	60
Better labour conditions for sex workers	52	22	40	52
Allowed to work if pregnant	45	28	34	46
Decriminalization of sex work	30	17	36	40

#### Figure 26. Support for women migrant workers

A comparison of the levels of support between men and women respondents revealed some meaningful differences. Overall, men were slightly more supportive of women migrant workers on some issues, especially when it comes to improved labour conditions for sex workers, decriminalization of sex work, and the ability of women migrant workers to marry citizens.
### 3.4.3.4 Practices, or behaviour, towards migrant workers

Positive behaviour, including intentions regarding such behaviour, was measured, and findings show significant gaps, particularly in Japan (see figure 27). Reporting an employer who uses migrant child labour or encouraging a friend to pay for their migrant domestic worker's work permit were found to have the highest levels of positive behaviour in all four countries, although at less than 50 per cent in Japan. Supportive behaviour, such as speaking about the positive contributions of migrant workers, helping them to integrate into a community, and speaking out against offensive language directed at migrants was generally low, with less than one third of all respondents saying they would definitely do so.



### Figure 27. Supportive behaviour in relation to migrant workers

### 3.4.4 Interaction with migrant workers

As discussed in section 3.3.2, the study found increasing levels of interaction with migrant workers, while at the same time seeing a decline in support of them.

To understand this, the results were examined by looking at how the KAP Index has changed across the three levels of frequency of interaction (regular, occasional, and no interaction). As can be seen in figure 28, the KAP Index did not change significantly since 2010 among respondents with regular interaction with migrant workers. The notion that more extensive interaction with migrant workers leads to increased tolerance and support for them still holds true in 2019, even though the overall support for migrant workers (seen as the KAP Index in figure 28) has declined.

In all three countries, the decline was far greater among respondents with no interaction with migrant workers. This means there has been increased polarization in support between those who are interacting with migrant workers and those who are not. There was also a marginal decline among respondents who had had occasional interaction with migrant workers. Together, these declines explain why the support for migrant workers has diminished over time and prompts the question: What has been the driver behind this change? This question is discussed below (see subsection 3.4.4.2 below).





Note: KAP Index is a proxy for public support for migrant workers.

### 3.4.4.1 Employment of domestic workers

As highlighted in previous sections, migrant domestic workers fall into a category of their own: treatment at work tends to be rather different due to many factors, including the lack of a legal framework to protect them. Hence, it is not surprising that the hiring of migrant domestic workers is not always synonymous with being more supportive of migrants.

A strong, positive relationship was found in 2010, where respondents who had hired migrant domestic workers had a considerably higher KAP Index; meaning employers were generally more supportive of migrant workers than the general public were. In 2019, the results remained largely unchanged in Singapore, although the KAP Index overall declined somewhat (figure 29). Employers of migrant domestic workers in Malaysia and Thailand appeared significantly less supportive of migrant workers generally, declining by 25 points and 22 points, respectively.

However, it was not generally the case that employers of domestic workers had lower scores on the three questions related specifically to domestic work. Thus, while domestic worker employers had a comparatively low level of support for migrant workers in general, their support for migrant domestic workers does not appear to be lower than that of their nonemployer counterparts.

Nonetheless, the lower KAP Score result among employers highlights a shift over the past decade, and governments and advocates should be mindful that migrant domestic workers could potentially be at higher risk of discrimination today.

Interestingly, further analysis found that 6 per cent of employers of migrant domestic workers in Japan, Malaysia, and Thailand claimed they had no interaction with migrant workers. This indicates the rather incredible disconnect that can exist between some employers and the migrant workers they hire to work in their homes.



### Figure 29. Change in KAP Index, by employers of migrant domestic workers

# 3.4.4.2 Driver of support: More frequent and better quality interactions with migrant workers

To understand what drives support towards migrant workers, the study used the multi-variate analysing Chi-square Automatic Interaction Detector (CHAID)<sup>24</sup> to assess the effect of several socio-demographic and behavioural characteristics including:

- gender;
- age;
- area of residence (urban or rural);
- news media sources consumed;
- interaction with migrant workers;
- level of interaction with migrant workers; and
- employment of migrant domestic workers.

The analysis examined the extent to which all of these variables helped to generate significant changes in support for migrant workers, and the KAP Index was used as the independent variable for this purpose.

To increase the statistical power, the analysis was conducted on the total sample for Malaysia, Singapore, and Thailand combined.<sup>25</sup> The results were also found to remain consistent at the individual country level.

Based on this analysis, frequency of interaction with migrant workers and type of interaction with migrant workers were the two variables that emerged as having the strongest influence on support for migrant workers. This shows that it is the experience people have with migrant workers that counts, rather than their demographic characteristics.<sup>26</sup> Because the CHAID analysis requires dichotomous variables, the variables were defined as follows:

- **a. frequency of interaction with migrant workers** (regular versus occasional or no interaction); and
- **b. type of interaction with migrant workers** (have friends or staff who are migrant workers versus don't know them well or don't know them at all).

The strongest result was represented by respondents with regular interaction with migrant workers and who also had friends or work colleagues who were migrant workers, employed migrant workers, or supervised staff who are migrant workers. This group represented 29 per cent of the overall population, and the KAP Index (support for migrant workers) for this group was 34, increased from the overall average of 19.

<sup>24</sup> The decision tree analysis was done using the CHAID method, which is a technique created by Gordon V. Kass in 1980 and is used to discover the relationship between variables. A number of dichotomous variables from the study were included to build a decision tree, to help determine which variables best merge to explain the outcome in the given dependent variable (KAP Index).

<sup>25</sup> Note that KAP Score analysis was not done on Japan, given that it was not included in the 2010 study. Total sample for CHAID analysis was therefore n=3,048.

<sup>26</sup> The resulting significant level had a P-value = 0.000.

These results are important because they help to explain how support for migrant workers can develop and change over time, depending on different circumstances.

### 3.4.4.3 Demographics affecting attitudes?

Demographic variables were also explored, and while some differences emerged, they did not help to explain public support for migrant workers. Gender, age, and rural/urban location did not emerge as a major factors in the CHAID analysis. The demographic markers do not appear to be the most dominant factor contributing to what drove respondents to be more or less supportive of migrant workers.

Women were found to be generally less supportive of migrant workers, but they also were found to have less interaction with migrant workers. As per above section, interaction with migrant workers was shown to be a more consistent contributing factor to differences in KAP Index results.

## 3.5 Role of news and media

### 3.5.1 Mass and social media use

Media is an influential communication tool, able to both influence and reflect individuals' perceptions and behaviours. It is important not to simplify the relation between the media and public attitudes. Press coverage can reflect as much as shape attitudes. As noted in the ILO and UN Women study on media and attitudes towards domestic workers: "Media are competing in markets and using stories to sell newspapers [and advertising], rather than necessarily seeking to influence their readership (though government influence on the media should also be taken into account)" (ILO and UN Women, 2016).

Media can however have an impact on and reinforce people's beliefs, as well as act in the interest of policy-maker's priorities and agendas. Media often include anti-immigrant sentiments and gendered stereotypes, as opposed to featuring positive images of migrant workers, promoting gender equality principles, or pointing out the economic contributions that migrant workers make.

Media often do reinforce the view of migrant workers as criminals (Philo, Briant, and Donald, 2013). A 2013 study analysed media coverage of migration in a number of countries<sup>27</sup> and found that, among the countries with relatively lower scores in the Human Development Index, including Malaysia and Thailand, the reporting tends to be more negative towards migrant workers (Allen, Blinder, and McNeil, 2017; McAuliffe, Weeks, and Koser, 2015). Thai media refer to migrant workers mostly using deprecating language that focuses on their "illegal" presence, the threat they pose to job security, and the diseases they bring into the country (Harkins and Ali, 2017). This word choice and framing exacerbate a crisis mentality, whereby migrant workers are seen as threatening (Kosho, 2016). Some policy-makers take advantage of this climate to promote anti-immigration policies. Similarly, analysis of English-language

<sup>27</sup> Afghanistan, Australia, Bangladesh, Canada, Malaysia, the Netherlands, Norway, Pakistan, Sri Lanka, Switzerland, Thailand, the United Kingdom and Viet Nam.

newspapers in Malaysia and Thailand found that "illegal" was the most common term used to describe migrant workers, and suggested that the negative images publicized by media contributed to a hostile and discriminatory environment (ILO and UN Women, 2016). In Asia, media in several countries are not independent. Stakeholders interviewed in one destination country noted that their national media are regulated, and the positive contribution of migrant workers or failings of migration policy do not get much coverage.

Media can also impact public opinion in a positive way by sharing accurate information about migrant workers in a country, by using non-discriminatory language, and by reporting positive stories that humanize migrant workers and promote understanding and social cohesion.

Based on evidence that media shape opinion about migration and drive behaviour, survey respondents were asked about the number and type of media sources they read. Figure 30 shows the overall penetration of media and mobile devices.

Despite using an online panel for this public attitude survey, Internet penetration was found to be reasonably close to actual Internet penetration for each country.<sup>28</sup> As shown in figure 30, Internet penetration and the use of smart phones are catching up with television in Japan and Thailand and have surpassed it in Malaysia and Singapore. Radio ownership, however, is at less than 50 per cent, and regular mobile phones (without Internet connection) are quickly becoming obsolete.



### Figure 30. Media and device penetration

There is regular use of mass media in all four countries (figure 31). Internet was the most popular medium in the survey findings, with use ranging from 92 per cent in Thailand to 82 per cent in Japan. Television is popular in Japan (at 81 per cent), followed by Malaysia (72 per cent), Thailand (70 per cent), and Singapore (65 per cent). Newspapers were more common in the more developed nations of Singapore (45 per cent) and Japan (41 per cent), and less common in Malaysia (35 per cent) and Thailand (24 per cent). Radio users were approximately one third of the population in Malaysia and Singapore, but the percentage was significantly lower in Japan and Thailand.

<sup>28</sup> According to Internet World Stat (2019), Internet penetration in the four countries are: Japan, 93.5 per cent; Malaysia, 77.3 per cent; Singapore, 82.5 per cent; and Thailand, 82.2 per cent.



### Figure 31. Regular use of mass media

Facebook was the most popular social media platform in all countries except in Japan, where Line<sup>29</sup> is more dominant, at 65 per cent. YouTube is a consistent second, followed by Instagram and Google+. The number of social media platforms used was found to be larger in Thailand (at 4.4 on average) than in Malaysia, Singapore, and Japan, where the average was around three. With regards to chat channels, most people reported using between one and three services. With a large margin, WhatsApp, Facebook Messenger, and Line were the three most popular chat services, and this was true for both men and women.

As expected, media use was somewhat higher in urban areas than in rural ones (figure 32), with the difference being more pronounced in countries where the disparity in development between the two areas is greater, such as Malaysia and Thailand. Furthermore, the difference was more relevant for television than for the Internet. This could be explained by the high penetration of mobile devices, which provide Internet access as long as there is a mobile network available.

<sup>29</sup> Line is a Japan-launched app for instant communications on smartphones, tablets, and personal computers.



### Figure 32. Media use, by urban or rural area

Note: Because Singapore is a city-state, the findings are only for urban residents.

### 3.5.2 Sources of information about migrant workers

The ascent of the Internet and the subsequent use of digital media (such as Facebook, YouTube and blogs) should be framed in the context that total Internet penetration in Asia is 49 per cent (Internet World Stats, 2019). And, as has been argued, inequalities in access to and use of information technologies (particularly social media) might create a situation in which users are only exposed to news shared by like-minded peers (such is the case with Facebook and Twitter) (Allen, Blinder, and McNeil, 2017).

The 2010 ILO public attitudes survey revealed that the largest source for information about migrant workers was news media. In light of the increasing fragmentation of news media over time, respondents in the current survey were asked about a range of news mediums. This included both mainstream news channels, such as national newspapers, television, or radio news, and digital media, such as podcasts, Facebook, or blogs. Figure 33 summarizes the proportion of respondents who reported following digital news, mainstream news, both, or none. Consumption of digital news media has become as common as traditional mainstream media. This is consistent with the trend of people spending more time on the Internet than watching television. Surprisingly in Japan, as much as 23 per cent of the respondents said they do not follow any news, which was significantly more than in the other three countries. Japanese responses also showed less overlap between mainstream and digital news media, suggesting there is less breadth of news media consumption at the individual level.



### Figure 33. Consumption of mainstream and alternative news media

Malaysia (%)

Base: n=1,009

Figure 34 reflects the lower intake of different news media sources in Japan. Some 50 per cent of the Japanese respondents reported only following one news channel or no news channel at all, generating an overall average of 2.6 news media sources per person. The average was otherwise highest for Thailand, with slightly fewer than five sources per person, followed by Malaysia and Singapore, with around four each. The number of news media sources that respondents followed differed considerably between individuals, with some people following only a few sources or none and some following six or more.

Singapore (%)

Base: n=1,005

Thailand (%)

Base: n=1,034



#### Figure 34. Number of news media sources consumed

📕 Japan (%)

Base: n=1,051

The CHAID analysis described in section 3.4.4.2 found that after frequency and quality of interaction with migrant workers, the next variable tested to have a strong association with better migrant support was number of news media sources consumed. The more news media sources people consume, the more supportive they are of migrant workers (positive relationship with the KAP Index), irrespective of the type of media source.

Consistent with the 2010 ILO public attitudes survey findings, the current study confirmed that media, specifically news reports, social media, and television programmes, remain the most prominent source of information about migrant workers (figure 35). But social media has risen to a strong second place, surpassing television programming. The average number of information sources was found to be higher for Thailand, at three, followed by Malaysia (2.7), Singapore (2.6), and Japan (1.9).

#### Malaysia (%) Singapore (%) Japan (%) Thailand (%) Base: All, n=1,009 Base: All, n=1,051 Base: All, n=1,005 Base: All, n=1,034 News reports 69 77 Social media 38 57 67 TV programmes 41 45 Family/friends 38 35 11 At work 9 31 27 Books 7 13 25 Film 6 8 7 13 5 4 PSAs 11 Other 1 3 2 1 Average number

Figure 35. Sources of information about migrant workers

1.9

of sources

Given the importance that media have in shaping opinion towards migrant workers, some interviewed stakeholders highlighted that news media can distort the contribution made by migrant workers rather than showing how they contribute to the economy.

2.7

2.6

3.0

**Government and media should promote the message that migrant workers are not destroying the economy but actually helping drive our economy."** (Government official, Thailand)

# **4. Conclusions and recommendations**

Results of the study show that support for migrant workers was quite low in all four countries. There is evidence that support had declined somewhat in Malaysia, Singapore, and Thailand since 2010. The KAP Index helped determine that there had been a polarization in views; while people who had closer relationships with migrant workers remained relatively more supportive of them, those with limited or no interaction with migrant workers, in combination with closer types of relationships with them (having friends or staff who are migrant workers), help to build stronger support.

Gender differences were examined as part of the analysis but appeared not to have a presence in terms of influencing support for migrant workers. Women respondents were, on average, relatively more negative towards migrant workers than men, but analysis showed this was due to men having more interaction with migrant workers, given interaction with migrant workers was correlative with positive attitudes. On the other hand, employers of migrant domestic workers were found to be less supportive of migrant workers overall, which represented a change since the 2010 survey.

There was generally positive support for policy initiatives aimed at supporting women migrant workers, related to responding to violence against women, as well as ensuring better labour protections for domestic workers.

In some areas, such as support for specific women-related policies, attitudes seem to be ahead of laws. In other areas, laws are ahead of public attitudes, for instance, laws related to non-discrimination. Thus, the below recommendations are a combination of suggestions for using the law and other measures to lead to better public attitudes towards migrants, and vice versa, for leveraging high public support in some areas to reform labour migration laws. © ILO/ T. Falise

In light of these findings, the following recommendations are offered.

- 1. Promote inclusion, social interaction, and community engagement with migrant workers in destination countries, including through changes to policy and practice.
  - 1.1 Stimulate attitude changes on specific issues to tackle discrimination and barriers that prevent the fair treatment of migrant workers and their social inclusion.
    - Reform and align immigration and employment policies with other national regulations to ensure that migrant workers are able to fully access rights on par with nationals. These policies could reverse the negative trend of considering migrant workers as a temporary labour force.
    - Adopt policies, regulations, and operating procedures that support social inclusion, including access to services, social security, schools, and health facilities.
    - City planning can promote social inclusion by avoiding ghettoization of migrant workers' accommodation. Physical distance is a barrier that hinders migrant workers from integrating into the local community and encourages segregation and discrimination.
    - Ensure that labour migration governance mechanisms are accessible, affordable, and not time consuming. Across all four countries, respondents said that migrant workers with regular status can adapt better than those without. Indeed, migrant workers with irregular status fear going out in public, as arrest, detention, and deportation are possible outcomes should they be too visible or encounter authorities.



- 1.2 Design, support, and deliver policies that facilitate platforms and community events where migrant workers and the public can meaningfully interact and demonstrate the positive impact of migrant workers on societies and economies.
- 1.3 Encourage inclusion in the workplace by working with employers and trade unions to promote the rights of migrant workers. Trade unions could promote solidarity and encourage inclusion by accepting and supporting migrant workers to join as members where it is lawful for them to do so. Campaigns targeted towards migrant workers and trade union members should encourage migrant workers to join unions, where lawful, and to shape the attitudes of trade unions towards accepting and empowering all workers as part of the unions, regardless of their country of origin or migration status. Existing restrictions on migrant workers, or migrant-reliant sectors, to join unions should be removed.
- 1.4 Avoid dehumanizing terms to refer to migrants and migrant workers in legal texts and other official documents.

### 2. Conduct awareness-raising activities with the general public.

- 2.1 Design campaigns to raise awareness by providing accurate and positive information about migrant workers and their contributions to national economy. The study identified that the majority of the respondents had limited knowledge about the important contributions migrant workers make to destination countries. Information campaigns can help to inform the public ideally by working on shifting social norms and shared values. It is important to focus on specific sectors and problems so that the public can relate to the messages in a more personalized way.
  - Promote campaigns that address the root of negative attitudes towards migrant workers. Strive to develop a personal connection between the public and migrant workers by focusing on specific migrant work sectors and also on interactions among nationals and migrant workers within that sector.
  - Promote evidence of the beneficial impacts of migrant workers to strengthen positive attitudes while at the same time debunking common myths, such as the characterization of migrant workers as criminals, as taking jobs from nationals, or as having a negative impact on the economy.
  - Tackle stigma and raise the status of roles and work sectors in which migrant workers work. Undervaluing the work of migrants has negative consequences and can lead to discrimination and social exclusion. Promoting the importance of decent work, equal opportunities, social protection, gender equality, and inclusion are essential.
  - Take care to ensure that messaging does not promote migrant workers especially women migrant workers – as "victims" or inherently vulnerable. This can feed into narratives that migrant workers are weaker and powerless, and through emphasizing difference, can undermine migrant workers' claims to the same rights at work as nationals.

- When promoting changes in practice and behaviour, give practical tips and guides for action, rooted in laws and other normative guidance.
- Communicate messages through mass media as well as social media platforms, including Facebook, Line, YouTube, and Instagram, to maximize reach. Tackle "fake news", racial discrimination, and hate speech online, and ensure that civil society online activism is encouraged and supported.
- 2.2 Complement and reinforce public campaigns with targeted interventions directed at influencer groups.
  - Encourage governments, in partnership with international organizations and other relevant actors, to encourage schools to promote positive behaviour towards migrant workers and members of their families. The study highlighted a general lack of knowledge about migrant workers' rights. But public education on prejudice and diversity can shape attitudes towards migrant workers as well as change discriminatory social norms and stereotypical behaviours.
  - Implement interventions to encourage more balanced and inclusive reporting, and to encourage the news media to use non-discriminatory terminology when reporting stories about migrant workers. News media are influential and impact the public's attitudes as well as policy-makers' agendas. Terms such as "undocumented" and "irregular" can be used rather than "illegal"; and "migrant" can be used rather than "alien". At all opportunities, humanize the individual representation of migrant workers and avoid descriptions that overemphasize the number of migrant workers or depict the migrant population as degrading the dominant culture.
- 2.3 Continue to track shifts and trends in public support for migrant workers in countries of destination. Doing so will allow ongoing campaigns and other interventions to adjust to any changes in public attitudes. More frequent tracking of attitudes can also enable studies to identify causation of changes in public support for migrant workers.
- 3. Harness the opportunities available given the high degree of public support for women migrant workers, including opportunities to address violence against women.
  - 3.1 Leverage the positive public support for ending violence against women migrant workers. Respondents showed high levels of support for access to shelters for women who experience violence and for stronger enforcement against violence.
    - It is recommended to work with governments, trade unions, and NGOs to ensure the availability of shelters and comprehensive services designed to meet the needs of women migrant worker survivors of violence.

- To ensure stronger enforcement against violence, it is recommended that governments work to align laws and policies with, and ratify, the Violence and Harassment Convention, 2019 (No. 190).
- Governments, employers, trade unions, and NGOs should run campaigns to end violence and harassment in the world of work, including against migrant women and other marginalized groups. Awareness-raising and campaigning should form an important part of combined strategies linked to prevention of violence and harassment in the world of work.
- 3.2 Leverage the public support for women migrant workers to receive maternity leave. Policy change and/or enforcement is needed in migrant countries of destination to ensure women migrant workers have de jure and de facto access to maternity leave within broader social security schemes, and that women migrant workers are not discriminated against – either at work or during recruitment – on the grounds of pregnancy.
- 3.3 Support increased realization of human and labour rights in the entertainment sector and the sex industry. Labour protection mechanisms are needed to eliminate recruitment and employment misconduct and to prevent violence and exploitation for all migrant women (UN Working Group on Migration in Thailand, 2019).
- 3.4 Support governments and employers to actively promote gender-sensitive policies and practices that tackle gender stereotypes and occupational segregation. Strong gender segregation of occupation in the region is the result of stereotypical perceptions of what women can or cannot do, as well as the consequence of genderdifferentiated barriers in access to specific job opportunities.

### 4. Address the declining attitudes of employers of domestic workers.

- 4.1 Governments, trade unions, and other stakeholders, including domestic workers groups, should conduct a coordinated and evidence-based publicity campaign on the social and economic value of domestic work, and on the rights of domestic workers. Domestic work is often undervalued, and often not fully considered as work, either by employers or through full inclusion in national labour laws.
- 4.2 All stakeholders, including and especially the media, should use respectful terms to describe domestic workers. They should avoid terms such as "servant", "maid", and "helper", and instead use "domestic worker", which squarely shows that domestic workers are workers, and not servile or part of the family.
- 4.3 Leverage the positive public support for domestic workers to design and enforce regulations aimed at improving the working conditions of women migrant workers, as well as ratification of the Domestic Workers Convention, 2011 (No. 189). Respondents showed high levels of support for recognition of care workers, improvement of the working conditions of domestic workers, and equal labour rights

for domestic workers on par with nationals. Currently, none of the four countries in this study has ratified Convention No. 189.<sup>30</sup> Doing so would go far toward improving working conditions for domestic workers, as it allows for weekly rest for at least 24 consecutive hours, a limit on payment in kind, clear information on the terms and conditions of employment, as well as freedom of association and the right to collective bargaining.

4.4 Conduct further research to understand the knowledge, attitudes, and practices (work entitlements provided) of employers of migrant domestic workers. Such a study is critical in light of the fact that employers today appear to show less support for migrant workers than before.

<sup>30</sup> See ILO Normlex: Information System on International Labour Standards, https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/ f?p=NORMLEXPUB:1:0::NO::: [accessed 13 Mar. 2019].



# References

Allen, W.; Blinder, S; McNeil, R. 2017. "Media reporting of migrants and migration", in *World Migration Report 2018* (Geneva, International Organization for Migration).

Allport, G.W. 1954. The nature of prejudice (Cambridge, MA, Addison-Wesley).

Arifin, B. 2012. *Critical analysis of domestic worker condition in Malaysia and Singapore: Ameliorated economic condition vs. gateway to modern slavery or servitude* (Malmö, Malmö University). Available at: http://muep.mau.se/bitstream/handle/2043/13842/Critical%20Analysis%20of%20Domestic%20Worker %20Condition%20in%20Malaysia%20and%20Singapore.pdf;jsessionid=54E3C57A41BEE227F849A033D 5BB32A6?sequence=2 [18 Feb. 2019].

Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation (APEC). 2014. A report on the APEC region labour market: Evidence of skills shortages and general trends in employment and the value of better labour market information systems (Singapore).

Ayub, Z.; Yusoff, Z.; Wahab, H.; Badarulzaman, M. 2016. *Discrimination against migrant workers in Malaysia* (Kuala Lumpur, School of Law, Universiti Utara Malaysia).

Bal, C. 2017. "Myths and facts: Migrant workers in Singapore", in *New Naratif*, 9 Sep. Available at: https:// newnaratif.com/research/myths-and-facts-migrant-workers-in-singapore/ [26 Mar. 2019].

Caram Asia. 2010. *Malaysia vs. Hong Kong – Employers perception and attitudes towards foreign domestic worker* (Kuala Lumpur). Available at: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/migpractice/docs/142/DW.pdf [20 Mar. 2019].

Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW Committee). 2017. *Concluding observations on the combined sixth and seventh periodic reports of Thailand*, adopted by the Committee at its 67<sup>th</sup> Session, 3–21 Jul., CEDAW/C/THA/CO/6-7.

Daly, M.E. (ed.). 2001. Care work: The quest for security (Geneva, ILO).

Department of Provincial Administration, Thailand. 2018. *Official statistics registration systems*. Available at: http://stat.bora.dopa.go.th/ [4 Feb. 2019].

Department of Statistics Malaysia. 2010. *Population quick info.* Available at: http://pqi.stats.gov.my/ [4 Feb. 2019].

Department of Statistics Singapore. 2014. *Yearbook of statistics Singapore*. Available at: https://www.singstat.gov.sg/publications/reference/yearbook-of-statistics-singapore/yearbook-of-statistics-singapore-content-page [4 Feb. 2019].

Derks, A. 2013. "Human rights and (im)mobility: Migrants and the state in Thailand", in *Journal of Social Issues in Southeast Asia*, Vol. 28, No. 2, pp. 216–240. doi:10.1355/sj28-2b.

DiClemente, C. 2007. "The transtheoretical model of intentional behaviour change", in *Drugs and Alcohol Today*, Vol. 7, No. 1, p. 29. Available at: https://www.emeraldinsight.com/doi/abs/10.1108/174 59265200700007 [19 Feb. 2019].

*The Economist.* 2018. "Asia's looming labour shortage", 11 Feb. 2017, in United Nations Development Programme (UNDP). 2018. *Development approaches to migration and displacement in Asia and the Pacific: Policy brief* (Bangkok). Available at: http://un-act.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/UNDP\_Migration\_\_\_\_\_\_ Displacement\_Policy\_Brief.pdf [8 Oct. 2019].

Elias, J., 2018. "Governing domestic worker migration in Southeast Asia: Public–private partnerships, regulatory grey zones and the household", in *Journal of Contemporary Asia*, Vol. 48, No. 2, pp. 278–300. Available at: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00472336.2017.1392586 [20 Mar. 2019].

Empower Foundation. 2016. Moving towards decent sex work (Chiang Mai, Empower University Press).

Esipova, N.; Ray, J.; Pugliese, A.; Tsabutashvili, D.; Laczko, F.; Rango, M. 2015. *How the world views migrations* (Geneva, International Organization for Migration). Available at: https://publications.iom. int/system/files/how\_the\_world\_gallup.pdf [7 Feb. 2019].

Esipova, N.; Pugliese, A.; Ray, J. 2017. "Acceptance of migrants increases with social interaction", in *Gallup*, 29 Aug. Available at: https://news.gallup.com/poll/217250/acceptance-migrants-increases-social-interaction.aspx [7 Feb. 2019].

Glasman, L.R., & Albarracín, D. (2006). "Forming attitudes that predict future behavior: a meta-analysis of the attitude-behavior relation", in *Psychological Bulletin*, Vol. 132, No.5, pp. 778–822. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.132.5.778 [30 Oct. 2019].

Grosfoguel, R.; Oso, L.; Christou, A. 2015. "Racism, intersectionality and migration studies: Framing some theoretical reflections", in Global Studies in *Culture and Power*, Vol. 22, pp. 635–652.

Harima, R. 2018. Living together: *Working towards social inclusion of migrants*, presentation at the Changing Attitudes and Behaviour Towards Women Migrant Workers in ASEAN Technical Regional Meeting, Safe and Fair Programme, Bangkok, 26–27 Nov.

Harkins, B.; Ali, A. 2017. *Evidence or attitudes? Assessing the foundations of Thailand's labour migration policies*, paper presented at the International Seminar on Mixed Migration in Southeast and East Asia, Bangkok, 21–22 June. Available at: http://un-act.org/publication/evidence-attitudes-assessing-foundations-thailands-labour-migration-policies/ [7 Feb. 2019].

Hwok-Aun, L; Yu Leng, K. 2018. *Counting migrant workers in Malaysia: A needlessly persisting conundrum* (Singapore, Yusof Ishak Institute). Available at: https://www.iseas.edu.sg/images/pdf/ISEAS\_ Perspective\_2018\_25@50.pdf [20 Feb. 2019].

International Labour Organization (ILO). 2003. *Concepts and strategies for combating social exclusion: An overview* (Geneva). Available at: https://www.ilo.org/public/english/protection/socsec/step/download/96 p1.pdf [4 Oct. 2019].

—. 2010. *Domestic workers in Thailand: Their situation, challenges and the way forward* (Bangkok). Available at: http://www.burmalibrary.org/docs09/wcms\_120274.pdf [14 Feb. 2019].

—. 2011. *Public attitudes to migrant workers: A four country study* (Bangkok). Available at: http://www.ilo. org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---asia/---ro-bangkok/documents/presentation/wcms\_159851.pdf [20 Feb. 2019].

—. 2015. *Global estimates on migrant workers: Results and methodology: Special focus on migrant domestic workers* (Geneva).

—. 2016a. *High rise, low pay: Experiences of migrant women in the Thai construction sector* (Bangkok). Available at: https://www.ilo.org/asia/publications/WCMS\_537743/lang--en/index.htm [7 Feb. 2019].

—. 2016b. *Review of labour migration policy in Malaysia: Tripartite action to enhance the contribution of labour migration to growth and development in ASEAN* (TRIANGLE II Project) (Bangkok).

-. 2016c. Migrant domestic workers across the world: Global and regional estimates (Geneva).

—. 2017a, *Risks and rewards: Outcomes of labour migration in South-East Asia* (Bangkok). Available at: https://www.ilo.org/asia/publications/WCMS\_613815/lang--en/index.htm [22 Feb. 2019].

—. 2017b. *TRIANGLE in ASEAN quarterly briefing note: Malaysia July–September 2017* (Bangkok). Available at: https://ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---asia/---ro-bangkok/documents/publication/wcms\_580148. pdf [23 Feb. 2019].

—. 2018a. *International Labour Migration Statistics Database in ASEAN (ILMS)* (Bangkok). Available at: https://www.ilo.org/asia/WCMS\_416366/lang--en/index.htm [30 Oct. 2019].

—. 2018b. *ILO global estimates on international migrant workers – Results and methodology* (Geneva). Available at: https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---dcomm/---publ/documents/ publication/wcms\_652001.pdf [23 Feb. 2019].

-..2018c.*TRIANGLEinASEAN:Quarterlybriefingnote:Thailand*,October-December2018(Bangkok).Available at: https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---asia/---ro-bangkok/documents/genericdocument/wcms\_614383.pdf [19 Feb. 2019].

—. Forthcoming a. *Forecasting labour demand for the elderly care sector in Thailand* (Bangkok).

—. Forthcoming b. *Practical methods to change social norms in domestic work* (Geneva).

International Labour Organizations (ILO); Asian Development Bank (ADB). 2014. *ASEAN Community 2015: Managing integration for better jobs and shared prosperity* (Bangkok, ILO). Available at: https://www.adb. org/sites/default/files/publication/42818/asean-community-2015-managing-integration.pdf [23 Feb. 2019].

International Labour Organizations (ILO); UN Women. 2016. *Worker, helper, auntie, maid? Working conditions and attitudes experienced by migrant domestic workers in Thailand and Malaysia* (Bangkok). Available at: https://www.ilo.org/asia/publications/WCMS\_537808/lang--en/index.htm [7 Feb. 2019].

—. 2017. Protected or put in harm's way? Bans and restrictions on women's labour migration in ASEAN countries (Bangkok). Available at: http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---asia/---ro-bangkok/---sro-bangkok/documents/publication/wcms\_555974.pdf [20 Feb. 2019].

—. 2019. *Changing attitudes and behaviour towards women migrant workers in ASEAN: Technical regional meeting* (Bangkok). Available at: https://www.ilo.org/asia/publications/WCMS\_715939/lang--en/index. htm [4 Oct. 2019].

-. 2019. Scoping study: Violence against women migrant workers in ASEAN (internal, Bangkok).

Internet World Stats. 2019. *Usage and population statistics, Internet usage in Asia*. Available at: https://www.internetworldstats.com/stats3.htm [23 Feb. 2019].

International Organization for Migration (IOM). 2017. *World Migration Report 2018* (Geneva). Available at: https://www.iom.int/sites/default/files/country/docs/china/r5\_world\_migration\_report\_2018\_en.pdf [19 Feb. 2019].

Kosho, J. 2016. "Media influence on public opinion attitudes toward the migration crisis", in *International Journal of Scientific and Technology Research*, Vol. 5, No. 5, pp. 86–91.

Lee Kuan Yew School of Public Policy. 2016. *Foreign domestic workers in Singapore: Social and historical perspectives* (Singapore). Available at: https://lkyspp.nus.edu.sg/docs/default-source/case-studies/fdws\_in\_singapore.pdf?sfvrsn=2ac5960b\_2 [24 Feb. 2019].

Lindgren, D.; Kelley, S. 2019. "A new way of measuring behavioural compliance for prevention programme interventions using KAP Score", in *Development in Practice*, Vol. 29, No. 4, pp. 489–500. Available at: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/09614524.2019.1569590?journalCode=cdip20 [24 Feb. 2019].

Martin, P. 2015. "The economic contribution of migrants in countries of origin and destination", in *Asia-Pacific Migration Report 2015: Migrants' contributions to development* (Bangkok, Asia-Pacific RCM Thematic Working Group on International Migration including Human Trafficking), pp. 56–85.

McAuliffe, M.; Weeks, W.; Koser, K. 2015. *Media and migration: Comparative analysis of print and online media reporting on migrants and migration in selected origin and destination countries*, Occasional Paper Series 13/2015 (Canberra, Department of Immigration and Border Protection). Available at: www. border.gov.au/ReportsandPublications/ Documents/research/media-migration.pdf [19 Feb. 2019].

McCurry, J. 2018. "The changing face of Japan: Labour shortage opens doors to immigrant workers", in *The Guardian*, 9 Nov. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2018/nov/09/the-changing-face-of-japan-labour-shortage-opens-doors-to-immigrant-workers [27 Mar. 2019].

Mekong Migration Network (MMN). 2016. *Permanently temporary: Examining the impact of social exclusion on Mekong migrants*. Available at: http://www.mekongmigration.org/?page\_id=5171 [4 Oct. 2019].

Migration Policy Institute. 2018. *Japan*. Available at: https://www.migrationpolicy.org/country-resource/japan [13 Mar. 2019].

Miller-Gonzalez, J.; Rensmann, L.; 2010. "Xenophobia and anti-immigrant politics", in *The International Studies Encyclopedia* (Oxford, Blackwell-Wiley), pp. 7628–7653.

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). 2018. *Working better with age: Japan – Ageing and employment policies* (Paris). Available at: https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264201996-en [9 Oct. 2019].

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD); International Labour Organization (ILO). 2017. *How immigrants contribute to Thailand's economy* (Paris). Available at: https://www.oecd.org/ countries/thailand/Prelim\_version\_ECLM\_Thailand.pdf [18 Mar. 2019].

Othman, Z. 2008. "Unjustified fears?", in Today, 15 Sep.

Philo, G.; Briant, E.; Donald, P. 2013. *Bad news for refugees* (London, Pluto Press). Available at: https:// scholarworks.arcadia.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1009&context=agsjournal [26 Mar. 2019].

Paitoonpong, S. 2012. *Managing migrant workers in Thailand* (Bangkok, Thai Development Research Institute (TDRI)).

Rannveig Mendoza, D. 2018. *Triple discrimination: Woman, pregnant and migrant – Preventing pregnancy discrimination among temporary migrant workers: Lessons from Malaysia, Taiwan, and Thailand* (Washington, DC, Fair Labour Association). Available at: http://www.fairlabor.org/sites/default/files/documents/ reports/triple\_discrimination\_woman\_pregnant\_and\_migrant\_march\_2018.pdf [20 Mar. 2019].

Rattanapan, A. 2015. Migrant domestic workers in *Thailand: Employment situation and comparative study on regulations*, Research Working Paper Series No. 6 (Khon Kaen, Mekong Institute). Available at: http://www.mekonginstitute.org/uploads/tx\_ffpublication/WPS\_N6\_2015.pdf [12 Mar. 2019].

Ray, J.; Pugliese, A.; Esipova, N. 2019. *Worldwide*, *54% See Communities as Good for Migrants*. Available at: https://news.gallup.com/poll/267248/worldwide-communities-good-migrants.aspx?utm\_source=IOM +External+Mailing+List&utm\_campaign=f9a713667d-EMAIL\_CAMPAIGN\_2019\_10\_08\_11\_18&utm\_medium=email&utm\_term=0\_9968056566-f9a713667d-61766233 [30 Oct. 2019].

Reynolds, I.; Aquino, N.P. 2017. "Learning to bow: Japan reluctantly opens door to foreign housemaids", in *Japan Times*, 10 Jan. Available at: https://www.japantimes.co.jp/news/2017/01/10/national/learning-bow-japan-reluctantly-opens-door-foreign-housemaids/#.XJpW1C17HEZ [26 Feb. 2019].

Schlueter, E.; Meuleman, B.; Davidov, E. 2013. "Immigrant integration policies and perceived group threat: A multilevel study of 27 Western and Eastern European countries", in *Social Science Research Journal*, Vol. 42, No. 3, pp. 670–682.

Sen, A. 2000. *Social exclusion: Concept, application and scrutiny*, Social Development Papers No. 1, Office of Environment and Social Development (Asian Development Bank).

Shiraiwa, H. 2018. "Japan prepares support for incoming foreign workers", in *Nikkei Asian Review*, 9 Dec. Available at: https://asia.nikkei.com/Spotlight/Japan-immigration/Japan-prepares-support-for-incoming-foreign-workers [13 Mar. 2019].

Singaporean Ministry of Manpower. 2019. *Settling-In Programme (SIP) for first-time FDWs.* Available at: https://www.mom.gov.sg/passes-and-permits/work-permit-for-foreign-domestic-worker/eligibility-and-requirements/settling-in-programme-sip [12 Mar. 2019].

Singapore Statutes Online, Employment Act (Chapter 91). Available at: https://sso.agc.gov.sg/Act/ EmA1968 [26 Mar. 2019].

Solidarity Network with Migrants Japan. 2010. *NGO report regarding the rights of non-Japanese nationals, minorities of foreign origins, and refugees in Japan*, paper prepared for the 76th United Nations Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination, Geneva, 15 Feb.–12 Mar. Available at: http://c-faculty.chuo-u. ac.jp/~andyb/GM/GMJapan/SNMJ\_Japan\_76-1.pdf [27 Mar. 2019].

Sunpuwan, M.; Niyomsilpa, S. 2014. *The survey of Thai public opinion toward Myanmar refugees and migrant workers: An overview* (Nakhon Pathom, Mahidol University).

Tankard, M.; Paluck, E.L. 2016. "Norm perception as a vehicle for social change", in *Social Issues and Policy Review*, Vol. 10, No. 1, pp. 181–211. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1089/acm.2005.11.578 [30 Oct. 2019].

*Today.* 2017. "Japan opens door to foreign maids, but protection, cost remain issues", 11 Feb. Available at: https://www.todayonline.com/world/asia/japan-opens-door-foreign-maids-protection-cost-remain-issues [20 Mar. 2019].

Tunon, M.; Baruah, N. 2012. "Public attitudes towards migrant workers in Asia", in *Migration and Development*, Vol. 1, No.1, pp. 149–162. Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/21632324.2012.718524 [18 Mar. 2019].

United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs (UN DESA), Population Division. 2015. *World Population Prospects: The 2015 revision (medium variant)* (New York, NY).

—. 2017. "International Migrant Stock: The 2017 revision". Available at: https://www.un.org/en/ development/desa/population/migration/data/estimates2/estimates17.asp [13 Sep. 2019].

—. 2019. 2019 Revision of World Population Prospects. Available at: https://population.un.org/wpp/ [8 Oct. 2019].

United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR). 2014. *The economic, social and cultural rights of migrants in an irregular situation* (New York and Geneva, United Nations) Available at: https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/HR-PUB-14-1\_en.pdf [12 Mar. 2019].

United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR); Global Migration Group. 2018. *Principles and guidelines, supported by practical guidance, on the human rights protection of migrants in vulnerable situations* (Geneva).

United Nations General Assembly. 2011. *Report of the Special Rapporteur on the human rights of migrants, Jorge Bustamante*, A/HRC/17/33, 21 Mar. Available at: https://undocs.org/A/HRC/17/33 [30 Oct. 2019].

United Nations Secretary-General. 2019. *Violence against women migrant workers: Report of the Secretary-General*, A/74/235, 26 July.

United Nations Special Rapporteur on violence against women, its causes and consequences (UN SR). 2017. *Report of the Special Rapporteur on violence against women, its causes and consequences: A human rights-based approach to integrated services and protection measures on violence against women, with a focus on shelters and protection orders*, A/HRC/35/30, Human Rights Council, 35th Session, New York, 13 June. Available at: https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/G17/162/08/PDF/G1716208. pdf?OpenElement [30 Oct. 2019].

United Nations Working Group on Migration in Thailand. 2019. *Thailand Migration Report 2019* (Bangkok). Available at: https://thailand.iom.int/sites/default/files/document/publications/Thailand%20Report%20 2019\_22012019\_LowRes.pdf [14 Feb. 2019].

UN Women. 2017. *Women migrant workers in the ASEAN Economic Community* (Bangkok). Available at: http://www2.unwomen.org/-/media/field%20office%20eseasia/docs/publications/2017/06/aec-women-migration-study.pdf?la=en&vs=4122 [27 Mar. 2019].

- . 2018. ASEAN Regional Guidelines on Violence against Women and Girls Data Collection and Use (Bangkok).

Weldon, S. 2006. "The institutional context of tolerance for ethnic minorities: A comparative, multilevel analysis of Western Europe", in *American Journal of Political Science*, Vol. 50, No. 2, pp. 331–349. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-5907.2006.00187.x [14 Feb. 2019].

World Bank. 2015. *Malaysia Economic Monitor: Immigrant labor, Dec*. (Kuala Lumpur). Available at: http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/753511468197095162/Malaysia-Economic-monitor-immigrant-labor [9 Oct. 2019].

-. 2018. Development impact of labour migration in Malaysia: UNCT Roundtable discussion (Kuala Lumpur).

—. 2019. *Malaysia: Estimating the number of foreign workers: A report from the Labour Market Data for Monetary Policy task* (Washington, DC). Available at: http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/ en/953091562223517841/Malaysia-Estimating-the-Number-of-Foreign-Workers-A-Report-from-the-Labor-Market-Data-for-Monetary-Policy-Task.docx [13 Sep. 2019].

Webb, T.L.; Sheeran, P. 2006. "Does changing behavioral intentions engender behavior change? A metaanalysis of the experimental evidence", in *Psychological Bulletin*, Vol. 132, No. 2, pp. 249–268. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.132.2.249 [30 Oct. 2019].

Youker, R. 2003. *The nature of international development projects*, paper presented at PMI Global Congress 2003, Baltimore, MD, 25 Sep. Available at: https://www.pmi.org/learning/library/nature-international-development-projects-7663 [26 Mar. 2019].

# Appendix I. Survey questionnaire

### Email introduction for panel members

Migration has become a hot topic in recent time, and your country hosts some migrant workers from overseas. In connection to this we are doing a survey amongst the general population and your opinion is very important to us. The survey will take around 15 minutes to complete. Your answers are of course kept strictly confidential. Thank you in advance for your cooperation.

### Quota

Sex	All	Location	Thailand	Malaysia	Singapore	Japan
Male	n=500	Urban	n=700	n=700	n=1000	n=700
Female	n=500	Rural or small town	n=300	n=300		n=300
S1 Record	· ·	] Malaysia [	Singapore	🗌 Jaj	pan	
S2 What re	egion do you	live in? (Select one)	)			
Thailand		Malaysia	Јара	an	Singa	apore
Greate	r Bangkok	Central		Hokkaido		Central
Centra	I	North		Tohoku		East
East		East coas	t 🗌	Kanto		North
West		South		Chubu		North-East
North		Sabah		Kansai		West
North-	East	Sarawak		Chugoku		
South		Territory		Shikoku		
				Kyushu		
				Okinawa		
Metrop		ing describes the co urban centre or large town	-	ich you live?	,	
S4 You are	<b>.</b>					

Male

Female

S5 Which of the following age groups do you fall into? (Select one)

Younger than 18 years	STOP	35-39
18–24		40-44
25–29		45-54
30–34		55 or older

Q1 Migrant workers are people from overseas who come to this country for the main purpose of taking up work. What is your main source of information about migrant workers? (Select all that apply)

News and media reports	Film
TV documentary or other TV programmes	Books
Internet and social media	Public service announcements
Through my work or colleagues	Other (SPECIFY)
Through family and friends	None

Q2 Have you ever encountered migrant workers either in your local community or at your place of work? (Select one)

Yes regularly	No	GO TO K1a
Yes sometimes	Not sure	GO TO K1a

Q3 Where have you encountered migrant workers? (Select all that apply)

	At home
	At work
	In our local community
	When I travel
	Other place
Q4	Do you know any migrant workers personally? (Select all that apply)
	Yes I have supervised or employed migrant workers
	Yes I have friends or colleagues who are migrant workers

Yes but I don't know them well

No

## Knowledge

K1a Do domestic workers, maids,<sup>31</sup> in the country have the same work benefits as other workers? (Select one)

	Yes
	Domestic workers are not workers
	No, domestic workers don't have the same work benefits
	Not sure
K1b	Does this country have a need for more workers? (Select one)

- No
  - Yes, but mainly for high skilled jobs like doctors and lawyers
- Yes, but mainly for low skilled workers doing routine manual work
- Not sure

K1c What effect do migrant workers have on the national economy in this country? (Select one)

- An overall positive net effect
- An overall negative net effect
- No impact at all
- \_\_\_\_ Not sure

K1d Why do some migrants come into this country illegally? (Select one)

- They are too lazy to get the right paper work
- Because of complex or expensive migration procedures
- \_\_\_\_ They don't care if they break the law
- Not sure

#### K1e How has migration affected the crime rate in this country? (Select one)

- \_\_\_\_ Migrants have caused the crime rate to go up significantly
- Migrants have caused the crime rate to go up slightly
- The crime rate is not impacted negatively by migration
- Not sure

# K1f What do you think is the most common behaviour of migrant workers who have suffered abuse or violence? (Select one)

31 Note that this term was used in the survey to ensure understanding of concept among the public surveyed. It is not condoned by the ILO or UN Women, which singularly use the term 'domestic worker'.

- They quietly accept it
- They seek help from the police, government, or their embassy
- They seek help from non-government organizations or fellow migrant workers
- They often don't report it because they are afraid
  - Not sure

# Attitude

# K2 To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following statements? (Select one answer per row)

		Don't agree at all	Don't really agree	Agree to some extent	Agree completely	Not sure
A	Migrant workers should not receive the same pay and benefits as local workers					
В	Our country does not need low skill migrant workers from other countries					
С	Migrant workers are a drain on the national economy					
D	We should make it more difficult for migrants to come and work in this country					
E	Migrants commit a high number of the crimes in this country					
F	Migrant workers should not receive the same work conditions as local workers					
G	Migrant workers should not be able to join a union					
Н	The influx of migrant workers threatens our country's culture and heritage					
Ι	Migrants with illegal status who have broken the law should not expect to have any rights at work					
J	Migrant workers who end up being exploited only have themselves to blame					
К	Migrant workers should not be offered a path to citizenship under any circumstances					
L	Migrant workers have poor work ethics, you cannot trust them					

K3 There are currently discussions around various issues that affect women migrant workers. Which of the following would you support or not support? (Select one answer per row)

	Support	Not support	No opinion
A Migrant women having access to shelters if they experience violence			
B Pregnant migrant workers being allowed to work			
C Providing the same labour rights to migrant domestic workers as other workers			
D Offering maternity leave to migrant women			
E Women migrant workers being allowed to bring their children with them when migrating			
F Equal wages for local and migrant women who are doing the same job			
G Stronger law enforcement to reduce violence against migrant women			
H Improved labour conditions for domestic migrant workers			
I Improved labour conditions for sex workers			
J Decriminalization of sex work			
K Migrant women can marry local citizens if they want to			
L Recognition of care work as a formal profession			

### Practice

K4a Have you ever spoken out against someone who was saying offensive things about migrants in this country? (Select one)

Yes

No, but if someone did, I would speak out



Not sure

K4b Have you ever helped a migrant integrate into your community or get ahead in their work? (Select one)

Yes

No, but if I had an opportunity I would

No, and it's unlikely

Not sure

# K4c In the past 12 months, have you ever spoken to friends or colleagues about some positive contribution migrant workers make to our country (Select one)

Yes
No but I think I will at some point
No
Don't remember

K4d Your friend is thinking of employing a migrant domestic worker to help out in their household and asks for your advice about the cost for work permit, which of the following would you recommend? (Select one)

To pay for the work permit
Deduct PART of the work permit fee from the domestic worker's salary
Deduct ALL of the work permit fee from the domestic worker's salary
Don't know

K4e You noticed an employer in your community who is employing migrant child workers, what would you do? (Select one)

Report it to the police or an NGO and follow up to make sure they did something about it

Just report it to the authorities

Probably do nothing

Not sure what I would do

K5 Some people would suggest that some migrant workers adapt to living in your country better than others. What would you say is the general perception about migrant workers from the following groups in terms of how well they adapt and blend in? (Select one answer per row)

Migrant category	Don't adapt	Adapt to some extent	Adapt very well	Not sure
A Men migrant workers				
B Women migrant workers				
C Migrant workers with legal status				
D Migrant workers without current legal status				
E Younger migrant workers				
F Older migrant workers				
G Migrant workers from South East Asia				
I Migrant workers from South Asia				

K6 If someone made an offensive comment about migrant workers, and it made you feel very uncomfortable, would it be acceptable to openly disagree with the person? (Select one)

|--|

Yes, most of the time

Sometimes yes, sometimes not

Most of the time no

K7 If someone made an offensive comment about migrant workers, which of the following is considered normal behaviour if you felt very uncomfortable hearing the comment? (Select one)

- Tell them you disagree
  - I may disagree but depends on the situation
  - Better to keep quiet

### Media

M1 Which of the following media and devices do you own or subscribe to? (Select all that apply)

	Television	PC or laptop
	Radio	Smart phone or tablet
	Newspaper	Regular mobile phone
	Magazine	None of the above
$\square$	Internet	

M2 Which of the following media do you regularly watch, listen to or read? (Select all that apply)

Television	Magazine
Radio	Internet
Newspaper	None of the above

M3 For news, what media do you follow or subscribe to on a regular basis? (Select all that apply)

Don't follow news regularly	Podcasts
International newspapers (print / online)	Facebook
National newspapers (print / online	YouTube
News magazine subscription (print / online)	Twitter
Mainstream television news	Other social media sites
Cable news	Mobile news Apps / Chatbot
Online TV subscriptions	Free streaming from various websites
Mainstream radio	Blogs and e-forums
Radio talk shows	Other (SPECIFY)

M4 Which of the following social media sites do you subscribe to, if any? (Select all that apply)

Facebook	Mixi	
Google+	Line	
Instagram (IG)	Gree	
YouTube	Mobage	
Twitter	Other	
LinkedIn	None	GO TO M6

M5 Which of the following activities do you do regularly on your social media sites? (Select all that apply)

Searching	Liking, sharing and commenting
Reading	Competition and games
Chatting	Watching videos
Connecting and networking	Other
Downloading	

M6 Which of the following chat services do you use, if any? (Select all that apply)

Google (Hang Out)	Viber
Facebook (Messenger)	WeChat
WhatsApp	BlackBerry Messenger (BBM)
Line	Other
Skype	None
Yahoo	

### **Demographics**

D1 Which of the following best describes your current level of education? (Select one)

Completed elementary school or less
Completed junior high school
Completed senior high school

- Completed vocational education
- Diploma, university or higher education

### D2 What is your main activity at present time? (Select one)

	Employed full time or part time		
	Self-employed, seasonal or piecem	eal work	ς.
	Unemployed, looking for work		GO TO D6
	Home duties		GO TO D6
	Studying		GO TO D6
	Other		GO TO D6
D3	In which of the following sectors do	o you wo	ork? (Select one)
	Agriculture, forestry and fishing		Transportation and storage
	Mining		Finance, real estate, and business services
	Manufacturing		Community, social, personal services, food services
	Electricity, gas and water supply		Government
	Construction		Communication/mass media
	Retail and wholesale		Others
D4	Which of the following best describ Management level	es your	current position? (Select one)
	Supervisor with subordinates		
	Office worker		
	Manual labour		
	Self employed		
	Are you in a position where you dir ployment of people?	ectly er	nploy people or make decisions regarding
	Yes No		
D6	Do you currently employ a domest	ic migra	nt worker in your household? (Select one)
	Yes full time		
	Yes part time		
	No GO TO D9		

D7 Which of the following do you currently provide to your domestic worker? (Select all that apply)

	Paid holidays or ar	nnual leave							
	Paid sick leave								
	One-day off per we	eek							
	Paid maternity leave								
	Overtime pay								
	Access to her mob	ile phone out of work hou	irs						
	Ability to hold and	keep her own passport							
	Freedom to leave t	he house after work hour:	s and on day off						
	None								
<b>D00</b>	What is your doma	actic work or's ourrant m	onthly colory?						
Doa		estic worker's current mo	onthing Salary :						
D8b	Specify currency?	(Select one)							
	Thai baht	Malaysian ringgit	Japanese yen	Singapore dollars					
D9 V	Which of the follow	ing best describes the fir	nancial situation of your	household? (Select one)					
	Money is sometim	es not enough to buy food	d						
	Money is enough f	or food, but sometimes n	ot enough to buy new clo	othes					
	Money is enough t refrigerator	o buy food and new cloth	es, but not enough to bu	y a new television or					
	Money is enough t	o buy home appliances, b	out we can't buy a new car						
	Money is enough for everything but not to buy a house or apartment								
	We could afford to	buy a house or apartmen	nt if we needed						
D10	Which of the follow	ving best describes your	ethnicity? (Select one)						
Thail	and	Malaysia	Singapore	Japan					
	Thai	Malay	Chinese	Japanese					
	Other	Chinese	 Malay	Other					
		 Indian	Indian						

Other

### Thank you for your time and cooperation

 $\square$ 

Other

# Appendix II. KAP results tables

# Thailand

Thailand		Sex		Locati	on	Age			
Knowledge questions	Answers	Male n=517 (%)	Female n=517 (%)	Urban n=670 (%)	Rural n=364 (%)	18-24 n=151 (%)	25-39 n=393 (%)	40+ n=490 (%)	Total
K1A Do	Yes	44	39	46	34	49	41	40	42
domestic workers, maids, in the country	Domestic workers are not workers	10	8	7	12	16	11	5	9
have the same work benefits as other workers?	No, domestic workers don't have the same work benefits	19	15	17	18	8	17	20	17
	Not sure	28	38	31	36	27	32	35	33
K1B Does this	No	16	14	16	13	19	15	14	15
country have a need for more workers?	Yes, but mainly for high skilled jobs like doctors and lawyers	19	23	20	23	38	22	15	21
	Yes, but mainly for low skilled workers doing routine manual work	45	43	48	37	23	40	53	44
	Not sure	21	20	17	28	20	23	18	21
K1C What effect do migrant	An overall positive net effect	40	24	35	27	27	34	32	32
workers have on the national economy in this	An overall negative net effect	32	43	39	36	38	32	42	38
country?	No impact at all	11	12	10	15	10	15	10	12
	Not sure	17	22	17	23	26	20	16	19
K1D Why do some migrants	They are too lazy to get the right paper work	10	6	8	9	17	9	5	8
come into this country illegally?	Because of complex or expensive migration procedures	67	70	72	61	57	69	70	68
	They don't care if they break the law	16	17	15	20	17	14	19	17
	Not sure	8	7	6	9	9	8	6	7
K1E How has migration affected the	Migrants have caused the crime rate to go up significantly	36	42	42	34	28	35	46	39
crime rate in this country?	Migrants have caused the crime rate to go up slightly	37	38	39	35	36	39	37	38
	The crime rate is not impacted negatively by migration	13	12	11	14	19	13	10	13
	Not sure	13	9	8	17	17	13	7	11

Thailand		Sex		Locati	on	Age			
Knowledge questions	Answers	Male n=517 (%)	Female n=517 (%)	Urban n=670 (%)	Rural n=364 (%)	18-24 n=151 (%)	25-39 n=393 (%)	40+ n=490 (%)	Total
K1F What do	They quietly accept it	15	12	15	12	18	14	12	14
you think is the most common behaviour of migrant workers who have	They seek help from the police, government, or their embassy	18	13	16	14	21	17	13	15
suffered abuse or violence?	They seek help from non-government organizations or fellow migrant workers	20	20	22	17	19	20	21	20
	They often don't report it because they are afraid	31	39	34	36	21	33	41	35
	Not sure	16	15	13	21	21	17	14	16

Thailand		Sex		Locati	on	Age			
Attitude questions	Answers	Male n=517 (%)	Female n=517 (%)	Urban n=670 (%)	Rural n=364 (%)	18-24 n=151 (%)	25-39 n=393 (%)	40+ n=490 (%)	Total
K2 To what	Don't agree at all	14	11	13	13	16	13	12	13
extent do you agree or	Don't really agree	31	29	28	33	33	29	30	30
disagree with the following	Agree to some extent	38	40	39	39	34	40	40	39
statements?	Agree completely	12	15	16	9	7	13	16	13
Migrant workers should not receive the same pay and benefits as local workers	Not sure	6	5	4	7	10	6	4	5
K2 To what	Don't agree at all	11	4	8	8	9	9	7	8
extent do you agree or	Don't really agree	35	32	36	29	29	33	36	34
disagree with the following	Agree to some extent	37	40	40	36	41	38	38	38
statements? Our	Agree completely	11	18	14	17	11	15	16	15
country does not need low skill migrant workers from other countries	Not sure	6	5	3	10	11	6	4	6
K2 To what	Don't agree at all	13	5	10	6	9	9	8	9
extent do you agree or	Don't really agree	43	43	44	43	35	43	46	43
disagree with the following	Agree to some extent	29	30	30	28	31	31	28	29
statements?	Agree completely	8	14	10	12	11	10	12	11
Migrant workers are a drain on the national economy	Not sure	8	8	6	11	15	8	5	8

Thailand		Sex		Locati	on	Age			
Attitude questions	Answers	Male n=517 (%)	Female n=517 (%)	Urban n=670 (%)	Rural n=364 (%)	18-24 n=151 (%)	25-39 n=393 (%)	40+ n=490 (%)	Total
K2 To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following statements? We should make it more difficult for migrants to come and work in this country	Don't agree at all	10	4	7	7	11	8	5	7
	Don't really agree	39	39	39	39	33	34	45	39
	Agree to some extent	31	31	30	31	28	36	27	31
	Agree completely	14	18	17	14	15	15	17	16
	Not sure	6	8	6	9	14	7	5	7
K2 To what	Don't agree at all	5	2	3	5	7	4	3	4
extent do you agree or disagree with the following statements? Migrants commit a high number of the crimes in this country	Don't really agree	20	11	18	12	13	16	16	16
	Agree to some extent	47	51	49	50	46	51	49	49
	Agree completely	18	28	25	18	19	21	25	23
	Not sure	10	8	6	14	16	8	7	9
K2 To what	Don't agree at all	9	9	10	8	10	8	10	9
extent do you agree or disagree with the following	Don't really agree	44	51	48	46	36	43	54	47
	Agree to some extent	33	24	28	29	34	31	25	29
statements?	Agree completely	7	10	8	9	9	10	8	9
Migrant workers should not receive the same work conditions as local workers	Not sure	7	6	5	9	13	8	4	6
K2 To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following statements? Migrant workers should not be able to join a union	Don't agree at all	9	8	8	10	10	10	7	9
	Don't really agree	43	42	43	43	38	42	45	43
	Agree to some extent	31	30	32	27	26	31	32	30
	Agree completely	11	12	11	12	13	9	13	11
	Not sure	6	8	6	9	14	9	4	7
K2 To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following statements? The influx of migrant workers threatens our country's culture and heritage	Don't agree at all	7	3	5	6	8	5	5	5
	Don't really agree	32	28	30	30	27	32	30	30
	Agree to some extent	39	45	42	41	34	41	45	42
	Agree completely	14	18	17	14	17	15	17	16
	Not sure	7	7	5	10	14	8	4	7

Thailand		Sex		Locati	on	Age			
Attitude questions	Answers	Male n=517 (%)	Female n=517 (%)	Urban n=670 (%)	Rural n=364 (%)	18-24 n=151 (%)	25-39 n=393 (%)	40+ n=490 (%)	Total
K2 To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following statements? Migrants with illegal status who have broken the law should not expect to have any rights at work	Don't agree at all	6	4	4	7	7	8	3	5
	Don't really agree	18	10	14	15	13	15	14	14
	Agree to some extent	33	37	36	34	34	31	38	35
	Agree completely	38	44	43	36	33	40	44	41
	Not sure	5	5	3	8	13	7	2	5
K2 To what	Don't agree at all	5	4	3	7	7	6	2	4
extent do you agree or disagree with the following statements? Migrant workers who end up being exploited only have themselves to blame	Don't really agree	28	32	30	30	23	28	33	30
	Agree to some extent	47	40	45	40	37	45	44	43
	Agree completely	12	15	15	12	12	14	14	14
	Not sure	9	9	7	12	21	7	7	9
K2 To what	Don't agree at all	5	4	4	6	8	6	3	5
extent do you agree or disagree with the following statements? Migrant workers should not be offered a path to citizenship under any circumstances	Don't really agree	19	17	17	20	20	20	15	18
	Agree to some extent	40	39	40	37	34	37	43	39
	Agree completely	29	34	33	29	20	30	37	32
	Not sure	7	7	5	10	18	7	3	7
K2 To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following statements? Migrant workers have poor work ethics, you cannot trust them	Don't agree at all	5	3	4	4	7	5	2	4
	Don't really agree	26	27	30	20	23	26	28	27
	Agree to some extent	50	46	46	51	40	46	52	48
	Agree completely	10	15	12	13	10	14	12	12
	Not sure	10	10	8	12	20	10	6	10
Thailand		Sex		Locati	on	Age			
---	---	----------------------	------------------------	-----------------------	-----------------------	-----------------------	-----------------------	--	-------
Practice questions	Answers	Male n=517 (%)	Female n=517 (%)	Urban n=670 (%)	Rural n=364 (%)	18-24 n=151 (%)	25-39 n=393 (%)	40+ n=490 (%)	Total
K4A Have you	Yes	23	19	23	17	20	21	3 n=490   1 211   7 388   1 344   0 8   0 28   4 466   5 188   3 333   5 233   6 399   8 5   4 411   5 322   9 9	21
ever spoken out against someone who was saying	No, but if someone did, I would speak out	37	37	36	38	31	37	38	37
offensive things about migrants	No, and it's unlikely	30	36	34	32	34	31	34	33
in this country?	Not sure	10	9	7	14	15	10	8	10
K4B Have you	Yes	32	25	31	25	27	30	28	29
ever helped a migrant integrate into	No, but if I had an opportunity I would	43	47	44	47	45	44	46	45
your community or get ahead in	No, and it's unlikely	15	17	16	15	13	15	18	15
their work?	Not sure	10	11	9	14	15	11	8	11
K4C In the past	Yes	35	30	33	32	30	33	33	33
12 months, have you ever spoken to friends or	No but I think I will at some point	29	20	26	21	25	25	23	24
colleagues about some positive	No	31	42	36	38	33	35	39	36
country?	Don't remember	6	8	6	10	12	8	5	7
K4D Your friend is thinking of	To pay for the work permit	46	40	46	38	46	44	41	43
employing a migrant domestic worker to help out in their household	Deduct PART of the work permit fee from the domestic worker's salary	26	30	27	29	21	25	32	28
and asks for your advice about the cost for work permit, which of the following	Deduct ALL of the work permit fee from the domestic worker's salary	7	10	9	7	5	9	9	8
of the following would you recommend?	Don't know	22	20	18	26	28	22	18	21
K4E You noticed an employer in your community who is employing	Report it to the police or an NGO and follow up to make sure they did something about it	30	33	33	30	36	33	29	32
migrant child workers, what would you do?	Just report it to the authorities	37	37	40	33	30	37	40	37
	Probably do nothing	11	5	8	8	11	7	8	8
	Not sure what I would do	22	25	20	30	23	23	23	23

## Malaysia

Malaysia		Sex		Locati	on	Age			
Knowledge questions	Answers	Male n=504 (%)	Female n=504 (%)	Urban n=672 (%)	Rural n=337 (%)	18-24 n=437 (%)	25-39 n=443 (%)	40+ n=394 (%)	Total
K1A Do	Yes	39	34	38	33	43	38	32	37
domestic workers, maids, in the country	Domestic workers are not workers	4	6	5	6	6	4	6	5
have the same work benefits as other workers?	No, domestic workers don't have the same work benefits	26	25	27	24	16	23	33	26
workers.	Not sure	30	36	31	37	34	35	30	33
K1B Does this	No	15	14	14	15	13	14	15	14
country have a need for more workers?	Yes, but mainly for high skilled jobs like doctors and lawyers	19	20	20	19	26	24	12	20
	Yes, but mainly for low skilled workers doing routine manual work	54	52	53	53	42	47	65	53
	Not sure	13	13	13	13	19	14	8	13
K1C What effect do migrant	An overall positive net effect	34	26	30	28	27	32	29	30
workers have on the national economy in this	An overall negative net effect	45	49	49	44	42	44	53	47
country?	No impact at all	5	4	4	6	5	5	4	5
	Not sure	16	21	17	22	27	20	14	19
K1D Why do some migrants	They are too lazy to get the right paper work	7	4	5	5	9	6	3	5
come into this country illegally?	Because of complex or expensive migration procedures	68	71	73	63	67	70	70	69
	They don't care if they break the law	18	18	16	21	12	18	21	18
	Not sure	8	7	6	11	12	7	7	8
K1E How has migration affected the	Migrants have caused the crime rate to go up significantly	39	50	46	42	37	45	47	45
crime rate in this country?	Migrants have caused the crime rate to go up slightly	42	35	40	35	38	34	43	38
	The crime rate is not impacted negatively by migration	10	6	7	11	12	10	4	8
	Not sure	10	9	7	13	13	10	6	9

Malaysia		Sex		Locati	on	Age			
Knowledge questions	Answers	Male n=504 (%)	Female n=504 (%)	Urban n=672 (%)	Rural n=337 (%)	18-24 n=437 (%)	25-39 n=443 (%)	40+ n=394 (%)	Total
K1F What do	They quietly accept it	10	12	11	12	13	10	13	11
you think is the most common behaviour of migrant	They seek help from the police, government, or their embassy	17	11	15	12	10	16	13	14
workers who have suffered abuse or violence?	They seek help from non-government organizations or fellow migrant workers	20	18	18	20	21	22	15	19
	They often don't report it because they are afraid	45	49	47	47	43	43	53	47
	Not sure	8	10	9	10	13	10	6	9

Malaysia		Sex		Locati	on	Age			
Attitude questions	Answers	Male n=504 (%)	Female n=504 (%)	Urban n=672 (%)	Rural n=337 (%)	18-24 n=437 (%)	25-39 n=443 (%)	40+ n=394 (%)	Total
K2 To what extent	Don't agree at all	9	9	8	10	13	9	7	9
do you agree or disagree with	Don't really agree	28	31	31	24	35	29	27	29
the following statements?	Agree to some extent	37	37	37	38	32	33	43	37
Migrant workers	Agree completely	23	19	21	21	15	23	21	21
should not receive the same pay and benefits as local workers	Not sure	4	4	3	7	6	6	2	4
K2 To what extent	Don't agree at all	7	6	7	5	6	5	8	6
do you agree or disagree with	Don't really agree	32	33	34	28	37	32	31	32
the following statements? Our	Agree to some extent	34	37	35	36	33	34	38	35
country does not	Agree completely	23	19	20	23	15	23	21	21
need low skill migrant workers from other countries	Not sure	5	5	4	7	9	6	2	5
K2 To what extent	Don't agree at all	7	5	6	6	8	5	6	6
do you agree or disagree with	Don't really agree	35	41	41	33	31	39	41	38
the following statements?	Agree to some extent	34	32	32	35	33	31	35	33
Migrant workers	Agree completely	16	12	13	16	12	15	15	14
are a drain on the national economy	Not sure	8	10	8	10	16	10	4	9

Malaysia		Sex		Locati	on	Age			
Attitude questions	Answers	Male n=504 (%)	Female n=504 (%)	Urban n=672 (%)	Rural n=337 (%)	18-24 n=437 (%)	25-39 n=443 (%)	40+ n=394 (%)	Total
K2 To what extent	Don't agree at all	4	4	4	5	5	3	6	4
do you agree or disagree with	Don't really agree	21	21	23	16	24	20	20	21
the following statements? We	Agree to some extent	40	39	41	37	42	37	42	40
should make it	Agree completely	28	30	27	33	23	31	29	29
more difficult for migrants to come and work in this country	Not sure	7	6	5	10	6	10	3	6
K2 To what extent	Don't agree at all	4	3	4	3	5	5	2	4
do you agree or disagree with	Don't really agree	30	30	30	29	29	26	35	30
the following statements?	Agree to some extent	39	42	41	39	44	39	41	41
Migrants commit	Agree completely	18	18	18	18	15	20	17	18
a high number of the crimes in this country	Not sure	9	7	7	11	8	10	5	8
K2 To what extent	Don't agree at all	5	5	5	5	8	3	6	5
do you agree or disagree with	Don't really agree	17	19	22	11	22	18	17	18
the following statements?	Agree to some extent	41	42	39	46	37	41	44	41
Migrant workers	Agree completely	33	31	31	34	25	34	32	32
should not receive the same work conditions as local workers	Not sure	4	3	3	4	8	5	1	4
K2 To what extent	Don't agree at all	3	5	4	4	6	3	4	4
do you agree or disagree with	Don't really agree	22	25	25	20	26	22	24	24
the following statements?	Agree to some extent	37	33	35	35	37	34	35	35
Migrant workers	Agree completely	31	28	28	32	21	32	31	30
should not be able to join a union	Not sure	7	9	7	8	10	9	6	8
K2 To what extent	Don't agree at all	5	4	4	6	9	4	4	5
do you agree or disagree with	Don't really agree	24	23	25	21	27	21	24	23
the following statements? The	Agree to some extent	41	38	39	41	41	39	41	40
influx of migrant	Agree completely	27	30	29	27	17	31	30	28
workers threatens our country's culture and heritage	Not sure	4	5	4	5	6	6	1	4
K2 To what extent	Don't agree at all	1	1	1	1	2	1	0	1
do you agree or disagree with	Don't really agree	8	8	10	5	7	8	9	8
the following statements?	Agree to some extent	39	41	38	44	40	39	41	40
Migrants with	Agree completely	48	45	46	47	44	47	46	46
illegal status who have broken the law should not expect to have any rights at work	Not sure	4	5	6	4	8	5	4	5

Malaysia		Sex		Locati	on	Age			
Attitude questions	Answers	Male n=504 (%)	Female n=504 (%)	Urban n=672 (%)	Rural n=337 (%)	18-24 n=437 (%)	25-39 n=443 (%)	40+ n=394 (%)	Total
K2 To what extent	Don't agree at all	4	6	5	4	6	3	6	5
do you agree or disagree with	Don't really agree	27	27	29	23	28	23	31	27
the following statements?	Agree to some extent	39	36	35	41	39	37	36	37
Migrant workers	Agree completely	25	20	23	21	16	23	25	22
who end up being exploited only have themselves to blame	Not sure	6	12	8	11	11	14	2	9
K2 To what extent	Don't agree at all	2	2	3	1	5	2	1	2
do you agree or disagree with	Don't really agree	14	15	15	13	16	14	15	15
the following statements?	Agree to some extent	34	36	34	37	36	36	33	35
Migrant workers	Agree completely	46	41	44	43	34	43	50	44
should not be offered a path to citizenship under any circumstances	Not sure	4	6	4	7	8	6	2	5
K2 To what extent	Don't agree at all	8	4	6	6	9	6	5	6
do you agree or disagree with	Don't really agree	42	41	44	37	40	38	46	42
the following statements?	Agree to some extent	27	31	27	35	30	30	29	29
Migrant workers	Agree completely	16	15	17	13	9	16	17	15
have poor work ethics, you cannot trust them	Not sure	7	9	7	10	12	11	4	8

Malaysia		Sex		Locatio	on	Age			
Practice questions	Answers	Male n=504 (%)	Female n=504 (%)	Urban n=672 (%)	Rural n=337 (%)	18-24 n=437 (%)	25-39 n=443 (%)	40+ n=394 (%)	Total
K4A Have you ever	Yes	23	20	22	20	21	23	20	21
spoken out against someone who was saying offensive things about migrants	No, but if someone did, I would speak out	51	47	50	48	46	47	53	49
in this country?	No, and it's unlikely	11	13	13	10	11	14	11	12
	Not sure	15	20	15	22	21	17	17	18
K4B Have you ever	Yes	27	17	21	23	19	22	23	22
helped a migrant integrate into your community or get ahead in their work?	No, but if I had an opportunity I would	35	36	38	29	36	36	35	35
	No, and it's unlikely	22	26	23	26	22	26	23	24
	Not sure	16	22	18	22	23	17	19	19

Malaysia		Sex		Locatio	on	Age			
Practice questions	Answers	Male n=504 (%)	Female n=504 (%)	Urban n=672 (%)	Rural n=337 (%)	18-24 n=437 (%)	25-39 n=443 (%)	40+ n=394 (%)	Total
K4C In the past 12	Yes	43	29	38	32	32	38	35	36
months, have you ever spoken to friends or colleagues	No but I think I will at some point	22	17	19	21	18	17	22	19
about some positive contribution migrant	No	24	43	34	32	33	32	35	34
workers make to our country?	Don't remember	12	11	10	15	17	13	8	11
K4D Your friend is thinking of employing	To pay for the work permit	38	27	33	30	27	32	35	32
a migrant domestic worker to help out in their household and asks for your advice about the cost for work permit, which of	Deduct PART of the work permit fee from the domestic worker's salary	35	42	41	33	37	37	40	38
the following would you recommend?	Deduct ALL of the work permit fee from the domestic worker's salary	6	6	6	6	4	7	5	6
	Don't know	22	25	20	31	33	24	20	24
K4E You noticed an employer in your community who is employing migrant child workers, what would you do?	Report it to the police or an NGO and follow up to make sure they did something about it	56	53	54	54	55	54	54	54
	Just report it to the authorities	24	27	27	24	25	25	27	26
	Probably do nothing	6	5	7	3	5	7	4	6
	Not sure what I would do	14	16	13	19	15	14	15	15

## Singapore

Singapore	Singapore			Location				
Knowledge questions	Answers	Male n=502 (%)	Female n=503 (%)	Urban n=1,005 (%)	18-24 n=432 (%)	25-39 n=321 (%)	40+ n=349 (%)	Total
K1A Do	Yes	23	15	19	25	23	15	19
domestic workers, maids, in the	Domestic workers are not workers	6	5	6	5	6	6	6
country have the same work benefits as	No, domestic workers don't have the same work benefits	50	51	51	47	50	52	51
other workers?	Not sure	21	29	25	24	21	27	25

Singapore		Sex		Location	Age			
Knowledge questions	Answers	Male n=502 (%)	Female n=503 (%)	Urban n=1,005 (%)	18-24 n=432 (%)	25-39 n=321 (%)	40+ n=349 (%)	Total
K1B Does this	No	10	9	9	9	10	9	9
country have a need for more workers?	Yes, but mainly for high skilled jobs like doctors and lawyers	16	13	14	17	15	13	14
	Yes, but mainly for low skilled workers doing routine manual work	61	56	59	57	56	61	59
	Not sure	14	23	18	17	19	18	18
K1C What	An overall positive net effect	60	55	58	71	58	55	58
effect do migrant	An overall negative net effect	19	16	17	10	17	19	17
workers have on the national	No impact at all	7	8	7	5	9	7	7
economy in this country?	Not sure	14	21	18	15	17	19	18
K1D Why do some migrants	They are too lazy to get the right paper work	3	3	3	5	4	2	3
come into this country illegally?	Because of complex or expensive migration procedures	74	73	74	86	76	70	74
	They don't care if they break the law	12	11	11	5	11	13	11
	Not sure	11	13	12	4	9	16	12
K1E How has migration affected the	Migrants have caused the crime rate to go up significantly	13	12	12	12	13	12	12
crime rate in this country?	Migrants have caused the crime rate to go up slightly	37	44	40	34	40	42	40
	The crime rate is not impacted negatively by migration	36	26	31	39	30	29	31
	Not sure	15	19	17	15	17	18	17
K1F What do	They quietly accept it	20	16	18	25	23	13	18
you think is the most common behaviour of migrant	They seek help from the police, government, or their embassy	18	16	17	8	18	19	17
workers who have suffered abuse or violence?	They seek help from non- government organizations or fellow migrant workers	19	18	18	14	15	21	18
violence:	They often don't report it because they are afraid	37	42	40	47	38	39	40
	Not sure	6	8	7	6	6	8	7

Singapore		Sex		Location	Age			
Attitude questions	Answers	Male n=502 (%)	Female n=503 (%)	Urban n=1005 (%)	18-24 n=432 (%)	25-39 n=321 (%)	40+ n=349 (%)	Total
K2 To what extent do	Don't agree at all	10	11	10	13	13	8	10
you agree or disagree with the following	Don't really agree	24	24	24	34	23	22	24
statements? Migrant workers should not	Agree to some extent	44	46	45	39	42	48	45
receive the same pay	Agree completely	18	13	15	8	17	16	15
and benefits as local workers	Not sure	4	7	6	6	5	6	6
K2 To what extent do	Don't agree at all	26	25	26	32	28	22	26
you agree or disagree with the following	Don't really agree	42	46	44	40	40	48	44
statements? Our country does not	Agree to some extent	19	18	18	14	19	19	18
need low skill migrant	Agree completely	10	5	7	7	7	7	7
workers from other countries	Not sure	3	7	5	7	6	4	5
K2 To what extent do	Don't agree at all	18	16	17	21	18	15	17
you agree or disagree with the following	Don't really agree	43	48	46	52	43	46	46
statements? Migrant workers are a drain on	Agree to some extent	25	20	23	14	23	25	23
the national economy	Agree completely	8	6	7	6	8	7	7
	Not sure	6	10	8	7	8	7	8
K2 To what extent do	Don't agree at all	16	13	14	17	16	13	14
you agree or disagree with the following	Don't really agree	34	35	34	38	30	36	34
statements? We should make it more difficult	Agree to some extent	33	34	34	28	32	36	34
for migrants to come	Agree completely	12	11	12	11	14	11	12
and work in this country	Not sure	5	7	6	6	8	5	6
K2 To what extent do	Don't agree at all	18	13	15	24	16	13	15
you agree or disagree with the following	Don't really agree	37	35	36	36	32	38	36
statements? Migrants commit a high number	Agree to some extent	27	32	30	19	33	31	30
of the crimes in this	Agree completely	9	5	7	7	8	7	7
country	Not sure	9	15	12	15	12	11	12
K2 To what extent do	Don't agree at all	18	16	17	24	18	14	17
you agree or disagree with the following	Don't really agree	39	44	42	44	37	44	42
statements? Migrant workers should not	Agree to some extent	27	22	25	17	24	27	25
receive the same work	Agree completely	11	11	11	6	14	11	11
conditions as local workers	Not sure	6	7	7	9	8	5	7

Singapore		Sex		Location	Age			
Attitude questions	Answers	Male n=502 (%)	Female n=503 (%)	Urban n=1005 (%)	18-24 n=432 (%)	25-39 n=321 (%)	40+ n=349 (%)	Total
K2 To what extent do	Don't agree at all	14	19	16	26	18	13	16
you agree or disagree with the following	Don't really agree	38	36	37	42	37	35	37
statements? Migrant workers should not be	Agree to some extent	28	22	25	11	24	30	25
able to join a union	Agree completely	12	9	11	7	13	10	11
	Not sure	9	15	12	15	9	12	12
K2 To what extent do	Don't agree at all	13	9	11	16	13	9	11
you agree or disagree with the following	Don't really agree	30	28	29	32	31	27	29
statements? The influx of migrant workers	Agree to some extent	32	43	37	27	29	45	37
threatens our country's	Agree completely	19	14	16	17	18	15	16
culture and heritage	Not sure	6	6	6	8	8	4	6
K2 To what extent do	Don't agree at all	6	4	5	7	6	4	5
you agree or disagree with the following	Don't really agree	14	16	15	20	13	15	15
statements? Migrants with illegal status who	Agree to some extent	33	38	36	39	39	33	36
have broken the law	Agree completely	42	36	39	28	37	42	39
should not expect to have any rights at work	Not sure	4	7	6	6	5	6	6
K2 To what extent do	Don't agree at all	15	20	17	22	17	17	17
you agree or disagree with the following	Don't really agree	36	36	36	32	36	37	36
statements? Migrant workers who end up	Agree to some extent	29	25	27	28	26	27	27
being exploited only	Agree completely	15	11	13	8	14	13	13
have themselves to blame	Not sure	6	9	7	10	8	6	7
K2 To what extent do	Don't agree at all	11	8	9	19	12	5	10
you agree or disagree with the following	Don't really agree	31	32	31	33	31	31	31
statements? Migrant workers should not	Agree to some extent	33	33	33	23	32	37	33
be offered a path to	Agree completely	18	17	18	14	16	20	18
citizenship under any circumstances	Not sure	7	10	8	11	10	7	9
K2 To what extent do	Don't agree at all	19	18	18	25	22	14	18
you agree or disagree with the following	Don't really agree	40	44	42	44	39	43	42
statements? Migrant workers have poor	Agree to some extent	27	21	24	20	21	27	24
work ethics, you	Agree completely	9	7	8	4	10	8	8
cannot trust them	Not sure	6	11	9	8	9	8	9

Singapore		Sex		Location	Age			
Practice questions	Answers	Male n=502 (%)	Female n=503 (%)	Urban n=1005 (%)	18-24 n=432 (%)	25-39 n=321 (%)	40+ n=349 (%)	Total
K4A Have you ever	Yes	20	12	16	21	17	14	16
spoken out against someone who was saying offensive	No, but if someone did, I would speak out	38	37	38	43	40	36	38
things about migrants in this	No, and it's unlikely	33	35	34	28	32	37	34
country?	Not sure	9	16	12	8	12	13	12
K4B Have you ever	Yes	21	17	19	21	19	18	19
helped a migrant integrate into your community or get	No, but if I had an opportunity I would	45	40	43	46	45	41	43
ahead in their work?	No, and it's unlikely	22	30	26	21	23	29	26
	Not sure	12	13	13	13	13	12	13
K4C In the past	Yes	35	26	30	38	31	28	30
12 months, have you ever spoken to friends or	No but I think I will at some point	27	25	26	28	32	22	26
colleagues about some positive	No	29	36	32	21	28	37	32
contribution migrant workers make to our country?	Don't remember	9	13	11	13	9	12	11
K4D Your friend is thinking of	To pay for the work permit	49	48	49	45	52	48	49
employing a migrant domestic worker to help out in their household and asks for your	Deduct PART of the work permit fee from the domestic worker's salary	23	25	24	29	24	22	24
advice about the cost for work permit, which of the following would you recommend?	Deduct ALL of the work permit fee from the domestic worker's salary	5	5	5	5	6	5	5
	Don't know	23	23	23	21	18	26	23
K4E You noticed an employer in your community who is employing migrant	Report it to the police or an NGO and follow up to make sure they did something about it	32	28	30	36	35	26	30
child workers, what would you do?	Just report it to the authorities	43	42	43	35	40	46	43
	Probably do nothing	12	9	10	8	13	9	10
	Not sure what I would do	14	21	17	22	12	19	17

## Japan

Japan		Sex		Locati	on	Age			
Knowledge questions	Answers	Male n=526 (%)	Female n=525 (%)	Urban n=698 (%)	Rural n=353 (%)	18-24 n=415 (%)	25-39 n=336 (%)	40+ n=600 (%)	Total
K1A Do	Yes	12	6	11	4	8	11	8	9
domestic workers, maids, in the country	Domestic workers are not workers	6	4	5	5	4	7	4	5
have the same work benefits as other workers?	No, domestic workers don't have the same work benefits	31	31	31	31	29	34	30	31
	Not sure	51	59	52	59	59	49	57	55
K1B Does this	No	17	11	15	12	10	11	16	14
country have a need for more workers?	Yes, but mainly for high skilled jobs like doctors and lawyers	16	16	16	17	22	24	10	16
	Yes, but mainly for low skilled workers doing routine manual work	37	28	34	29	29	30	34	32
	Not sure	30	45	35	42	39	35	39	38
K1C What effect do migrant	An overall positive net effect	38	30	35	32	41	37	31	34
workers have on the national economy in this	An overall negative net effect	27	23	24	26	17	24	27	25
country?	No impact at all	7	4	5	6	4	7	5	6
	Not sure	29	43	36	37	38	33	37	36
K1D Why do some migrants	They are too lazy to get the right paper work	12	11	12	11	16	12	11	12
come into this country illegally?	Because of complex or expensive migration procedures	43	43	42	44	37	45	43	43
	They don't care if they break the law	27	20	25	22	20	22	25	24
	Not sure	18	26	21	23	27	21	22	22
K1E How has migration affected the	Migrants have caused the crime rate to go up significantly	14	11	13	11	7	14	13	13
crime rate in this country?	Migrants have caused the crime rate to go up slightly	41	36	40	35	34	36	41	39
	The crime rate is not impacted negatively by migration	18	16	17	17	20	17	16	17
	Not sure	27	37	30	36	39	33	30	32

Japan		Sex		Locati	on	Age			
Knowledge questions	Answers	Male n=526 (%)	Female n=525 (%)	Urban n=698 (%)	Rural n=353 (%)	18-24 n=415 (%)	25-39 n=336 (%)	40+ n=600 (%)	Total
K1F What do	They quietly accept it	6	5	6	5	7	7	5	6
you think is the most common behaviour of migrant workers who	They seek help from the police, government, or their embassy	22	20	22	19	28	22	20	21
have suffered abuse or violence?	They seek help from non-government organizations or fellow migrant workers	24	21	23	22	17	20	25	22
	They often don't report it because they are afraid	24	28	25	28	19	26	27	26
	Not sure	24	26	24	26	29	25	24	25

Japan		Sex		Locati	on	Age			
Attitude questions	Answers	Male n=526 (%)	Female n=525 (%)	Urban n=698 (%)	Rural n=353 (%)	18-24 n=415 (%)	25-39 n=336 (%)	40+ n=600 (%)	Total
K2 To what extent do	Don't agree at all	21	18	20	18	33	14	19	19
you agree or disagree with the following	Don't really agree	33	34	35	30	27	32	35	33
statements? Migrant workers should not receive the same pay	Agree to some extent	28	27	26	30	22	30	27	28
and benefits as local	Agree completely	8	7	7	7	8	8	7	7
workers	Not sure	11	15	12	15	11	16	12	13
K2 To what extent do	Don't agree at all	14	11	14	10	10	13	13	13
you agree or disagree with the following	Don't really agree	36	40	36	43	43	33	40	38
statements? Our country does not need low skill migrant	Agree to some extent	25	24	26	23	24	26	24	25
workers from other	Agree completely	12	8	11	8	6	13	9	10
countries	Not sure	13	17	14	17	18	15	14	15
K2 To what extent do	Don't agree at all	13	10	11	13	14	14	10	12
you agree or disagree with the following	Don't really agree	36	37	36	36	26	27	43	36
statements? Migrant workers are a drain on the national	Agree to some extent	23	21	23	20	25	27	19	22
economy	Agree completely	12	8	9	11	11	8	10	10
	Not sure	16	25	21	21	24	24	18	21
K2 To what extent do	Don't agree at all	11	11	11	11	16	11	10	11
you agree or disagree with the following	Don't really agree	40	36	39	37	37	33	41	38
statements? We should make it more difficult for migrants	Agree to some extent	23	22	22	25	22	25	21	23
to come and work in	Agree completely	14	11	13	13	6	13	14	13
this country	Not sure	12	19	16	14	19	17	14	15

Japan		Sex		Locati	on	Age			
Attitude questions	Answers	Male n=526 (%)	Female n=525 (%)	Urban n=698 (%)	Rural n=353 (%)	18-24 n=415 (%)	25-39 n=336 (%)	40+ n=600 (%)	Total
K2 To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following	Don't agree at all	9	7	7	9	8	9	7	8
	Don't really agree	31	32	32	31	43	29	31	31
statements? Migrants commit a high number of the crimes	Agree to some extent	36	30	32	35	27	31	35	33
in this country	Agree completely	12	10	12	9	7	14	9	11
	Not sure	13	21	17	16	16	17	17	17
K2 To what extent do	Don't agree at all	19	14	15	18	22	13	17	16
you agree or disagree with the following	Don't really agree	40	41	39	43	38	40	41	40
statements? Migrant workers should not receive the same work	Agree to some extent	21	21	23	18	20	20	22	21
conditions as local	Agree completely	8	8	9	6	5	10	7	8
workers	Not sure	12	16	14	14	16	16	13	14
K2 To what extent do	Don't agree at all	24	17	20	22	30	19	19	20
you agree or disagree with the following	Don't really agree	43	41	43	41	35	40	45	42
statements? Migrant workers should not be able to join a union	Agree to some extent	15	17	15	17	10	17	17	16
	Agree completely	7	5	7	5	6	7	6	6
	Not sure	11	20	15	16	20	17	13	15
K2 To what extent do	Don't agree at all	11	11	10	13	15	12	9	11
you agree or disagree with the following	Don't really agree	35	31	34	33	29	28	37	33
statements? The influx of migrant workers threatens our	Agree to some extent	28	28	28	27	30	28	27	28
country's culture and	Agree completely	15	11	13	13	9	15	13	13
heritage	Not sure	11	19	16	14	17	18	13	15
K2 To what extent do	Don't agree at all	7	7	6	7	6	7	6	7
you agree or disagree with the following	Don't really agree	26	23	25	23	32	19	26	24
statements? Migrants with illegal status who have broken the law	Agree to some extent	34	35	33	35	29	35	34	34
should not expect	Agree completely	24	19	22	21	15	23	22	22
to have any rights at work	Not sure	11	16	14	14	18	15	12	14
K2 To what extent do	Don't agree at all	22	19	21	20	23	20	21	21
you agree or disagree with the following statements? Migrant workers who end up	Don't really agree	39	35	36	39	41	30	40	37
	Agree to some extent	16	16	16	17	11	17	17	16
being exploited only have themselves to	Agree completely	8	6	8	5	6	10	5	7
blame	Not sure	15	24	19	19	19	23	17	19

Japan		Sex		Locati	on	Age			
Attitude questions	Answers	Male n=526 (%)	Female n=525 (%)	Urban n=698 (%)	Rural n=353 (%)	18-24 n=415 (%)	25-39 n=336 (%)	40+ n=600 (%)	Total
K2 To what extent do	Don't agree at all	15	13	14	15	22	13	13	14
you agree or disagree with the following	Don't really agree	41	38	38	41	33	38	42	39
statements? Migrant workers should not	Agree to some extent	20	17	20	17	17	18	19	19
be offered a path to citizenship under any	Agree completely	9	9	9	9	5	10	9	9
circumstances	Not sure	14	24	20	18	23	21	17	19
K2 To what extent do	Don't agree at all	11	9	10	9	14	9	10	10
you agree or disagree with the following	Don't really agree	39	37	38	39	31	37	40	38
statements? Migrant workers have poor work ethics, you cannot trust them	Agree to some extent	26	26	26	26	24	27	26	26
	Agree completely	9	8	9	8	7	10	7	8
	Not sure	16	20	18	19	25	17	17	18

Japan		Sex		Locati	on	Age			
Practice questions	Answers	Male n=526 (%)	Female n=525 (%)	Urban n=698 (%)	Rural n=353 (%)	18-24 n=415 (%)	25-39 n=336 (%)	40+ n=600 (%)	Total
K4A Have you ever	Yes	7	4	6	5	4	7	5	5
spoken out against someone who was saying offensive things about	No, but if someone did, I would speak out	22	19	22	17	23	24	18	21
migrants in this country?	No, and it's unlikely	49	49	47	51	47	45	51	49
country?	Not sure	23	28	25	27	27	25	26	26
K4B Have you ever	Yes	7	5	7	4	5	7	5	6
helped a migrant integrate into your community or	No, but if I had an opportunity I would	34	32	36	28	36	34	33	33
get ahead in their work?	No, and it's unlikely	41	43	41	45	40	39	44	42
WOIK:	Not sure	18	20	17	23	19	20	18	19
K4C In the past	Yes	11	7	10	6	9	11	8	9
12 months, have you ever spoken to friends or	No but I think I will at some point	16	11	15	11	15	16	12	14
colleagues about some positive contribution migrant workers make to our country?	No	63	70	65	69	61	61	71	66
	Don't remember	11	12	10	14	16	13	10	11

Japan		Sex		Locati	on	Age		•	
Practice questions	Answers	Male n=526 (%)	Female n=525 (%)	Urban n=698 (%)	Rural n=353 (%)	18-24 n=415 (%)	25-39 n=336 (%)	40+ n=600 (%)	Total
K4D Your friend is thinking of	To pay for the work permit	22	11	17	16	14	19	16	17
employing a migrant domestic worker to help out in their household and asks for your advice about the cost for work permit, which of the following	Deduct PART of the work permit fee from the domestic worker's salary	25	21	25	21	26	24	22	23
	Deduct ALL of the work permit fee from the domestic worker's salary	11	13	11	13	10	11	12	12
would you recommend?	Don't know	42	55	48	50	50	46	50	48
K4E You noticed an employer in your community who is employing migrant child workers, what would you do?	Report it to the police or an NGO and follow up to make sure they did something about it	18	15	18	13	18	16	16	17
	Just report it to the authorities	31	25	27	29	20	25	31	28
	Probably do nothing	31	33	32	33	36	34	31	32
	Not sure what I would do	20	28	23	25	25	25	23	24

Due to rounding, numbers presented in this report may not add up precisely to the totals provided and percentages may not precisely reflect the absolute figures.

## Public attitudes towards migrant workers in Japan, Malaysia, Singapore, and Thailand

In 2010, the International Labour Organization (ILO) conducted a large-scale public opinion survey of 4,020 nationals in four Asian migrant destination countries – the Republic of Korea, Malaysia, Singapore, and Thailand – to assess public attitudes towards migrant workers.

In 2019, nearly a decade later, the TRIANGLE in ASEAN (ILO) and Safe and Fair (ILO and UN Women) projects have conducted a similar survey of 4,099 nationals to track trends in Malaysia, Singapore, and Thailand, and adding Japan, given its emergence as an important destination country for low-skilled migrant workers in Asia.

Findings from the study indicate that support for migrant workers has decreased overall in the last nine years. Where there is public support for migrants, it is largely driven by the relationships people have with migrant workers, rather than demographic characteristics. Knowledge regarding migrant workers across the four countries remains low, and discriminatory attitudes prevail with significant numbers of members of the public in migrant destination countries stating that migrant workers should not enjoy equal working conditions with nationals.

However, the public in countries of destination show more positive support for policies that particularly address gender equality, violence against women, and problems in womendominant job sectors. Respondents largely agreed that care work should be recognized as a profession, and that women migrant workers should receive maternity leave. Similarly, respondents expressed support for shelters when women migrant workers face violence, and for stronger enforcement against violence against women.

ILO Regional Office for Asia and the Pacific 11<sup>th</sup> Floor, United Nations Building, Rajdamnern Nok Avenue Bangkok 10200, Thailand Tel.: +662 288 1234 Fax: +662 280 1735 Email: BANGKOK@ilo.org Website: www.ilo.org UN Women Regional Office for Asia and the Pacific 5<sup>th</sup> Floor, United Nations Building, Rajdamnern Nok Avenue Bangkok 10200, Thailand Tel.: +662 288 2093 Fax: +662 280 6030 Email: info.th@unwomen.org Website: http://asiapacific.unwomen.org

> ISBN 978-92-2-031427-2 (print) ISBN 978-92-2-031428-9 (web pdf)

